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2 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Nominal defendant RDI filed a Motion for Judgment in its Favor 

because RDI just realized, in an "oops" moment, that is not a "prevailing 

party" and may not be entitled to a single dollar of the $1.2 million it 

recklessly spent to help the Cotter sisters prevail on claims that were not 

made against RDI but made on its behalf.       

RDI's Motion is a legal nonstarter.  The reason why nominal 

defendant RDI has "not yet received" and could not receive "judgment in its 

favor" is because Plaintiff did not make any claims against RDI.  He made 

claims against directors, including his sisters for whom Greenberg Traurig 

(GT) piled up enormous costs and fees to defend.  The Court cannot "fix" 

and rewrite history by ruling RDI can recoup its outrageous costs.  Even 

assuming the Court could transform RDI from a nominal to an adverse 

party, the Court has already entered a final judgment in this case, which is 

now on appeal, and the Court no longer has jurisdiction to grant the "relief" 

RDI seeks.  For these reasons and those set out below, the Court should 

deny RDI's opportunistic, procedurally-barred Motion in its entirety. 

II. ARGUMENT      

A. RDI is not entitled to judgment in its favor because Plaintiff's 
claims were made on its behalf and not against it.  

1. RDI was a nominal defendant. 

In a derivative case, the corporation must be named as a nominal 

defendant, but it is actually the "real party in interest" on whose behalf the 

derivative case is brought.  Ross v. Bernhard, 396 U.S. 531, 538–39 (1970); 

Patrick v. Alacer Corp., 167 Cal. App. 4th 995, 1005-09, 84 Cal.Rptr.3d 642, 

652 (2008).  Unless the lawsuit poses a threat to the corporation, a nominal 

defendant must " 'take and maintain a wholly neutral position taking sides 

neither with the complainant nor with the defending director.' " Swenson v. 

Thibaut, 250 S.E. 2d 279, 293-94 (N.C. App. 1978) (quoting Solimine v. 

RDI-A10709
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Hollander, 129 N.J.Eq. 264, 19 A.2d 344 (1941)).  The director defendants, 

especially those in "control" of the corporation, have no right to use the 

corporation for the purpose of "step[ing] in and, by answer, attempt to 

defeat what is practically its own suit and causes of action," nor do they 

have the right to "impose on the corporation the burden of fighting their 

battle." Patrick, 167 Cal. App. 4th at 1008 (internal quotation marks and 

citation omitted). 

Here, Plaintiff filed a derivative lawsuit naming RDI only as a 

nominal defendant.  All of Plaintiff's three complaints specifically 

distinguish between the individual director defendants—named 

"Defendants"—and RDI—named "Nominal Defendant" in the caption.  See, 

June 12, 2015 Complaint, on file at 1 (Caption); Oct. 22, 2015 Am. Compl. 

("FAC"), on file, at 1 (Caption); Sept. 2, 2016 Second Am. Compl ("SAC") on 

file, at 1 (Caption).  Nowhere in any of the three complaints are 

"Defendants" defined to include RDI.     

2. Plaintiff did not make claims against RDI. 

None of Plaintiff's four causes of action was made against RDI.  

Rather, the claims were made against two or more of the individual 

"Defendants."  See, e.g., Compl. at 25 ("For Breach of Fiduciary - against All 

Defendants"); FAC at 43 ("Breach of Fiduciary Duty - Against MC, EC, 

Adams, Kane and McEachern"); SAC at 47 ("For Breach of Fiduciary - 

against All Defendants"); id. at 51 ("Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary 

Duty - Against MC and EC").   

If there were any doubt about what "Defendants" meant, one 

only needs to look at the allegations following each of the causes of action 

made against "All Defendants."  They all allege a variant of the same thing:   

Each of the individual defendants. . . . was a director of RDI.  As 
such, each owed fiduciary duties to RDI . . . including fiduciary 
duties of care . . .  good faith and loyalty to RDI.   

RDI-A10710
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SAC ¶ 174 at 48; id. ¶181 (to same effect); id. ¶188 (to same effect).  RDI is 

not a "director of RDI" and RDI could not possibly breach fiduciary duties to 

itself.  The paragraphs that follow only further confirm that Plaintiff's claims 

were not made against RDI.  See ¶¶ 177-178 (alleging that "each of the 

individual defendants . . . breached their respective duties of care and good 

faith" and that Plaintiff and the Company and its other shareholders have 

suffered injury . . . .") (emphasis added).   

Plaintiff did not seek damages or injunctive relief against RDI.  

He sought relief on behalf of RDI: 

As a result of the ongoing acts of Defendants, the Company 
[defined as RDI], Plaintiff and other RDI shareholders have 
suffered and will continue to suffer immediate and ongoing 
irreparable injury for which no adequate remedy at law exists, 
including as alleged herein. . . . . 

 . . . unless such injunctive relief is granted, Plaintiff, the 
Company and other shareholders will suffer irreparable harm for 
which no adequate remedy at law exists. 

 E.g., Compl. ¶¶ 133-134; FAC ¶¶ 192-193 (emphasis added) 

Plaintiff's SAC could not be clearer, saying in bold, capital 

letters: "RDI AND RDI SHAREHOLDERS ARE INJURED."  SAC at 45; see 

also id. at 53, ¶202 ("unless such injunctive relief is granted, Plaintiff, the 

Company and other shareholders will suffer irreparable harm").  Plaintiff's 

Prayer for Relief specifically asked for "damages incurred by RDI. . . ." Id. at 

54, ¶ 5 (emphasis added).   

RDI is also wrong in contending Plaintiff sought reinstatement 

from RDI.  This is what the T2 Plaintiffs sought.  See August 28, 2015 

Verified Shareholder Derivative Compl. at 16 (B.(ii)) (seeking "an order 

reinstating James J. Cotter, Jr. as the President and CEO of RDI").  The relief 

Plaintiff Cotter Jr. asked for was an order confirming that the individual 

directors lacked independence or disinterestedness to vote on his 

RDI-A10711
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termination so that their vote was invalid.  SAC at 54, Prayer for Relief 

¶3(a)-(e).  

3. Plaintiff's request for proper disclosures did not pose a 
"threat" to the company. 

Some courts outside Nevada have recognized a limited 

exception to the rule that a nominal defendant may generally not defend 

itself in a derivative suit.  These courts have held that nominal defendants 

may defend themselves against derivative actions that threaten rather than 

advance the corporate interests, such as actions to: (1) interfere with a 

corporate reorganization; (2) interfere with internal management in the 

absence of an allegation of bad faith or fraud; (3) enjoin performance of 

contracts; or (4) appoint a receiver.  See National Bankers Life Ins. Co. v. 

Adler, 324 S.W.2d 35, 37 (Tex. Civ. App. 1959) (citing cases); see also Patrick, 

167 Cal. App. 4th. at 1010 (citing cases without deciding if such exception 

exists "under California law. . . or . . . not").    

RDI cites all five subsections of ¶3 of Plaintiff's Prayer for Relief 

to argue that Plaintiff sought relief against RDI, but only ¶3(c) of the SAC 

even addressed RDI.  That subsection asked both "RDI and the individual 

defendants to make . . . corrective disclosures . . . in advance of RDI's 2017 

ASM . . . ." SAC ¶ 3(c) (emphasis added).1  As RDI recognizes, this relief was 

based on conduct by the individual defendants, id. ¶101, which formed the 

basis for Plaintiff's third cause of action against the individual defendants 

for breach of fiduciary duty.  See id. ¶¶ 188-190 (alleging that the directors 

breached their duties of candor and disclosure by failing to cause RDI to 

make "timely, accurate and complete disclosures" and by causing RDI to 

                                           
1 Plaintiff's Reply to RDI's Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Retax Costs 
mistakenly indicates that this ancillary relief was not sought until September 
2016.  Reply at 6:23-25.  The October 22, 2015 FAC also included a similar ¶ 
3(c) in the Prayer for Relief, although the initial complaint did not.  

RDI-A10712
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"disseminate untimely and materially misleading if not inaccurate 

information . . . .").   

Plaintiff's third cause of action did not come close to threatening 

RDI's existence so as to justify abandoning the "wholly neutral position" RDI 

was required to take.  Other than citing cases, RDI's Motion never explains 

how the relief Plaintiff asked would be a threatening "incursion into its 

affairs."  Motion at 4.  Corrective disclosures, if they were warranted, would 

only further RDI's interests and those of its shareholders.  Similarly, RDI 

does not explain how requiring the directors to have "bona fide 

qualifications" before becoming board members infringes on the 

corporation's "rights."  Motion at 3:11.  All that Plaintiff was asking for is 

compliance with proper principles of corporate governance.   

4. RDI through GT voluntarily assumed an adversarial role.  

Plaintiff did not treat RDI as anything other than a nominal 

defendant.  Rather, RDI unilaterally undertook an adversarial role 

throughout this case, including by answering the FAC and SAC that were 

filed on its behalf, and by filing a series of adversarial joinders to the various 

motions for summary judgment filed by the individual defendants.  See, 

e.g., Oct. 3, 2016 Joinders, on file; March 29, 2016 Answer to FAC and 

December 20, 2016 Answer to SAC, on file.   

The mere fact that RDI was a nominal defendant did not shield it 

from discovery, nor did requesting documents from it turn the company 

into an adversary of Plaintiff Cotter.  Moreover, Plaintiff's counsel 

specifically objected to RDI's counsel making arguments in support of RDI's 

Joinder to the Cotter defendants' Partial MSJ on Independence.  See Oct. 27 

Hearing Tr. at 70:18-24 ("Your honor. . . They're a nominal defendant").  

Thus, RDI's attempt to blame Plaintiff for the improper role RDI and its 

RDI-A10713
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hopelessly conflicted counsel played throughout this litigation should be 

rejected.  

B. The Court's August 8, 2018 judgment left nothing to decide.  

"[A] final judgment is one that disposes of all the issues 

presented in the case, and leaves nothing for the future consideration of the 

court, except for post-judgment issues such as attorney's fees and costs."  Lee 

v. GNLV Corp., 996 P. 2d 416, 417 (Nev. 2000).  Thus, an order granting 

summary judgment, which adjudicates the rights and liabilities of all parties 

and disposes of all issues presented in the case, is final.  Id.   

Here, the Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law granting summary judgment in favor of the only three remaining 

defendants, Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams ("FFCL"), on 

August 8, 2018.  The Court had earlier granted summary judgment against 

the five other individual defendants, and had certified that order as final 

under NRCP 54(b).  See January 4, 2018 Certification Order, on file.  Because 

RDI was a nominal defendant on whose behalf Plaintiff's claims were 

brought and Plaintiff's rights and liabilities were decided in the FFCL, there 

was nothing left for the Court to decide.   

1. RDI's counsel agreed that there was "nothing left" to 
decide. 

During the June 19, 2018 hearing—right after the Court granted 

the director defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on ratification 

("Ratification MSJ")—the Court specifically asked counsel for the parties to 

go over their pleadings and tell the Court if there were any derivative claims 

left for her to decide.  June 19, 2018 Hearing Tr. at 47:19-48:17.  RDI's 

counsel, Mr. Ferrario, told the Court he did not "think anything else is left." 

Id. at 48:24.  When the attorneys for the defendants and RDI came back into 

the courtroom, Mr. Ferrario told the Court that from his client's perspective  

RDI-A10714
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and the perspective of the attorneys for the directors, there was "nothing 

left." June 19, 2018 Hearing Tr. at 49:13-15 ("There's nothing left from Mr. 

Tayback's perspective, my perspective, or the directors of the company. 

There's nothing left.") 

Although RDI proposed to "submit" its Motion to Dismiss 

Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(2)—which argued Plaintiff lacked derivative 

standing to bring his claims for failure to show that demand would have 

been futile—the Court held that the motion was moot.  Id. at 49:8 ("It's moot.  

Unless there's something left, it's moot").  This had nothing to do with the 

Court "recognizing that resolution of the claims against the Individual 

Defendants also resolved claims against Reading." Motion at 3:24-26.  As 

explained above, Plaintiff's SAC made no claims against RDI.  What the 

Court recognized is that if there were no derivative claims left against the 

Cotter defendants, there was no basis to determine whether Plaintiff had 

standing to assert them.  Put another way, Plaintiff's standing to bring his 

derivative claims became a moot issue after the Court granted the Cotter 

defendants' Ratification MSJ.   

C. The Court lacks jurisdiction to grant RDI relief. 

The "timely filing of a notice of appeal divests the district court 

of jurisdiction to act . . . ."  Foster v. Dingwall, 126 Nev. 49, 52, 228 P.3d 453, 

454–55 (2010) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).  Although 

the district court retains limited jurisdiction to review motions seeking to 

alter, vacate, or otherwise change or modify an order or judgment under 

NRCP 60(b) and to deny them, it does not have the jurisdiction to grant such 

a motion.  Foster, 126 Nev. at 53, 228 P.3d at 455 (citation omitted).   

Here, the Court entered its FFCL on August 8, 2018.  They were 

filed on August 14, 2018.  See FFCL, on file.  Written notice of entry of the 

FFCL was given on August 17, 2018.  See Notice of Entry of FFCL, on file.  

RDI-A10715
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Plaintiff timely appealed from the FFCL to the Nevada Supreme Court on 

September 13, 2018.  See Notice of Appeal, on file.  Plaintiff earlier appealed 

from the Court's January 4 Order certifying as final the December 28, 2017 

Order dismissing the five other individual defendants.  Therefore, the Court 

lacks jurisdiction to grant RDI's motion. 

It is too late for RDI to now argue, as it does, that the Court's 

order dismissing the five defendants is not final.  Motion at 4:4-7.  RDI 

argued the exact opposite four months ago, when it said: 

The Court's written order was issued December 28, 2017, and at 
the request of Plaintiff, was subsequently certified as a final 
judgment pursuant to NRCP 54(b). Plaintiff subsequently filed a 
Notice of Appeal as to that judgment. Accordingly, this Court no 
longer has jurisdiction to alter or amend that judgment. 

Motion to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(2) at 8:24-27 (emphasis added).    

D. The Court should deny the Motion, because there are no 
grounds under Rule 60 to grant it. 

If the Court were inclined to grant RDI relief, then the Court 

could "certify its intent to grant the requested relief . . . ." Foster, 228 P.3d at 

455.  But here, there is no basis to do so.   

1. There was no clerical mistake. 

Under Rule 60(a), a court may correct clerical mistakes in 

judgments, order, or other parts of the record.  Nev. R. Civ. P. 60(a).   As the 

Nevada Supreme Court has held: 

[A] clerical error is a mistake in writing or copying. As more 
specifically applied to judgments and decrees a clerical error is a 
mistake or omission by a clerk, counsel, or judge, or printer 
which is not the result of the exercise of a judicial function. In 
other words, a clerical error is one which cannot reasonably be 
attributed to the exercise of judicial consideration or discretion. 

Channel 13 of Las Vegas, Inc. v. Ettlinger, 94 Nev. 578, 580, 583 P.2d 1085, 

1086 (1978) (quoting Marble v. Wright, 77 Nev. 244, 248, 362 P.2d 265, 267 

(1961)); see also Pickett v. Comanche Constr., Inc., 108 Nev. 422, 426-27, 836 

RDI-A10716
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P.2d 42, 45 (1992) (holding same and holding that the amended judgment 

was void because it involved a substantive change from the prior judgment).   

RDI does not point to any fact showing that the clerk, its counsel, 

this Court, or a printer made a clerical mistake in writing or in copying the 

FFCL.  Therefore, there is no basis for relief under Rule 60(a).   

2. Omitting RDI from the FFCL was not an oversight. 

Under NRCP 60(b)(1), a party seeking for relief from a final 

judgment on grounds of "mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable 

neglect" has the burden of proving his position "by a preponderance of the 

evidence."  Britz v. Consol. Casinos Corp., 87 Nev. 441, 446, 488 P.2d 911, 915 

(1971) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).  The Court must also 

consider several factors before granting relief, including whether the 

moving party: (1) promptly sought relief; (2) lacked knowledge of the 

procedural requirements; and (3) acted in good faith.  Yochum v. Davis, 98 

Nev. 484, 486–87, 653 P.2d 1215, 1216-17 (1982) (citations omitted).   

RDI cites Rule 60(b)(1) without discussion of the Rule's 

requirements or the application of them to the facts of this case.  Motion at 

5:4.  Thus, RDI has utterly failed meet its burden of proof to obtain relief 

under Rule 60(b)(1).  Britz, 87 Nev. at 446, 488 P.2d at 915 (holding that the 

appellants had "failed to carry their burden of showing mistake, 

inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect, either singly or in 

combination").   

None of the applicable Yochum factors weigh in its favor in any 

event.  Omitting RDI from the FFCL was not an oversight or mistake.  RDI's 

counsel was intimately involved in drafting the FFCL.  RDI is well aware 

that no claims were brought against it and that there was no basis to grant 

judgment in its favor.  RDI's counsel is also well aware of the procedural 

rules of the Court; it only sought relief after realizing the impact of not being 

RDI-A10717
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a prevailing party that would support recovery of costs.  Thus, RDI's Motion 

cannot be considered as having been filed in good faith.  

3. The Motion seeks a judgment that the Court does not have 
the authority to award. 

Rule 60(b) does not permit a court to grant affirmative relief in 

addition to the relief contained in the prior order or judgment.  Delay v. 

Gordon, 475 F.3d 1039, 1044 (9th Cir. 2007).  In Delay, the appellants asked 

the district court to give them "a new judgment on a takings theory against a 

separate defendant"—the United States—"that was not bound by the prior 

judgment" Id. at 1047.  The appellants sought to: (1) "revisit the 

circumstances that enabled the United States to be dismissed from the action 

under the controlling law of the time, [2] reinsert the United States as the 

real party-in-interest under a retrospective application of Lebron-Brentwood 

Academy, and [3] gain a judgment against the United States on a new 

takings claim to effect that Delay had a property interest in his cause of 

action against the United States that was destroyed upon termination of the 

Commission."  Id. at 1046.  The district court denied the Rule 60(b) motion, 

and the Ninth Circuit affirmed its ruling, because the federal rule, like 

Nevada's counterpart, only allows a party to set aside a judgment—not to 

substitute it for a new one granting additional relief.  Id.  

Here, RDI is asking the Court for similar affirmative relief after 

the fact that the Court cannot grant for reasons that go beyond Rule 60(b).  

RDI's request for judgment requires the Court to disregard its nominal 

defendant status and transform RDI into a "Defendant" by presuming 

Plaintiff made claims against RDI when in fact he did not.  RDI also asks the 

Court to presume that RDI could breach fiduciary duties against itself and to 

presume that RDI prevailed on phantom claims not made against it.  RDI 

did not even join in the Ratification MSJ.  Even assuming it had joined, the  
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ratification resolved the fiduciary duty claims against the individual 

defendants, not the corporation.  RDI's Motion Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(2) 

also did not ask for judgment in its favor, nor could it: the Rule 12(b)(2) 

motion was based on Plaintiff's standing to make derivative claims—i.e., 

claims filed on RDI's behalf—against the directors.2  Thus, RDI's Motion is 

legally out of bounds.  There is no basis under Rule 60 or any other rule to 

grant RDI relief.  

III. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff respectfully requests 

the Court deny RDI's Motion in its entirety. 
 
MORRIS LAW GROUP 
 
 
By:  /s/   AKKE LEVIN                                          

Steve Morris, Bar No. 1543 
Akke Levin, Bar No. 9102 
411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 360 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

 
Mark G. Krum, Bar No. 10913 
YURKO, SALVESEN & REMZ, P.C. 
1 Washington Mall, 11th Floor 
Boston, MA 02108 
     
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
James J. Cotter, Jr.  

                                           
2 Notably, RDI again failed to ask for an evidentiary hearing, as Plaintiff 
pointed out in his opposition brief.  Thus, the 12(b)(2) Motion should have 
been denied even if not rendered moot by the dismissal of Plaintiff's claims 
against the remaining three Cotter defendants.    
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Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify 

that I am an employee of MORRIS LAW GROUP and that on the date 

below, I caused the following document(s) PLAINTIFF JAMES J. COTTER 

JR.'S OPPOSITION TO READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.'S MOTION 

FOR JUDGMENT IN ITS FAVOR to be served via the Court's Odyssey E-

Filing System: to be served on all interested parties, as registered with the 

Court's E-Filing and E-Service System.  The date and time of the electronic 

proof of service is in place of the date and place of deposit in the mail. 
 
Stan Johnson 
Cohen-Johnson, LLC 
255 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 110 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
 
Christopher Tayback 
Marshall Searcy  
Quinn Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan LLP
865 South Figueroa Street, 10th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 
 
Attorneys for /Defendants Edward Kane, 
Douglas McEachern, Judy Codding, and 
Michael Wrotniak 
 
Mark Ferrario  
Kara Hendricks  
Tami Cowden  
Greenberg Traurig, LLP 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
 
Attorneys for Nominal Defendant 
Reading International, Inc.

 
Donald A. Lattin 
Carolyn K. Renner 
Maupin, Cox & LeGoy 
4785 Caughlin Parkway 
Reno, Nevada 89519 
 
Ekwan E. Rhow  
Shoshana E. Bannett  
Bird, Marella, Boxer, Wolpert, 
Nessim, Drooks, Lincenberg & 
Rhow, P.C. 
1875 Century Park East, 23rd Fl. 
Los Angeles, CA 90067-2561 
 
Attorneys for Defendant William 
Gould 

 
 
 
 

  

   DATED this 1st day of October, 2018.    

     By:  /s/ Patricia A. Quinn                           
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RPLY 
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
KARA B. HENDRICKS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.  
TAMI D. COWDEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8994 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
Email: ferrariom@gtlaw.com 
 hendricksk@gtlaw.com 
 cowdent@gtlaw.com 
Counsel for Defendant Reading International, Inc 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually and 
derivatively on behalf of Reading 
International, Inc., 
 
                           Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MARGARET COTTER, et al, 
 
                            Defendants.                           
 

 Case No. A-15-719860-B 
Dept. No. XI 
 
BUSINESS COURT 
 
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.’S 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION 
FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES   

Reading International, Inc., (“Reading” or the “Company”) by and through its counsel of 

record, the law office of Greenberg Traurig, LLP, submits its Reply in Support of its Motion for 

Attorneys’ Fees.  This Reply is made and is based on the pleadings and papers on file with this 

Court, the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, and any oral argument entertained by 

this Court at the time of hearing.   As previously noted, the Motion for Attorneys’ Fees was directed 

solely to the issue of whether attorneys’ fees should be awarded.  If this Court determines that an 

award of fees is appropriate, then the parties will brief the issue as to the amount that should be 

awarded, with Reading providing the appropriate documentary support for its request. 

 

  

Case Number: A-15-719860-B

Electronically Filed
10/16/2018 2:45 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 
The classic definition of chutzpah is, of course, this: Chutzpah is that quality 
enshrined in a man who, having killed his mother and father, throws himself on 
the mercy of the court because he is an orphan.  

 
Embury v. King, 361 F.3d 562, 566 n.22 (9th Cir. 2004) 

Cotter, Jr. provides an example that rivals that of the proverbial parricidal orphan, when he 

not only cites the litigation fees and costs that RDI was forced to incur to defend against his 

meritless claims as evidence of purported misuse of RDI’s funds, but also shares a litany of what he 

perceives as mistakes in the Defendants’ successful defense.  Indeed, Defendants could not have 

offered a more revealing example of how Cotter, Jr.’s consistently distorted vision of reality has 

plagued and prolonged this litigation than he has done with his Opposition.  

In opposing the Motion, Cotter, Jr. relies on an inapplicable deadline to assert that fees 

incurred on behalf of Mr. Gould re barred.   He insists that RDI is not a proper party, and therefore, 

not a prevailing party, even though the very cases he relies on are contrary to his position. He clings 

to this Court’s denial of the various motions to dismiss (which were decided on the pleadings with 

the benefit of the requirement that the Court accepts as true all matters pled) as showing that his 

claims had merit, ignoring the fact that survival of motions to dismiss are irrelevant to the 

determination of the merits of a claim. And, of course, he wholly ignores the fact that he persisted 

in making claims against certain individual defendants, even after his own testimony revealed that 

he could not support them.  Ultimately, in a rare flash of lucidity, he essentially resorts to begging 

for mercy, asking the court to deny any fees, on the basis that a large of amount of fees were 

incurred.  However, complete denial of fees on such a basis is obviously not appropriate.  

In another moment of candor, Mr. Cotter, Jr., concedes that he had much better knowledge 

of what was going on at Reading than did the T2 Plaintiffs, due to his position as an insider.   But, 

that very insider position, including his having voted for the nomination or election of defendant 

directors Adam, Gould, Kane, McEachern within mere months prior to filing this litigation, makes 

his true intentions even more clear.   He knew or should have known from the beginning that he 

would not be able to prove his claims of lack of independence.   He knew these directors. He had 
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supported them on the Board right up until they began to have questions about his competency.  

Two of them (Directors Gould and Storey) even voted against his termination, in the context of 

putting into place a structure that could give him more time to grow into the job that had thus far 

proven beyond his capability.   He carefully chose his strategy to take advantage of Nevada 

pleading rules to prevent RDI from being able to rely on the demand requirement typically 

applicable to derivative cases, and to make it impossible as a practical matter for RDI to make use 

of a “Special Litigation Committee” process or “ratification.”   He used this litigation to attempt to 

bankrupt the directors by making claims for over $150 million lodged against nine while knowing 

full well that the D&O policy only provided $10 million in coverage; to seek personal revenge 

against his sisters, and to support his unsuccessful attempt to undercut in the California Trust 

Litigation his father’s intentions and to usurp the authority his father had granted to his sisters in 

connection with the Living Trust there at issue. 

RDI’s Motion was never intended to address the issue of the amount of fees this Court 

should award, and accordingly, RDI will not argue that issue here. Instead, the Motion asked the 

Court to determine that an award of fees is appropriate due to Cotter, Jr. having brought and/or 

maintained his claims, despite knowing there was no merit to them, and/or, brought or maintained 

his claims for the purpose of harassing the Defendants.  Cotter, Jr. has failed to show that an award 

of fees is not appropriate.  

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Reading is entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees pursuant to NRS 18.010.  The record 

shows that Plaintiff brought claims that were unquestionably without merit as to at least five, if not 

all, of the named defendants, and continued to maintain those claims over the course of three years, 

despite repeated, objective indications that his claims were fruitless and despite his own insider 

knowledge of the independence of these individuals based on his own time with them on the Board.  

In addition, fees are appropriate here to sanction Cotter, Jr. for his breach of his fiduciary 

obligations as a derivative plaintiff.   

This Court has the authority to sanction Cotter, Jr. given the Court’s inherent powers as the 

dispenser of equity.   Such a sanction is appropriate here, as Cotter, Jr. claims admits that he was an 
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insider, and that he had better knowledge than outside derivative plaintiffs such as the T2 Plaintiffs.   

Having accepted the fiduciary duties of a derivative plaintiff, he had a duty to act reasonably to 

protect the interests of the beneficiary of his trust:  RDI and its stockholders.  Yet despite his own 

admitted knowledge that two of the Defendants were independent, and his reasons to know that 

others were as well, he brought and maintained his claims. 

 It is only equitable under these circumstances that Cotter, Jr. be held responsible for the 

harm caused to RDI by his failure to live up to his obligations to pursue a derivative claim in the 

manner that best served the interests of RDI and its stockholders, rather than his own personal 

interests. He ignored his fiduciary obligations as the derivative plaintiff, causing the Company to 

incur significant sums, always with his primary goal being the reinstatement of his own position. An 

award of fees is appropriate, both to remediate the damage done to Reading, and to appropriately 

sanction Plaintiff for his conduct.  

I. FEES INCURRED ON BEHALF OF MR. GOULD ARE NOT TIME BARRED. 

 Cotter, Jr. contends that no fees may be awarded to Mr. Gould, because RDI’s motion was 

untimely as to him.  However, this contention is without merit.  Cotter, Jr. relies on NRCP 

54(d)(2)(B), which does, indeed, set a deadline for seeking an award of fees in some circumstances.  

However, Cotter, Jr. wholly ignores the very next subsection of the rule, which states: 
 
(C) Exceptions.  Subparagraphs (A)-(B) do not apply to claims for fees and expenses 
as sanctions pursuant to a rule or statute. . . . 

 

NRCP 54(d)(2)(C).  RDI seeks fees pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b), which provides for an 

award of fees as a sanction, where claims are brought or maintained without reasonable 

grounds or to harass the other party.  Accordingly, the deadline set forth in NRCP 

54(d)(2)(B) has no application to RDI’s Motion.  

 II.  RDI IS A PREVAILING PARTY.  

Cotter, Jr. also contends that RDI cannot be a prevailing party. This Court has rejected this 

argument from Cotter, Jr. repeatedly throughout this litigation, including during the October 27, 

2016 hearing of the summary judgment motions, see October 27, 2016 Transcript, 70:19-20, and 

most recently by awarding RDI approximately $1.5 million in costs.  And indeed, it is apparent that 
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Reading is a prevailing party in this litigation, as Cotter, Jr.’s claims have been dismissed, and 

therefore, he cannot receive the relief he requested, which relief would have infringed Reading’s 

rights and interests.   

Cotter, Jr.’s contention that RDI was not truly a party to this action is incorrect. The relief 

Plaintiff requested against RDI would have included injunctive orders, including orders directing 

RDI to take certain actions. See SAC, Prayer for relief, 3(a)-(e).  Most significantly, the relief that 

he requested included burdens to be imposed on RDI, or would otherwise have required action by 

RDI.  For example, he prayed for relief “restraining and enjoining Defendants from taking 

further action to effectuate or implement” his termination.  SAC Prayer for Relief (POR), ¶ 1.   

Such an injunction would necessarily have to be imposed on the Company and its employees.  

Cotter, Jr. asked this Court to grant an order that, inter alia 
 
Finds that actions to remove Plaintiff as President and CEO were void or 
voidable and declares such action void and legally ineffectual, such that Plaintiff 
is restored to and EC is removed from the positions of President and CEO or 
RDI . . .  

 

SAC, POR 3 (a). Thus, he sought declaratory relief that would result in RDI’s loss of its 

chosen President and CEO, and the forced re-installation of Cotter, Jr. in those 

positions, a result that obviously impacts RDI’s right to governance through its Board of 

Directors. Prayer for Relief 2, 3(a).   

 Additionally, he sought an injunction against RDI’s existing board, 

circumscribing the way that board could act, even though the prohibited actions would 

have been in keeping with RDI’s Bylaws.  POR 3(b). This too would have interfered 

with RDI’s right to be governed by its Board of Directors, in accordance with its 

Bylaws. Thus, even though Cotter, Jr. contends that this requested relief was directed 

only at limiting the conduct of the Individual Defendants, RDI’s rights would have been 

be adversely affected.  Cotter, Jr., also attacked the veracity of certain filings with the SEC, 

which claims, if true, would have required RDI to take corrective action.  
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All the above requests, if granted, would have interfered with RDI’s corporate 

governance and its interests.  Significantly, one of the cases on which Cotter, Jr. relies 

acknowledges that the corporation’s own integrity is impacted by suits that would result in 

removal of directors or officers.  In Solimine v. Hollander, 129 N.J. Eq. 264 (N.J. 1941), the 

Court noted: 
 
In the case at bar the charges against the directors and officers were of such nature 
that had they been substantiated the defendants might have been removed from 
office. The directors and officers here not only had a right but were under a duty 
to stand their ground against all unjust attack and to resist the attempt to wrest the 
corporate trust estate from those hands to which the stockholders had previously 
committed it. In defending themselves they demonstrated to the investing public the 
honesty of the corporate management and thus they not alone served their own 
interests but also performed a duty which they owed to the beneficiaries of the trust 
— the stockholders. 

 

129 N.J. Eq. at 271 (emphasis added).  The issue in Solimine was whether the corporation could 

indemnify the directors and officers for their successful defense.  Some 77 years after Solimine, 

such indemnification is statutorily mandated in Nevada, like most other states.  This is so not only 

to encourage service as directors, but also because in defending the directors against unjust claims, 

the corporation defends itself.  Accordingly, where, as here, the relief requested in the derivative 

action expressly infringes on the corporation’s own rights, the corporation is permitted to take a 

position in the litigation.  See Blish V. Thompson Auto. Arms Corp, 30 Del. Ch. 538, 542 (Del. 

1948) (“A corporation may defend a stockholder's derivative action, although theoretically any 

recovery rebounds to benefit of corporation, if corporate interests are threatened by the suit. . . .”); 

National Bankers v. Adler, 324 S.W.2d 35, 37 (Tex. Civ. App. 1959) (“If the derivative action 

threatens rather than advances the corporate interests, the corporation may actually defend the 

action. ”); Swenson v. Thibaut, 39 N.C. App. 77, 100 (N.C. Ct. App. 1978) (noting that corporation 

may be required to defend against claims that seek to enjoin corporation action or interfere with 

internal corporate governance).   

  RDI’s interests were threatened by Cotter, Jr.’s derivative suit, and accordingly, 

defended against it.  All of Cotter, Jr.’s claims were decided against him or abandoned.  

Accordingly, RDI is a prevailing party. 
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III. Significant Evidence in the Record of this Matter Shows that Cotter, Jr. Brought 
and/or Maintained Claims Without Merit.  

 Cotter, Jr. contends that the “record” does not show that his claims were without merit.   

This is simply untrue. The record in this case, which includes every document filed with the court, 

including the Trust Decision that was attached as Exhibit F to the Motion, and every transcript of 

every hearing, shows that Cotter, Jr. filed and/or maintained claims against at least five of the 

Individual Defendants---Codding, Gould, Kane, McEachern, and Wrotniak--- without evidence to 

support the claims that they breached their fiduciary duties against them. Cotter, Jr.’s vindictiveness 

is well documented.  He threatened to sue all the directors if he were terminated, expressing the 

desire to bankrupt them; the very fact that he included as defendants the two directors who had 

voted against his termination illustrates his spitefulness.   He even cited the attorneys’ fees required 

to defend against his claims as damages suffered by the Company as the result of his termination, 

wholly oblivious to the circularity of such logic.  And, of course, he abandoned any pretense that he 

was seeking monetary damages on behalf of the company when he was forced to disclose that the 

damages experts he had designated would not be testifying at the trial.  However, to the extent that 

the Court believes that the record has not been established, then Defendants request that an 

evidentiary hearing be held to supplement the record in this regard. 

A. This Court’s Rulings on Prior Dispositive Motions Do Not Demonstrate 
That the Claims were not Groundless.  

Cotter, Jr. contends that this Court’s denial of the various Motions to Dismiss demonstrated 

that his claims have merit.  However, the fact that a complaint survives a motion to dismiss is 

irrelevant to a determination of whether the claims of the complaint were groundless.  Bergmann v. 

Boyce, 109 Nev. 670, 675 (Nev. 1993) (noting that whether or not claims survives NRCP 12(b)(5) 

motions has no bearing on the merits of the claim).  Nor is relevant that Court initially declined to 

grant summary judgment on the issue of independence as to these Directors, because Cotter, Jr. 

clearly does not have evidence to support his claims as to these five Defendants.  Since he did not 

have the evidence in December of 2017, then he obviously did not have it in 2016, when the 

summary judgment motions were initially considered. It is apparent that his assertion of a need for 
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additional discovery pursuant to NRCP 56(f) was the reason the summary judgment motion on 

independence was denied.   

Cotter, Jr. denied that the decision to assert claims against all defendants was a deliberate 

strategy, claiming that the mere fact that a director was named as a defendant was insufficient to 

show the necessary lack of independence.  But Cotter, Jr. ignores the fact that the only basis on 

which he contended a lack of independence as to Directors McEachern and Gould was based upon 

their purported fiduciary breaches.  Second Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 171. Thus, Cotter, Jr. based 

demand futility as to these two Directors entirely upon their purported risk of liability, belying his 

claim that such a basis is insufficient.  

In this matter, it was clear that, until the issue of director independence was resolved, any 

effort to employ the protections intended to avoid abuse if the derivative action process by a rogue 

plaintiff would be unsuccessful. Cotter, Jr. prolonged the process by opposing the summary 

judgment motions filed in 2016 as to five directors who were dismissed in December, despite his 

lack of sufficient evidence to sustain his allegations, and despite his lack of any viable reason to 

believe that further discovery would reveal sufficient evidence.    Such a failure of proof is 

particularly damning, given Mr. Cotter, Jr’s admitted insider status and admitted special knowledge 

of RDI and its Board of Directors that flowed from those historic and ongoing relationships. 
 

B. Cotter, Jr. Made Claims That He Knew Were False, Indicating his Purpose 
was Harassment.  

Cotter, Jr.’s claims were premised on theories he knew to be untrue.  For example, he 

contended that all directors, other than himself, lacked independence, but acknowledged in his 

deposition that neither Gould nor McEachern lacked independence. Motion Ex. G, Plaintiff’s 

Depo, 79:12-80:8; 84:21-86:4.  Despite that acknowledgement, Cotter, Jr. not only did not dismiss 

these Defendants from the litigation, but actually filed another version of his complaint, reiterating 

the claims he had acknowledged were false.   

And that is merely one example of Cotter, Jr.’s mendacity. He also contended that the date 

of the 2015 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting had been moved to allow the Estate of Cotter, Sr. to 

exercise the 100,000 share stock option.  SAC, ¶¶.  Yet, in January 2015 (five months before 
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Cotter, Jr.’s termination), when Director Kane asked Cotter, Jr. why the date of the annual meeting 

was being moved, Cotter, Jr. explained the business purpose of the change.  Ex. A, Email chain 

between Cotter, Jr. and Kane.   And, Cotter, Jr. contended that the Company had been damaged 

by his replacement with Ellen Cotter, yet when asked about her performance as CEO, he replied. 

“I’m really not in a position to make an opinion.”  Depo, at 557:9-13.  Additionally, Plaintiff hid 

the fact that he had no intent to present evidence of monetary damages until the Defendants learned, 

by chance, that he had not paid his damages experts’ fees.    He provided no notice that claims had 

been dropped, thereby requiring RDI and the other Defendants to continue to prepare to oppose 

claims of damages.    

Cotter, Jr. made clear that this litigation was intended to be harassing by announcing his 

intention of bankrupting the board members. Motion Ex. H, McEachern Depo. at 78:14-79:2. He 

also refused to acknowledge the significance of the T2 Plaintiffs’ withdrawal of their suit, wherein 

they had acknowledged that the claims of fiduciary breaches could not be sustained.  Instead, he 

made unsupported allegations of collusion on the part of independent investors who, unlike Cotter, 

Jr., had purchased their stock in RDI.  

And, through all of this, Cotter, Jr. was aware that RDI was being damaged by the defense 

costs, as he, unconscious of the irony, cited those defense costs as an item of damage purportedly 

caused by his termination. Motion Ex. G, Cotter Depo, 67:10- 68:8; 69:21-24.   

Because Plaintiff brought his claims to harass the Defendants, this Court should award 

attorneys’ fees pursuant to NRS 18.010.  
 

C. This Case Did Not Present Novel Legal Theories Based on Evolving 
Jurisprudence.  

Cotter, Jr. contends that attorneys’ fees are inappropriate here, claiming that the litigation 

involved complex legal issues. Cotter, Jr.’s reliance on Key Bank v. Daniels, 106 Nev. 49, 53 787 

P.2d 382, 385 (1990) is misplaced.  In Key Bank, the Plaintiff had brought claims that were 

specifically based on a legal theory that had been recognized elsewhere, but not in Nevada.  While 

that legal theory was rejected, the Supreme Court held that NRS 18.010(2)(b) should not be used to 

stifle evolving legal theory.  
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 But Cotter, Jr. did not seek the adoption of new legal theories accepted in other states but 

not tested in Nevada.  Here, the governing legal principles, i.e., directors’ duties to the corporation, 

were not novel at all. The only “novelty” in this case is that a derivative plaintiff was so obviously 

pursuing a claim solely for his own benefit.  .1 Nor were the complexities of the issues related to any 

issues of unresolved statutory interpretation or legislative intent.  Instead, the defense of this action 

presented issues of “complexity” because of the scattergun nature of the various iterations of the 

complaint, whereby virtually every action taken over the course of several years by every Director 

save Cotter, Jr. was claimed to reflect breaches of fiduciary duty.  While Cotter, Jr. speaks 

derisively of the Defendants having sought partial summary judgment, such efforts to narrow the 

actual issues, as permitted under NRCP 56, were made necessary by the rambling, and ever 

increasing, nature of the allegations.    

And, indeed, the nature of that complaint is illustrative of Cotter, Jr.’s knowledge that his 

contentions lacked merit. He knew that none the challenged decisions could ever, individually, 

constitute a breached of fiduciary duty.  So, he obviously tried to hide the groundless nature of the 

claims by presenting them as some sort of overarching scheme, despite the utter lack of evidence to 

support the premise of any such a scheme.   His theory seemed to be that while the business 

judgment rule was to prevent judicial second-guessing, this only applied where a single business 

judgment was at issue, and not where multiple business judgments were at issue.    This may indeed 

be “novel,” but not in the sense intended by the court in Key Bank. 

Furthermore, while Cotter, Jr. contends that this effort was an attempt to introduce a novel 

legal theory, he ignores the fact that his allegations could not reasonably support this theory.  Unlike 

the cases on which he had relied to present this collective action conspiracy theory, Cotter, Jr. could 

not here list a half-dozen circumstances as adding up to suggest a lack of disinterest.  See e.g., 

California Pub. Employees' Ret. Sys. v. Coulter, CIV.A. 19191, 2002 WL 31888343, at *9 (Del. Ch. 

Dec. 18, 2002) (director’s life-long friendship with CEO, plus employment of director’s son by 

                                                 
1 Cotter, Jr. has cited statements by Mr. Ferrario to the effect that the case was unique, but has 

ignored the reasons given by Mr. Ferrario for said uniqueness, including the fact that what has 
been challenged is a board decision that one candidate for a position is better than the other. See 
Transcript, October 27, 2016, 71:3-75:11.   
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CEO, plus director’s approval of CEO’s claimed wrongdoing, plus director’s tenure on board while 

CEO purportedly shirked duties to focus on another company, plus director’s own investment in the 

other company, plus the director’s personal benefit from challenged options repricing added up to 

state a claim for lack of independence).2 Instead, as to McEachern and Gould, Cotter, Jr. cited only 

voting in favor of the multitude of board decisions Cotter, Jr. challenged.  As to Kane, Cotter, Jr. 

cited such voting, plus the longtime friendship with Cotter, Sr.  As to Codding, Cotter, Jr. citing 

such voting, plus a friendship with Mary Cotter.  As to Wrotniak, Cotter, Jr. cited only such voting, 

and his wife’s friendship with Margaret Cotter. None of these amount to a set of collective facts that 

would be sufficient to show disinterest.  

Nor could Cotter, Jr. support his purported entrenchment theory with examples of multiple 

changes (or for that matter, any change) in the bylaws that would, collectively, have made it more 

difficult for interested to vote existing directors out, as had occurred in In re Ebix, Inc. Stockholder 

Litig., 2016 WL 208402 (Del. Jan. 15, 2016).3 In fact, none of the purported “entrenchment” actions 

involved anything that could reasonably be said to have had any negative impact on stockholder 

voting rights.  And indeed, since between them, as either co-executors of Cotter, Sr.’s estate, the co-

trustees of the Cotter Living Trust, or in Margaret Cotter’s case, as the sole-trustee of the voting 

trust, Ellen Cotter and Margaret Cotter had control of a majority of the voting shares, no 

“entrenchment” actions would have even have been necessary for them to maintain their positions 

on the RDI Board.     

Cotter, Jr. cannot escape responsibility for his groundless claims by pointing to the Supreme 

Court’s opinion in Wynn Resorts, Ltd. v. Dist. Ct., 133 Nev. __, __ 388 P. 3d 335 (2017).   If, as 

Cotter, Jr. contends, the Wynn decision was necessary to clarify the business judgment rule, then 

Cotter, Jr. should have dismissed his claims once that decision was released. He did not do so.     

Cotter, Jr. cannot even be truthful with respect to the issue as to when an legal questionissue 

was raised.  He claims that the question of whether a decision to terminate the CEO can be a 

                                                 
2 Plaintiff relied on this case in his Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, filed Oct. 

25, 2016, p. 24.  
3 Plaintiff also relied on this case in his Reply in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, filed 

Oct. 25, 2016, p. 24. 
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“transaction” that can be ratified as permitted by NRS 78.140 arose only late in the proceedings.  In 

reality, Cotter, Jr. himself maintained that a CEO’s termination was such a “transaction” from the 

outset of this case, as it was only if it so qualified that it could be an “interested transaction” to 

which the business judgment rule would not apply. See Cotter, Jr.’s Reply in Support of Motion for 

Summary Judgment, filed October 25, 2016, p. 15.  Cotter, Jr. might have seized on the theory that 

the termination was not a “transaction” theory to salvage his claim in June 2017, but he did so while 

while ignoring that such theory would, eviscerate his underlying claims regarding his termination.  

Such a flipflop exemplifies the continuing circularity of his logic. 

D. Cotter, Jr.’s Reliance on Federal Rule 11 Cases is Misplaced. 

Cotter, Jr. cites to federal case law interpreting FRCP 11 as persuasive for purposes of 

determining the meaning of harassment under NRS 18.010, which Cotter, Jr. appears to contend 

must be based on repeated filings raising previously rejected arguments.4 While such repeated 

filings are an example of how harassing might occur, nothing in the authority cited by Cotter, Jr. 

suggests that this is the only way that harassment might occur.     

Nevertheless, accepting Cotter, Jr.’s assertion that harassment requires the filing of the 

action to have been unreasonable, Cotter, Jr.’s conduct satisfies the requirement.  Cotter, Jr. himself 

acknowledged that neither McEachern nor Gould lacked independence. Accordingly, it was not 

reasonable to bring claims against them, or to or to challenge the independence of Codding, Kane 

and Wrotniak on the thin bases asserted.  Nor was it reasonable to contend that RDI’s Board of 

Directors could not terminate a CEO, when the RDI’s bylaws and Nevada make clear that such 

termination is within the discretion of the Board of Directors. It was not reasonable for Cotter, Jr.  to 

bring a claim of breach of fiduciary duty based on a failure to follow up on an unsolicited 

expression of interest – as this Court found – no damages could have resulted because the offer was 

nonbinding.   Nor was it  reasonable for Cotter, Jr., for years, to hold over the heads of the 

individual defendant directors exposure to damages which, if they had come home, would have 

wiped them out financially, when having no intention to in fact even present evidence on such 

                                                 
4 Even this test would be satisfied, given the many times Cotter, Jr. has contended that RDI is not a 

party to these proceedings.  
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claims.  And, even if Cotter, Jr. could somehow show that his filings of claims was reasonable, he 

cannot show that it was reasonable to maintain such claims once the T2 Plaintiffs had dismissed 

their claims.   Indeed, this Court acknowledged that the dismissal by the T2 Plaintiffs had resolved 

claims that the investing public was at risk. Transcript, Oct. 27, 2016, 74:21-75:1.  If the investing 

public was not at risk, then neither was RDI. Cotter, Jr. should have dismissed the derivative 

complaint at that time, but refused to do so.  The only basis for his continuation would be to 

continue to cause harm to the Company, particularly in light of his claimed special or insider 

knowledge of the workings of RDI. 

D. The Amount of the Fees Incurred Does Not Warrant Denial of the Request. 

Ignoring the fact that RDI has not yet asked the Court to determine what amount of the fees 

incurred should be awarded, Cotter, Jr. contends that because the defense of nine defendants (eight 

directors, plus RDI), by three separate defense teams, resulted in fees that approximated $15.9 

million,5 he should not be sanctioned under NRS 18.010.  None of the cases on which he relies 

supports such a theory, and indeed, there is an obvious logical disconnect in this contention.   

Furthermore, the cases cited by Cotter, Jr. all involve situations in which the Court had 

examined the evidence in support of the specific fees claimed, and based on such evidence (or lack 

thereof), determined fees should not be awarded.  For example, in Clemens v. New York Cent. Mut. 

Fire Ins. Co., 903 F.3d 396, 401 (3d Cir. 2018), the Court noted that Plaintiff’s counsel had 

admitted that the time records had not been kept contemporaneously, but instead were based on the 

estimates of an attorneys as to amount of time spent on the case by all attorneys, including those 

who had left the firm.  The Court also noted that many of the time entries were vague, and included 

entries from which the nature of the work performed could not be determined.  There was also a 

claim for 562 hours of trial preparation, which, meant, as the Court pointed out, “if counsel did 

nothing else for eight hours a day, every day, [562 hours] would mean that counsel spent 

approximately 70 days doing nothing but preparing for trial in this matter.”  Id. at 402.  Similarly, in 

Fair Hous. Council of Greater Wash. v. Landow, 999 F.2d 92 (4th Cir. 1993), the Court’s noted that 

                                                 
5 RDI included the total of the fees incurred only because Cotter, Jr. has insisted on this when the 

parties were agreeing to the two-part procedure for this Motion.  
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“plaintiffs submitted professional time estimates are so grossly in excess of any realistic amount as 

to be unworthy of consideration, even as a starting point.”  These cases have no bearing on the 

present motion, because the time has not yet come for the Court to consider evidence of the fees 

incurred.  

Other cases cited by Plaintiff compared the results and the fee award. In Environmental 

Defense Fund, Inc. v. Reilly, 1 F.3d 1254, 1258 (D.C. Cir. 1993), the Court noted that of the more 

than $32,000 in fees claimed, less than $8,000 was for work performed on the merits of the case; the 

remainder of the amount claimed was for work performed to file the motion for fees.  Furthermore, 

the fees in this case were not denied altogether; instead, the Court struck the fees claimed by one of 

the attorneys, having determined that the claimed times to complete the specified tasks were 

excessive.  And, in Lewis v. Kendrick, 944 F.2d 949 (1st Cir. 1991), the court reversed an award of 

fees that had been 160 times the amount the recovered.   

Here, there is no reasonable argument that the fees incurred exceeded the risk faced by the 

parties.  The fees were incurred on behalf of all the Defendants, rather than a single party.  Three 

defense teams were necessary due to the potential for conflicts of interests among the Defendants. 

The attorneys’ fees incurred here amounted to between 9 and 13% of the $110 and $155 million in 

damages amounts to which Cotter, Jr.’s expert had opined, masking the incurrence reasonable in 

context. See Ex. B, Excerpts of Report of Duarte-Silva, p. 14 and 16.    

It is likely that Cotter, Jr., incurred fess of at least $3 million, and likely more.  It is known 

that by February 2017 – eighteen months into the case--- he had incurred more than $1.2 million in 

unpaid fees from his former law firm, Lewis, Roca, Rothgerber Christie, LLP. See Ex. C.  Lewis & 

Roca Complaint, ¶ 7.  But that amount does not take into account any fees that Cotter, Jr. had 

incurred and paid; it is unlikely that the law firm continued representation for those first eighteen 

months without any payment. Nor does it include the fees incurred for his representation by Mr. 

Krum from February 2017 forward, or for fees incurred for work performed by the Morris Law 

Group.  Given the greater number of defendants to be represented, the much greater discovery 

obligations imposed on the Defendants than on Plaintiff in this matter, and the obvious but 
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necessary increase in expense for the involvement of several defense teams, it is likely that the 

average fees per party for the Defendants will be well below that incurred by Plaintiff.  

 Cotter, Jr. has failed to show that there is any basis to relieve him of any obligation to pay a 

sanction under NRS 18.010, based on the amount of fees incurred.    

CONCLUSION 

Cotter Jr. unreasonably brought and maintained claims against the Defendants.  This Court 

should exercise its discretion to find that RDI is entitled to recover fees from Cotter, Jr., as a 

sanction for bringing and/or maintaining a groundless claim, for purposes of harassment.    

Dated this 16th day of October 2018. 
 
     GREENBERG TRAURIG LLP    
        
          By /s/ Mark E. Ferrario         

MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
KARA B. HENDRICKS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.  
TAMI D. COWDEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8994 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
Counsel for Defendant Reading International, Inc 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify that on this day, I 

caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.’S 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES to be e-filed and served 

via the Court’s E-Filing system.  The date and time of the electronic proof of service is in place 

of the date and place of deposit in the mail. 

Dated this 16th day of October 2018. 
      /s/ Andrea Lee Rosehill                                           
      An employee of Greenberg Traurig, LLP 
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From: Kane
To: James Cotter JR
Sent: 1/31/2015 12:21:01 AM
Subject: Re:

If you are OK with it I have no problem. Since, as far as I know, we have not decided what to construct on
the property, I wonder what the brokerage community can add. I get nervous when your sisters are in the
state of incorporation. I wonder if Tompkins will be accompanying her and /or if he will be with her or
counseling her on the upcoming hearing.

From: James Cotter JR
Sent: Friday, January 30, 2015 12:07 PM
To: Kane
Subject: RE:

Ellen suggested to make it after ICSC real estate conference in Las Vegas where we hope to present
Union Square to brokerage community so we have better story to present.

From: Kane [mailto: elkane @san. rr. corn]
Sent: Friday, January 30, 2015 10:38 AM
To: James Cotter JR
Subject:

Why are we moving the date of annual meeting?

A Jr EXHIBIT l r
Dep

Dáte r71Cte4S-
W W W.DEPOBOOK.COM

JCOTTER015442
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A-18-774987-C

Department 22

Case Number: A-18-774987-C

Electronically Filed
5/23/2018 3:24 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

Reply Exhibit Page 012
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10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Telephone: (702) 792-3773 
Facsimile:  (702) 792-9002 
Email:  ferrariom@gtlaw.com 
             hendricksk@gtlaw.com 
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Counsel for Reading International, Inc. 
   
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually and 
derivatively on behalf of Reading 
International, Inc., 
 
                           Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MARGARET COTTER, et al, 
 
                            Defendants.                            
 

 Case No. A-15-719860-B 
Dept. No. XI 
 

READING INTERNATIONAL, 
INC.’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF 

MOTION FOR JUDGMENT IN ITS 
FAVOR  

 
Date:  October 22, 2018 
Time: 9:00 am 

 

    

 Nominal Defendant Reading International, Inc. (“RDI” or the “Reading”), a Nevada 

corporation, by and through its undersigned counsel of record, hereby submits its Reply in 

Support of its Motion for Judgment in its Favor.   

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES  

 This Court should either enter a judgment in favor of RDI, or amend the existing 

judgment to included RDI. Cotter, Jr. has failed to show any reason why Reading, against whom 

relief was sought in this purported derivative action, should not be granted judgment. 

Accordingly, this Court should grant the Motion for Judgment, and issue judgment in favor of 

Reading. In the alternative, this Court should add the following  

Case Number: A-15-719860-B

Electronically Filed
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As the resolution of the claims remaining against the Individual Defendants establishes 
that Plaintiff is not entitled to the relief requested against Reading,  
judgment in favor of Reading is granted. 

to the Judgment noticed on August 16, 2018.  

As illustrated by the fact that the Court has orally granted judgment for costs in RDI’s favor, 

this Motion is not, as Cotter, Jr. contends, made necessary to protect that judgment.  However, it is 

necessary to allow Cotter, Jr.’s appeal to continue, because without judgment addressing RDI’s 

rights and obligations, there is no final order as to Cotter, Jr.’s remaining claims.  

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Reading is entitled to entry of judgment in its favor.  The December 28, 2017 and August 

16, 2018 Judgments do not constitute a final judgment in this matter, as neither results in the 

formal resolution of all the “rights and liabilities” of Reading.  NRCP 54(b). Without such a 

formal resolution of the claims against Reading, this matter cannot be finally concluded.  

 
A. Because Plaintiff Requested Relief That Would have Negatively Impacted 

Reading’s Rights, Reading is a Party to the Proceeding, and Entitled to 
Judgment.  

The very arguments made by Cotter, Jr. show that Reading is entitled to the requested 

judgment.  Cotter, Jr. states: 
 
Unless the lawsuit poses a threat to the corporation, a nominal defendant must take 
and maintain a wholly neutral position. . . .”   

Cotter, Jr.’s Opposition, 2:26-28 (emphasis added).  Thus, Cotter, Jr. implicitly acknowledges 

that when a purported derivative suit “poses a threat to the corporation,” the Corporation may 

defend itself. That is precisely what occurred here. 

 Cotter, Jr. contends that because his complaint asserted that the corporation was being 

harmed, and that his actions were taken on its behalf, RDI was not a true defendant.  However, 

throughout his Complaint, Cotter, Jr. used the term “Defendants,” which term was never defined 

to include only the Individual Director Defendants and exclude RDI.  In contrast, Cotter, Jr. did 

define a term intended to refer to only some of the defendants. See Second Amended Complaint 

(SAC), ¶ 1 (defining "Interested Director Defendants" to include the Cotter sisters, Adams, 

Kane, and McEachern).  Additionally, on 13 occasions in the SAC, Cotter, Jr. referred to the 

RDI-A10753
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“Individual Director Defendants,” and at additional times, referred to just the “Director 

Defendants” both of which terms obviously excluded RDI. But Cotter, Jr. also used the 

terms “Defendants” and “All Defendants,” neither of which term logically excludes RDI. He 

used the term “all Defendants” when stating in his First, Second, and Third Causes of 

Action, that the claims were against “All Defendants.” SAC pp. 47, 49, 50. Additionally, he 

prayed for “judgment against Defendants and each of them, jointly and severally.”  SAC, p. 

54.   

Most significantly, the relief that he requested included burdens to be imposed on RDI, or 

would otherwise have required action by RDI.  For example, he prayed for relief “restraining 

and enjoining Defendants from taking further action to effectuate or implement” his 

termination.  SAC Prayer for Relief (“PFR”), ¶ 1.   Such an injunction would necessarily 

have to be imposed on the Company and its employees.  He sought declaratory relief that 

would result in RDI’s loss of its chosen President and CEO, and the forced re-installation of 

Cotter, Jr. in those positions, a result that obviously impacts RDI’s right to governance 

through its Board of Directors. PFR 2, 3(a).  Additionally, he sought an injunction against 

RDI’s existing board, circumscribing the way that board could act, even though the 

prohibited actions would have been in keeping with RDI’s Bylaws.  PFR 3(b). This too 

would have interfered with RDI’s right to be governed by its Board of Directors, in 

accordance with its Bylaws. Thus, even though Cotter, Jr. contends that this requested relief 

was directed at limiting the conduct of the Individual Defendants, because the requested 

relief would have prevented the primacy of RDI’s Bylaws, RDI’s rights would be adversely 

affected.  

Furthermore, Cotter, Jr. expressly requested a mandatory injunction against RDI, 

requiring it to make corrective disclosures.  PFR 3(c). And, his request that minimum 

qualifications for nominees for RDI’s Board of Directors be imposed was not limited to 

nominees put forward by any of the Individual Defendants, and thus, was also directed at 

RDI itself.  
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Shockingly, in his Opposition, Cotter, Jr. denies that he sought reinstatement, 

claiming that only the T2 Plaintiffs sought this relief. Opposition, pp. 4-5.  But Cotter, Jr. 

asked this Court to grant an order that, inter alia 

Finds that actions to remove Plaintiff as President and CEO were void or 
voidable and declares such action void and legally ineffectual, such that Plaintiff 
is restored to and EC is removed from the positions of President and CEO of 
RDI . . .  

PFR 3 (a).  Plaintiff’s denial cannot be categorized as anything other than a blatant lie.   

All the above requests, if granted, would have interfered with RDI’s corporate 

governance and its interest.  Accordingly, under the authority acknowledged by Plaintiff, RDI 

properly participated in this matter as a defendant. And, clearly, this Court has long recognized 

RDI’s status as party to this litigation, as it has consistently overruled Cotter, Jr.’s objections to 

RDI’s participation.  

B. This Court has Jurisdiction to Either Issue a Judgment on Behalf of RDI or to 
Modify the Order under Rule 60.  

Cotter, Jr.’s contention that this Court has no jurisdiction to enter an order is simply 

wrong.  Because the written Judgment entered on August 8, 2018 did not resolve the rights of 

RDI, it was not a final order.  A “timely notice of appeal” can only be filed once a final judgment 

has been issued.  Accordingly, the Notice of Appeal filed by Cotter, Jr. was premature, and does 

not divest this Court of jurisdiction.  See NRAP 4(a)(6). ("A premature notice of appeal does not 

divest the district court of jurisdiction.”).  

Cotter, Jr. cites to the discussion on the record at the hearing held on June 19, 2018 to 

show that the there was nothing else for the Court to decide.  However, what is relevant here is 

whether the written order resolves all the rights and obligations of the parties. There is no written 

order that expressly addresses RDI’s rights, and accordingly, either a separate judgment should 

be issued, or the existing judgment amended to correct this issue. Because the August 8, 2018 

order is not final, this Court continues to have jurisdiction, and thus, may take either of the two 

requested actions.   
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Cotter, Jr. contends that relief under Rule 60 is not applicable, because there is no 

evidence of a clerical error.  However, a party to the action, RDI, was omitted from the 

judgment.  Since RDI must be included for the judgment to be final, this was not an intentional 

act by the drafter, but merely an oversight.  

CONCLUSION 

 As set forth above, Reading is entitled to entry of judgment in its favor, either in a 

separate order, or, pursuant to NRCP 60(a) or 60(b)(1), through an amendment of the Judgment 

noticed on August 16, 2018.  

DATED this 15th day of October 2018. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
 
/s/ Tami D. Cowden     
Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. (NBN 1625) 
Kara B. Hendricks, Esq. (NBN 7743) 
Tami D. Cowden, Esq. (NBN 8994) 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
 
Counsel for Reading International, Inc. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify that on this day, I 

caused a true and correct copy of the Reading’s International, Inc.’s Reply in Support of 

Motion for Judgment in its Favor to be filed and served via the Court’s Odyssey E-Filing 

system.  The date and time of the electronic proof of service is in place of the date and place of 

deposit in the mail. 

 DATED this 15th day of October 2018. 
 
 
      /s/ Andrea Lee Rosehill  

AN EMPLOYEE OF GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP  
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FOR THE PLAINTIFF: STEVE L. MORRIS, ESQ.
AKKE LEVIN, ESQ.

FOR THE DEFENDANTS: MARSHALL M. SEARCY, ESQ.
KEVIN M. JOHNSON, ESQ.
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ.
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1 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA, MONDAY, OCTOBER 22, 2018, 9:03 A.M.

2 (Court was called to order)

3           THE COURT:  Cotter.  This is the motion for

4 attorneys' fees in Cotter.  Mr. Ferrario, it's your motion.

5 MR. FERRARIO:  You heard a lot of what we said on --

6           THE COURT:  The other day, yeah.

7 MR. FERRARIO:  -- when we argued the costs motion. 

8 So I'm not going to rehash that.  Plus you've lived the case.

9           THE COURT:  You want me to find that the claims were

10 baseless from the inception and therefore Reading should get

11 their attorneys' fees and any attorneys' fees they had to

12 indemnify officers and directors for.

13 MR. FERRARIO:  That's correct, Your Honor.

14           THE COURT:  Okay.

15 MR. FERRARIO:  But also to the extent that you want

16 to give the plaintiff a break and not go back to the point in

17 time the lawsuit was filed certainly there came a point in

18 time -- we think it was frivolous from the beginning, but

19 there came a point in time when the plaintiff knew that all he

20 was doing was harassing the director defendants and running up

21 the costs to the company.  And there's any number of points in

22 time that I can direct the Court to, but really the easiest

23 one is probably at the point in time when the independent

24 plaintiffs, the T2 plaintiffs, jumped into the case, spent a

25 half a million dollars, and then said, you know what, there's

3
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1 nothing here.  You know, they peeked behind the curtain. 

2 There was nothing here.  What did plaintiff do at that point? 

3 He came in and objected to the T2 settlement, and he amped up

4 and ramped up his efforts in this case.

5 But the thing that's most disturbing when I

6 read all of the pleadings that we put in front of you -- and,

7 you know, we've made this argument that he was an insider, he

8 knew about these directors, he knew what their relationships

9 were.  He voted them on the board months, just a few months

10 before his termination.  When they terminated him, as they

11 were entitled to do under the bylaws, he then turns on the

12 directors and accuses them of all sorts of improper

13 activities.

14 But the craziest part of this case for me when you

15 go back to the depositions is when questioned under oath about

16 at least two people, Mr. Gould and Mr. McEachern, and whether

17 they were in fact independent he says, yes, they were.  What

18 did he say in his complaint?  No, they weren't.  You can't

19 reconcile that.  And occasionally Ms. Cowden will pull out one

20 of my favorite quotes, and it's the chutzpa quote from the

21 Embry versus King case, 361 F.3rd.  And we save that for

22 special occasions, and this is one of those special occasions. 

23 Mr. Cotter, Jr., turned what should have been a routine

24 employment matter into a bizarre, crazy derivative case where

25 he literally challenged every decision that the board made

4
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1 even though there was no real grounds to challenge it, even

2 though it caused no damage to the company.  He sued two

3 directors that were put on months after his departure.  He

4 came to the Court initially with a fire drill asking for all

5 sorts of expedited proceedings, and then backed off.  And

6 after this Court found -- and this is a curious argument that

7 the plaintiff makes -- says, well, the Court -- it wasn't that

8 we had no evidence, it's just we didn't have enough evidence. 

9 What in the heck is that, when it says the Court ruled not

10 that there was no evidence, you just didn't have enough

11 evidence to make your claim?  And even after this Court said

12 the directors were in fact independent, because plaintiff, who

13 knew this all along, couldn't muster anything more than he had

14 at the beginning of the case, you said, they're all

15 independent and those directors were not -- and ratified that

16 decision, and that set off another circus.

17 And I'm not going to go back over the fact that he

18 sued these individuals for $100 million to $150 million, that

19 he threatened to bankrupt them, as evidenced by testimony from

20 Mr. McEachern, okay, all because the board exercised its

21 fiduciary obligation and its prerogative under the bylaws and

22 said, you know what, we're going in another direction.

23 Now, I feel somewhat bad arguing against Ms. Levin

24 and Mr. Morris, because they weren't the ones that started

25 this fiasco, okay.  So I'm not in any way kind of chastising

5
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1 them, although they were here, I might remind the Court when

2 the January continuance occurred for the unknown health reason

3 and then they were here as we were running up to the June

4 trial date when Mr. Cotter, Jr., then abandoned his experts

5 that were supposed to support the hundred to $150 million

6 verdict. 

7 So, Judge, in a word, this case does justify

8 sanctions under 18.010.  This case was filed for no reason

9 other than to harass and to oppress the directors in the hopes

10 that they would reconsider their decision.  And it cost the

11 company dearly.  It was never a suit that a derivative

12 plaintiff should have brought if the derivative plaintiff was

13 fulfilling his fiduciary duty or her fiduciary duty and doing

14 this in the best interests of the company.  That was never the

15 motivating factor.

16 And so we would request that the Court, as we said

17 in our pleading, agree and say that we are entitled to fees.  

18 And we can have another hearing on the amount of the fees,

19 because I know you will have questions about that.  And it's a

20 much more detailed and onerous thing than I want to lay on you

21 now if we're not going to get there.

22           THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.

23 Ms. Levin.

24 MS. LEVIN:  Your Honor, the fee motion was required

25 to show based on the record evidence, not personal attacks,

6
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1 but record evidence that there was no reasonable grounds to

2 bring the complaint and that it was filed to harass or for

3 harassment purposes.  The defendants did not meet that burden. 

4 And almost recognizing in their reply, they pile up the

5 personal attacks, which are truly vicious and really don't

6 deserve a response, and for the first time argue that the

7 Court has inherent authority to sanction the plaintiff without

8 even citing the criteria.

9 It is undisputed that this case presented novel and

10 complex issues of law.  And under the -- even the most recent

11 case, the Rosenberg Trust case that we cited in our

12 opposition, it would be an abuse of discretion to award

13 attorneys' fees if, as here, complex and novel issues are

14 raised, because the court said, we don't want to -- as much as

15 we appreciate the legislature's desire to punish frivolous

16 lawsuits, an attorney needs to be able to raise novel issues,

17 including to argue for a modification of the law.

18 Now, this is not just my words that this case raised

19 novel issues.  They agreed with us.  They said so in the

20 declaration of Mr. Searcy.  He said, our fees, our hourly

21 rates may be a lot higher than in Las Vegas, but this was

22 warranted because of the complexity of issues.  The cost memo

23 argued our legal research fees may have been high but this was

24 because of the complex issues.  And RDI in their writ

25 petitions and the defendants, as well, said, this case

7
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1 presents issues of first impression.  They argue that these

2 are novel issues.

3 So with respect to the reasonable basis of the

4 claims, again, if you look at the Court's record -- and

5 they're saying, well, the motions to dismiss based on demand

6 futility are irrelevant because this is -- you know, have to

7 look at the motions for summary judgment.  But recall, Your

8 Honor, the demand futility motions, the allegations to plead

9 demand futility are under a heightened pleading requirement of

10 Rule 23(1), and the Court, not just once, but three times

11 agreed with the plaintiff that he had met that standard. 

12 Recall that the defendants never asked for an evidentiary

13 hearing under Shoen as the Court told them to do.  So to the

14 extent they say, well --

15           THE COURT:  I didn't tell them to.  I offered it. 

16 Okay.

17 MS. LEVIN:  Right.  But, again, if it was that

18 simple and so, you know, evident that there was no basis for

19 his claim of independence, then why did they never ask for a

20 hearing, Your Honor?

21 And the plaintiff was successful on key motions for

22 summary judgment.  The termination -- most importantly, the

23 termination issue which formed the basis of the initial

24 complaint, if it hadn't have been for the ratification that

25 came only -- that they admit they did not do until the end of

8
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1 2017, this issue would have gone to trial against three

2 defendants.  So -- and, of course, there's other motions.

3 But --

4 And they're saying, like, well, you know, if he

5 didn't prove his case at the end, it means you have no

6 evidence to start with and it was baseless from the start. 

7 That's not right, Your Honor.  The fact that the Court

8 ultimately ruled against a plaintiff is not proof there was no

9 reasonable basis.  That would mean that every time a plaintiff

10 loses a summary judgment the American rule means nothing.

11 And it's the same with the novel issues of law.  The

12 policy of awarding fees against a party who makes a novel

13 argument that is ultimately rejected would discourage the

14 derivative lawsuits and would replace the American rule with a

15 British rule, which is the loser pays.  So that would be

16 contrary to the Nevada Supreme Court precedent and the

17 jurisprudence under NRS 18.010.

18 And again, I prepared a handout, if the Court will

19 accept it, for --

20           THE COURT:  I'll take anything you'd like to give

21 me.

22 MS. LEVIN:  Okay.

23           THE COURT:  Please give a copy to Mr. Ferrario and

24 Mr. Searcy.

25 MS. LEVIN:  And these are just, you know, examples

9
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1 of unsupported claims made in the reply and the facts ignored

2 there.

3           THE COURT:  Thank you.

4 MS. LEVIN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

5           THE COURT:  Dulce, we'll mark this as Court's 1.

6           THE CLERK:  Yes, Your Honor.

7 MS. LEVIN:  But just to cite some them, because

8 they're saying, well, you know, he knew that these directors

9 were not independent, this is what Kane said to Gould.

10 MR. FERRARIO:  Is this in the -- Akke, excuse me. 

11 Is this in the -- is this a summary of what's in the

12 opposition, or what?

13 MS. LEVIN:  No.  This is in response to the reply.

14 Your Honor, this is in response --

15           THE COURT:  It's a demonstrative exhibit, and I

16 marked it as Court's Exhibit 1 for purposes of the record.

17 MR. FERRARIO:  So it's a surreply?

18           THE COURT:  No.  It's a demonstrative exhibit.

19 MR. FERRARIO:  No.  That's why I'm asking you.  I

20 didn't recognize this as being in their opposition.

21           THE COURT:  I have no idea, Mr. Ferrario.

22 MR. FERRARIO:  Neither do I.

23           THE COURT:  Okay.  Keep going.

24 MS. LEVIN:  Your Honor, just to explain, they make a

25 lot of --

10
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1           THE COURT:  I don't need you to explain.  Just keep

2 going.

3 MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  So they're saying -- they're

4 saying in their reply, "Plaintiff knew or should have known

5 from the beginning he would not be able to prove his claims of

6 lack of independence."  This is -- and the Court's ruling on

7 this motion is in the record, but this is what defendant Kane

8 told his codefendant on May 19, 2015, a month before the

9 lawsuit was filed, "In my opinion you are certainly not

10 independent."  That's what his codefendant said about Mr.

11 Gould.  And Gould recognized in that same email, which is in

12 the record, that, "If we don't use a process here, we all face

13 liability."

14 The Court agreed that the Cotter sisters and Adams,

15 there were genuine issues of material fact as to their lack of

16 independence.  So those issues would have gone to trial. 

17 Adams, again, in an email he admitted that he chose -- he

18 said, I guess we have to choose a side.  Kane, Adams, and

19 McEachern were prepared to keep Cotter on as CEO if he settled

20 the trust and estate litigation.

21 Codding and Wrotniak, the defendants, they admitted

22 they were family friends, they never sat on a board of a

23 publicly traded corporation, and they were recommended by the

24 Cotter sisters.  Two months ago, by the way, in her deposition

25 in the arbitration, which, by the way, RDI initiated against

11
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1 Cotter, she admitted that if Cotter had just agreed to the 

2 take-it-or-leave-it settlement he would not have been

3 terminated.

4 Ellen Cotter admitted recently that, yes, the 8-K

5 form that Mr. Cotter alleged was erroneous and should have

6 been corrected was inaccurate, and she said, yeah, we just

7 didn't get around to correct it.

8 But, again, most importantly, Your Honor, the

9 termination issue that formed basis of the initial complaint

10 would have gone to trial.

11 Now, with respect to the harassment, the courts look

12 at litigation conduct, did plaintiff needlessly prolong the

13 proceedings, did he refute arguments already rejected.  He

14 didn't.  The subjective motives are irrelevant.  But even if

15 they are relevant, everything they're saying about Mr. Cotter

16 could be said about the sisters.  They sued him first in

17 California.  They can be deemed to have taken revenge on him

18 after he did not give them what they wanted.

19           THE COURT:  Okay.  Can we just skip ahead.  I

20 understand, because I've still got the probate case open and

21 they come every week, it seems like.

22 MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  Well, Your Honor, there's no

23 other litigation conduct they can point to.  Mr. Cotter

24 complied with the discovery deadlines.  We sought expedited

25 discovery.  He did not renew rejected positions.  Any delay

12

RDI-A10769



1 that they complain of was in part also because of the

2 defendants.  They -- recall, the Court sanctioned defendants,

3 not Cotter, for not timely producing the documents.  RDI

4 admits that it delayed ratification, it never created a

5 special litigation committee.  Twice the parties agreed to

6 extend discovery.  And even assuming that Mr. Cotter didn't

7 call his expert, he was not required to call each witness he

8 disclosed for trial.  He didn't drop his damages claim.  So

9 there is no basis, Your Honor, under the standards of 18.010

10 to grant attorneys' fees.

11 And, of course, we made a specific argument with

12 respect to Mr. Gould and RDI as the nonprevailing party.  And

13 if the Court has questions about those arguments, I can

14 summarize them.

15           THE COURT:  I don't.  I read the briefs.  They were

16 very well done.

17 MS. LEVIN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

18           THE COURT:  Mr. Ferrario, anything else?

19 MR. FERRARIO:  Probably the most interesting thing I

20 heard this morning, if I heard Ms. Levin correctly, is that

21 she is saying they were seeking reinstatement.  And as Your

22 Honor will track the pleadings here on the costs and the

23 attorneys' fees motions we filed, they actually said they

24 abandoned that claim.  And then we had to point out that, no,

25 it actually did persist.  And when they say they abandoned it

13
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1 because then they were saying, well, this wasn't really about

2 the company, and now she stands up today and says, yes, they

3 were seeking it.

4 Judge, all you have to do is look at Mr. Cotter's

5 testimony where he says McEachern and Gould are independent. 

6 That tells you all you need to know.  What was novel about 

7 this case was just the frivolity of the issues that they put

8 out and the fact that they ignored reality and the fact that a

9 fellow who votes for these folks and says they're independent

10 one day, because they make a decision he doesn't like the

11 next, he then sues them.  He sues Codding and Wrotniak for no

12 reason.  And at the end of this case he's not seeking damages

13 for the company.  He's says, we weren't abandoning the damage

14 claim?  How can she say that when their entire damage claim

15 was dependent upon the experts that they abandoned?  Mr.

16 Cotter himself said that.

17 You can't keep standing up here in the face of every

18 argument and then just change your position.  Facts are facts. 

19 You make arguments, you kind of stick with them.  You don't

20 just keep shifting.  This isn't a chameleon act.  That's what

21 they've done here.  This was the height of frivolity, it was

22 the pinnacle of harassment, and Mr. Cotter made good on his

23 promise that if the board exercised -- the independent board

24 members that were on that board exercised their prerogative

25 and dismissed him, that he was going to sue them, he was going

14
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1 to attempt to bankrupt them, and he was going to make their

2 life miserable.  He did just that for three years.  He didn't

3 succeed in bankrupting them, okay.  He did sue them, and he

4 made their life miserable, and he made the company's life

5 miserable for nothing other than his own personal gain.  That

6 is not a derivative claim.  Thank you.

7           THE COURT:  Thank you.

8 The motion is denied.  This case did not meet the

9 standards of NRS 18.010 for the award of attorneys' fees. 

10 While I did grant summary judgment at the end based upon the

11 ratification by the directors that I found to be independent,

12 that does not make itself a vexatious claim.

13 You also want judgment in your favor, Mr. Ferrario?

14 MR. FERRARIO:  Yes.

15           THE COURT:  Anything else you'd like to add?

16 MR. FERRARIO:  Just what's in the pleadings, Your

17 Honor.

18           THE COURT:  I've got it.

19 Ms. Levin, anything on the motion for judgment by

20 Reading?

21 MS. LEVIN:  Unless the Court is inclined to grant

22 the relief, I would like --

23           THE COURT:  I am not.

24 MS. LEVIN:  Okay.

25           THE COURT:  Reading's a nominal party, and therefore

15
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1 motion for judgment in its favor is denied.

2 I also had a joinder by the sisters.  Anything else

3 you want to add?

4 MR. SEARCY:  And the other directors, Your Honor, as

5 well.  We did join.  And certainly I would echo the arguments

6 that Mr. Ferrario made.  I'm not sure if I have anything

7 further to add to what he had to say.

8           THE COURT:  Thank you.  Your joinder is denied, as

9 well, because this is not a case that rises to the standards

10 of that statute.

11 Have a nice day.

12 MR. FERRARIO:  Thank you.

13           THE COURT:  'bye.

14 THE PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED AT 9:23 A.M.

15 * * * * *

16
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CERTIFICATION

I CERTIFY THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT TRANSCRIPT FROM THE
AUDIO-VISUAL RECORDING OF THE PROCEEDINGS IN THE ABOVE-
ENTITLED MATTER.

AFFIRMATION

I AFFIRM THAT THIS TRANSCRIPT DOES NOT CONTAIN THE SOCIAL
SECURITY OR TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBER OF ANY PERSON OR ENTITY.

FLORENCE HOYT
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146

                             
FLORENCE M. HOYT, TRANSCRIBER

 10/23/18
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firm Greenberg Traurig, LLP, hereby appeals to the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada from the 

Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XI’s Order Denying Reading International, Inc.’s 

Motion for Attorneys’ Fees and Order Denying Reading’s Motion for Judgment in its Favor, both of 

which were entered November 16, 2018 and noticed on November 20, 2018.  

 DATED this 14th day of December 2018. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
 

BY: /s/ Mark E. Ferrario     
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. (NV BAR NO. 1625) 
KARA B. HENDRICKS, ESQ. (NV BAR NO. 7743) 
TAMI D. COWDEN, ESQ. (NV BAR NO. 8994) 
10845 Griffith Peak Dr., Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Counsel for Reading International, Inc. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify that on this day, I caused 

the foregoing Notice of Appeal to be e-served via the Court’s Odyssey E-Filing system on the 

parties registered to this matter.  The date and time of the electronic proof of service is in place of 

the date and place of deposit in the mail. 

DATED this 14th day of December 2018. 

 

/s/ Andrea Lee Rosehill 
An employee of Greenberg Traurig, LLP  
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VOL. PAGES DATE DOCUMENT
FILED UNDER 
SEAL

I RDI-A00001-32 6/12/2015 Complaint (Business Court) 

I RDI-A00033-64 8/3/2015
Plaintiff's Motion to Expedite Discovery and Set a Hearing 
on Motion for Preliminary Injunction on Order Shortening 
Time

I RDI-A00065-68 8/20/2015
Order Granting Plaintiffs-In-Intervention Motion to 
Intervene

I RDI-A00069-86 8/28/2015 Verified Shareholder Derivative Complaint

I RDI-A00087-136 10/22/2015
Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr.'s First Amended Verified 
Complaint

I RDI-A00137-153 10/23/2015 Stipulated Confidentiality and Protective Order

I RDI-A00154-182 11/6/2015
Transcript of Proceedings: Mandatory Rule 16 Conference 
and Hearing on Motions October 29, 2015

I RDI-A00183-204 3/14/2016 Cotter Defendants answer to JJC  First Amended Complaint

I RDI-A00205-226 3/29/2016
Reading International, Inc.'s Answer to James Cotter, Jr.'s 
First Amended Complaint

I RDI-A00227-250 4/5/2016
Judy Codding and Michael Wrotniak's Answer to First 
Amended Complaint

I RDI-A00251-278 6/3/2016
Transcript of Hearing on May 26, 2016 re T2's Motion for 
Preliminary Injunction

I RDI-A00279-371 7/12/2016
Joint Motion for Preliminary Approval of Settlement, 
Notice to Stockholders and Scheduling of Settlement 
Hearing on Order Shortening Time

I RDI-A00372-401 8/3/2016
Transcript of Proceedings: Hearing on July 28, 2016 re 
Motion for Preliminary Approval of Settlement and 
Plaintiff's Motion to Compel (filed 8/3/2016)

I RDI-A00402-405 8/4/2016
Order Granting Preliminary Approval of Derivative Claim 
Settlement

I RDI-A00406-436 8/8/2016
James J. Cotter, Jr.'s Motion to Vacate and Reset Pending 
Dates and to Reopen Discovery on Order Shortening Time

I RDI-A00437-450 8/17/2016
Transcript of Proceedings: Hearing on Plaintiff's Motion to 
Vacate Pending Dates/Reopen Discovery August 12, 2016

I RDI-A00451-473 8/24/2016
James J. Cotter, Jr.'s Motion to Permit Certain Discovery 
Concerning the Recent "Offer" on Order Shortening Time

I RDI-A00474-477 8/29/2016 Declaration of Whitney Tilson
I RDI-A00478-481 8/29/2016 Declaration of Jon Glaser
I RDI-A00482-538 9/2/2016 Second Amended Complaint 

I & II RDI-A00539-1211 9/23/2016
Individual Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment (No. 
1) Re: Plaintiff's Termination and Reinstatement Claims

II
RDI-A01212-2024 9/23/2016

Individual Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment (No. 
1) Re: Plaintiff's Termination and Reinstatement Claims 
(Non- Public) Filed Under Seal

II RDI-A02025-2297 9/23/2016
Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 2) Re: The Issue of Director Independence

II
RDI-A02298-2707 9/23/2016

Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 2) Re: The Issue of Director Independence 
(Non-Public) Filed Under Seal

II RDI-A02708-2801 9/23/2016
Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 3) on Plaintiff's Claims Related to the 
Purported Unsolicited Offer



II
RDI-A02802-3039 9/23/2016

Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 3) on Plaintiff's Claims Related to the 
Purported Unsolicited Offer (Non-Public) Filed Under Seal

II RDI-A03040-3070 9/23/2016

Declaration of Ellen Cotter in Support of the Individual 
Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3) 
on Plaintiff's Claims Related to the Purported Unsolicited 
Offer

II

RDI-A3071-3134 9/23/2016

Declaration of Ellen Cotter in Support of the Individual 
Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3) 
on Plaintiff's Claims Related to the Purported Unsolicited 
Offer (Non-Public) Filed Under Seal

II RDI-A03135-3240 9/23/2016
Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 4) on Plaintiff's Claims Related to the 
Executive Committee

II
RDI-A03241-3351 9/23/2016

Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 4) on Plaintiff's Claims Related to the 
Executive Committee (Non-Public) Filed Under Seal

II RDI-A03352-3522 9/23/2016
Individual Defendants Motion For Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 5) On Plaintiffs Claims Related To The 
Appointment Of Ellen Cotter As CEO

II
RDI-A03523-3785 9/23/2016

Individual Defendants Motion For Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 5) On Plaintiffs Claims Related To The 
Appointment Of Ellen Cotter As CEO (Non-Public) Filed Under Seal

II RDI-A03786-4261 9/23/2016

Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 6) Re Plaintiff's Claims Related to the 
Estate's Option Exercise. the Appointment of Margaret 
Cotter, the Compensation Packages of Ellen Cotter and 
Margaret Cotter, and the Additional Compensation to 
Margaret Cotter and Guy Adams

II

RDI-A04262-4792 9/23/2016

Individual Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment (No. 6) Re Plaintiff's Claims Related to the 
Estate's Option Exercise. the Appointment of Margaret 
Cotter, the Compensation Packages of Ellen Cotter and 
Margaret Cotter, and the Additional Compensation to 
Margaret Cotter and Guy Adams (Non-Public) Filed Under Seal

II & III RDI-A04793-5617 9/23/2016 Defendant William Gould's Motion for Summary Judgment

III RDI-A05618-5978
9/23/2016

Plaintiff James Cotter, Jr.'s Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment

IV
RDI-A05979-6036 9/27/2016

Sealed Exhibits 15, 17, 18, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 29, 30 to 
Plaintiff James Cotter, Jr.'s Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment Filed Under Seal

IV RDI-A06037-6047 10/3/2016
Reading International, Inc.'s Joinder to the Individual 
Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment No. 1 Re 
Plaintiff's Termination and Reinstatement Claims

IV RDI-A06048-6069 10/3/2016
Reading International, Inc.'s Joinder to the Individual 
Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment No. 2 on the 
Issue of Director Independence 

IV RDI-A06070-6076 10/3/2016
Reading International, Inc.'s Joinder to the Individual 
Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment No. 3 
Re the Purported Unsolicited Offer

IV RDI-A06077-6129 10/3/2016
Reading International, Inc.'s Joinder to the Individual 
Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment No. 4 Re 
Plaintiff's Claims Related to The Executive Committee

IV RDI-A06130-6135 10/3/2016

Reading International, Inc.'s Joinder to the Individual 
Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment No. 5 Re 
Plaintiff's Claims Related to the Appointment of Ellen 
Cotter as CEO



IV RDI-A06136-6144 10/3/2016

Reading International, Inc.'s Joinder to the Individual 
Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment No. 6, 
Re Plaintiff's Claims Related to the Estate's Option 
Exercise, the Appointment of Margaret Cotter, the 
Compensation Packages of Ellen Cotter and Margaret 
Cotter, and the Additional Compensation to Margaret Cotter 
and Guy Adams

IV RDI-A06145-6165 10/10/2016
Cotter, Jr.'s Motion to Vacate and Reset Pending Dates and 
to Reopen Discovery on Shortened Time (Fourth Request)

IV RDI-A06166-6197 10/13/2016
Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Individual Defendants' Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 1) Re Plaintiff's 
Termination and Reinstatement Claims

IV RDI-A06197-6366 10/13/2016
Appendix Of Exhibits In Support Of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'S Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 1)

IV

RDI-A06367-6554 10/13/2016

Appendix Of Exhibits In Support Of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'S Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 1) Re: Plaintiff's 
Termination and Reinstatement Claims (Exs. 3, 5, 6, 9, 19, 
24, 25 and 29 Filed Under Seal) Filed Under Seal

IV RDI-A06555-6582 10/13/2016
Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Individual Defendants' Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2) Re: The Issue of 
Director Independence

IV RDI-A06583-6728 10/13/2016
Appendix Of Exhibits In Support Of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'S Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2)

IV

RDI-A06729-6907 10/13/2016

Appendix Of Exhibits In Support Of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'S Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 2) Re: The Issue Of 
Director Independence (Exhibits 4 And 19 Filed Under 
Seal) Filed Under Seal

IV RDI-A06908-6939 10/13/2016

Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Individual Defendants' Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3) on Plaintiff's Claims 
Related to the Purported Unsolicited Offer (and Gould 
Joinder)

IV RDI-A06940-6988 10/13/2016
Appendix Of Exhibits In Support Of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'S Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3)

IV

RDI-A06989-7236 10/13/2016

Appendix Of Exhibits In Support Of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'S Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 3) On Plaintiff's 
Claims Related To The Purported Unsolicited Off (And 
Gould Joinder) (Exhibits 3, 4, 5, 8, 10, 12, 13, and 14 filed 
under seal) Filed Under Seal

IV RDI-A07237-7270 10/13/2016
Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Individual Defendants' Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 4) on Plaintiff's Claims 
Related to the Executive Committee

IV & V RDI-A07271-7502 10/13/2016
Appendix Of Exhibits In Support Of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'S Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 4)

V

RDI-A07503-7761 10/13/2016

Appendix Of Exhibits In Support Of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'S Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 4) On Plaintiff's 
Claims Related To The Executive Committee (Exhibits 7, 
17 and 18 filed under seal) Filed Under Seal 



V RDI-A07762-7798 10/13/2016
Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to Individual Defendants' Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment (No. 5) on Plaintiff's Claims 
Related to the Appointment of Ellen Cotter as CEO

V RDI-A07799-7928 10/13/2016
Appendix of Exhibits In Support of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 5) 

V

RDI-A07929-8126 10/13/2016

Appendix of Exhibits In Support of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition To Individual Defendants' Motion 
For Partial Summary Judgment (No. 5) On Plaintiff's 
Claims Related To The Appointment Of Ellen Cotter As 
CEO (Exhibits 3, 4, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 14, 16 and 19 filed 
under seal) Filed Under Seal

V
RDI-A08127-8163

10/13/2016
Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition to William Gould's  Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment

V
RDI-A08164-8223

10/13/2016
Appendix of Exhibits In Support of Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition 
To Defendant Gould's Motion For Summary Judgment

V

RDI-A08224-8308 10/13/2016
Appendix of Exhibits In Support of Cotter, Jr.'s Opposition 
To Defendant Gould's Motion For Summary Judgment 
(Exhibits 2, 7, 9 and 12 filed under seal)

Filed Under Seal 

V
RDI-A08309-8323 10/21/2016

Order Granting Settlement with T2 Plaintiffs and Final 
Judgment with Exhibit 1 attached 

V
RDI-A08324-8332 10/24/2016

Transcript of Proceedings: Pretrial and Scheduling 
conference October 21, 2016 (filed 10/24/2016)

V
RDI-A08333-8378 10/25/2016

Cotter, Jr.'s Reply in Support of Motion for Partial 
Summary Judgment

V

RDI-A08379-8390 10/26/2016

Individual Defendant's Objections to the declaration of 
James J. Cotter, Jr. Submitted in Opposition to all 
individual defendant's motions for partial summary 
judgment

V
RDI-A08391-8545 11/1/2016

Transcript of Proceedings: Hearing on Motions October 27, 
2016

V
RDI-A08546-8557 11/4/2016

Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr,'s Motion to Reconsider the 
Court's Order Approving the Settlement and Dismissal of 
the T2 Complaint

V
RDI-A08558-8562 11/23/2016 Reading International, Inc.'s Status Report Re: Discovery

V RDI-A08563-8592 11/23/2016 Cotter RDI November 2016 Status Report

VI
RDI-A08593-8603 12/7/2016

Transcript of Proceedings: Status Check Re Resetting of 
Trial Date December 1, 2016 

VI
RDI-A08604-8629 12/20/2016

Reading International, Inc.'s Answer to Second Amended 
Complaint

VI
RDI-A08630-8633 12/21/2016

Order Regarding Defendants' Motions for Partial Summary 
Judgment Nos. 1-6 and Motion in Limine to Exclude Expert 
Testimony

VI RDI-A08634-8652 1/6/2017 Transcript of Proceedings - Status Check on 12.22.16
VI RDI-A08653-8663 6/14/2017 Transcript of Proceedings: Status Check June 5 2017

VI
RDI-A08664-8667 10/4/2017

First Amended Order Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial 
Conference And Calendar Call

VI
RDI-A08668-8729 10/27/2017

Opposition of Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr. to Motion for 
Evidentiary Hearing Regarding James Cotter, Jr.'s 
Adequacy as Derivative Plaintiff



VI

RDI-A08730-8773 11/9/2017

Defendants Margaret Cotter Ellen Cotter, Guy Adams, 
Edward Kane, Douglas McEachern, William Gould, Judy 
Codding, Michael Wrotniak’s Supplement to Motions for 
Partial Summary Judgment Nos. 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6

VI
RDI-A08774-8796 11/9/2017

Cotter, Jr.'s Motion in Limine No. 2 Regarding the 
Submission of Merits-Related Evidence by Nominal 
Defendant Reading International, Inc.

VI

RDI-A08797-8799 11/21/2017

Reading International, Inc.'s Joinder to Margaret Cotter, 
Ellen Cotter, Douglas McEachern, Guy Adams, Edward 
Kane, Judy Coddings & Michael Wrotniak's Supplement to 
Motions for Partial Summary Judgment Nos. 1, 2, 3, 5 & 6

VI

RDI-A08800-8829 11/28/2017

Defendants Margaret Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Guy Adams, 
Edward Kane, Douglas McEachern, William Gould, Judy 
Codding, Michael Wrotniak's Answer to Plaintiffs Second 
Amended Complaint

VI
RDI-A08830-8843 12/1/2017

Supplemental Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment 
Nos. 1 and 2 and Gould Motion for Summary Judgment

VI
RDI-A08844-8854 12/1/2017

Declaration of Akke Levin in Support of Supplemental 
Opposition to Motions for Summary Judgment Nos. 1 and 2 
and Gould Summary Judgment Motion

VI
RDI-A08855-8875 12/1/2017

Plaintiff James J. Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to So-
Called Summary Judgment Motion Nos. 2 & 3 and Gould 
Summary Judgment Motion 

VI
RDI-A08876-8897 12//17

Plaintiff James J. Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to So-
Called Summary Judgment Motion Nos. 2 & 3 and Gould 
Summary Judgment Motion (Non-Public Filed Under Seal 

VI

RDI-A08898-9086 12/1/2017

Declaration of Akke Levin In Support of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to So-Called Summary 
Judgment Motion Nos. 2 & 3 and Gould Summary 
Judgment Motion 

VI

RDI-A09087-9221 12/1/2017

Exhibits 3 through 6, 8, 9, 11 and 12 to Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to So-Called Summary 
Judgment Motion Nos. 2 & 3 and Gould Summary 
Judgment Motion Filed Under Seal

VI
RDI-A09222-9237 12/1/2017

Plaintiff James J. Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to 
Summary Judgment Motion Nos. 2 and 5 and Gould 
Summary Judgement Motion

VI

RDI-A09238-9356 12/1/2017

Declaration of Akke Levin In Support of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to Summary Judgment 
Motion Nos. 2 and 5 and Gould Summary Judgement 
Motion

VI
RDI-A09356-9421 12/1/2017

Exhibits 7-11, 15-17 to Appendix to Plaitniff's 
Supplemental Opposition to Summary Judgment Nos. 2 and 
5 and Gould Summary Judgment Motion Filed Under Seal

VI
RDI-A09422-9433 12/1/2017

Plaintiff James J. Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to 
Summary Judgment Motion Nos. 2 and 6 and Gould 
Summary Judgment Motion

VI

RDI-A09433-9468 12/1/2017
Declaration of Akke Levin in Support of Plaintiff James J. 
Cotter Jr.'s Supplemental Opposition to Summary Judgment 
Motion Nos. 2 and 6 and Gould Summary Judgment Motion

VI

RDI-A09469-9500 12/1/2017
Exhibits 4-11 to Appendix to Plaintiff James J. Cotter Jr.'s 
Supplemental Opposition to Summary Judgment Motion 
Nos. 2 and 6 and Gould Summary Judgment Motion

Filed Under Seal



VI
RDI-A09501-9528 12/4/2017

Reply in Support of the Individual Defendants’ Renewed 
Motions for Partial Summary Judgment Nos. 1 and 2 - 
Public

VII RDI-A09529-9537 12/4/2017
Reply in Support of Supplemental Motions for Summary 
Judgment Nos. 2 and 3

VII RDI-A09538-9546 12/4/2017
Reply in Support of the Individual Defendants Renewed 
Motions for Partial Summary Judgment Nos. 2 and 5

VII RDI-A09545-9554 12/4/2017
Reply in Support of Supplemental Motions for Summary 
Judgment Nos. 2 and 6

VII RDI-A09555-9562 12/4/2017
Reply in Support of the Individual Defendants’ Motion in 
Limine to Exclude Evidence that is more prejudicial than 
probative

VII RDI-A09563-9594 12/8/2017 Joint Pretrial Memorandum

VII RDI-A09595-9601 12/28/2017
Order Regarding Defendants' Motions for Partial Summary 
Judgment and Plaintiff's and Defendants' Motions in Limine

VII RDI-A09602-9609 1/2/2018
The Individual Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion 
for Rule 54(b) Certification and Stay

VII RDI-A09610-9612 1/4/2018
Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Stay and Motion for 
Reconsideration

VII RDI-A09611-9615 1/4/2018
Order Granting Plaintiffs Motion for Rule 54(b) 
Certification and Stay

VII

RDI-A09616-9632; 
RDI-A0932A-9632K

1/10/2018
Sealed Transcript of Proceedings: Jury Trial Day One -
1.8.18

Filed Under Seal

VII
RDI-A09633-9773 5/15/2018

Defendant's Motion to Compel Plaintiff to Produce 
Communications Relating to Expert Fee Payments

VII RDI-A09774-9795 5/18/2018 Plaintiff's Pre-Trial Memorandum
VII RDI-A09796-9843 5/18/2018 Defendant's Pre-Trial Memorandum

VII
RDI-A09844-9858 5/24/2018

Transcript of Proceedings: Hearing on Defendants' Motion 
to Compel May 21, 2018

VII
RDI-A09859-9907 6/1/2018

Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams Motion For 
Summary Judgment

VII
RDI-A9908-9968 6/1/2018

Sealed Exhibits to Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and Guy 
Adams Motion For Summary Judgment (Exhibits B, C, D, 
E, H, I) Filed Under Seal

VII
RDI-A09969-10158

6/13/2018
Plaintiff's Opposition to Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and 
Guy Adams' Motion for Summary Judgment on Ratification

VII
RDI-A10159-10365 6/13/2018

Plaintiff's Opposition to Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and 
Guy Adams' Motion for Summary Judgment on Ratification 
(Non-Public) Filed Under Seal

VII RDI-A10366-10408
6/13/2018

Plaintiff's Opposition to Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and 
Guy Adams' Motion for Summary Judgment on Demand 
Futility

VII
RDI-A10409-10464 6/13/2018

Plaintiff's Opposition to Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and 
Guy Adams' Motion for Summary Judgment on Demand 
Futility (Non-Public) Filed Under Seal

VII

RDI-A10465-10507 6/13/2018

Sealed Exhibits 1 & 3 to Plaintiff's Opposition to Motion to 
Dismiss and Exhbits 15, 17-19 and 21 to Defendant's 
Motion for Summary Judgment (Demand Futility & 
Ratification Oppositions) Filed Under Seal

VII
RDI-A10508-10541 6/15/2018

Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams' Reply in 
Support of Motion for Summary Judgment

VII RDI-A10542-10552 8/14/2018 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

VII
RDI-A10552A-

10552N
8/16/2018 NOE Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law



VIII RDI-A10553-10558 9/4/2018
Stipulation and Order Relating to Process for Filing Motion 
for Attorneys' Fees

VIII RDI-A10559-10641 9/7/2018 Reading International, Inc.'s Motion for Attorneys' Fees

VIII RDI-A10642-10647 9/12/2018
Reading s International, Inc.’s Motion for Judgment in its 
Favor

VIII
RDI-A10647A-

10647C
9/17/2018

Defendants' Joinder to Reading International, Inc.'s Motion 
for Attorneys Fees

VIII RDI-A10648-10707 9/27/2018 Plaintiff's Opposition to Motion for Attorneys Fees

VIII RDI-A10708-10720 10/1/2018
Cotter Jr.'s Opposition to Reading International, Inc's 
Motion for Judgment in Its Favor

VIII RDI-A10721-10751 10/16/2018
Reading International, Inc.'s Reply in Support of Motion for 
Attorneys' Fees

VIII RDI-A10752-10757 10/15/2018
Reading International, Inc.'s Reply in Support of Motion for 
Judgment in Its Favor

VIII RDI-A10758-10774 10/24/2018
Transcript of Proceedings: Hearing on Motions for 
Attorneys' Fees

VIII
RDI-A10774A-

10774E
11/6/2018

Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Motion to Retax 
and Settle Costs, and Entering Judgment for Costs

VIII RDI-A10775-10778 11/16/2018
Order Denying Reading International, Inc.'s Motion for 
Attorneys' Fees

VIII RDI-A10779-10782 11/16/2018
Order Denying Reading International, Inc.'s Motion for 
Judgment in its Favor

VIII RDI-A10783-10790 11/20/2018
Notice of Entry of Order Denying Reading International, 
Inc.'s Motion for Attorneys' Fees

VIII RDI-A10791-10798 11/20/2018
Notice of entry of Order Denying Reading International, 
Inc.'s Motion for Judgment in its Favor

VIII RDI-A10799-10801 12/14/2018 Notice of Appeal
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

This is to certify that on May 31, 2019, a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing document, APPELLANT READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.’S  

APPENDIX VOLUME I of VIII FOR CASE 77733, was served by via this 

Court’s e-filing system, on counsel of record for all parties to the action below in 

this matter, as follows: 

 
      /s/ Andrea Lee Rosehill     
      An employee of Greenberg Traurig, LLP 
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MATF 
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
KARA B. HENDRICKS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.  
TAMI D. COWDEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8994 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
Email: ferrariom@gtlaw.com 
 hendricksk@gtlaw.com 
 cowdent@gtlaw.com 
Counsel for Defendant Reading International, Inc 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually and 
derivatively on behalf of Reading 
International, Inc., 
 
                           Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MARGARET COTTER, et al, 
 
                            Defendants.                           
 

 Case No. A-15-719860-B 
Dept. No. XI 
 
BUSINESS COURT 
 
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.’S 
MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES   

COMES NOW, Reading International, Inc., (“Reading” or the “Company”) by and through 

its counsel of record, the law office of Greenberg Traurig, LLP, and requests that this Court award 

it reasonably incurred attorneys’ fees in this case pursuant to NRS 18.010.  This Motion for 

Attorneys’ Fees (“Motion”) is made and based on the pleadings and papers on file with this Court, 

the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, and any oral argument entertained by this 

Court at the time of hearing.   

As set forth in more detail in the declarations of lead and local counsel for each of the 

defense teams in Exhibits A, B, C, D, E1 should the Court find that Plaintiff should be liable for 

                                                 
1 Included in the declarations is a list of all timekeepers from each respective firm, and a monthly 

total of fees incurred by the various defense teams.  

Case Number: A-15-719860-B

Electronically Filed
9/7/2018 4:58 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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attorneys’ fees pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b), Reading will present evidence to support a claim 

of attorneys’ fees totaling $15,907,354.61,2 which amount includes fees incurred for the defense 

of Reading, and for the defense of the Individual Defendants, for whom Reading has a statutory 

duty of indemnity.  Separately, the requested fees include $11,805,288.77 incurred for the 

Defense of all Individual Defendants, excluding Mssrs. Storey and Gould; $1,206,641.89 

incurred for the Defense of Mr. Gould; and $2,895,423.95 for defense of the Company.    

Reading’s D & O insurance paid $10,000,000 of the total, leaving Reading responsible for 

$5,907,354.61.  

This Motion is directed to the issue of whether attorneys’ fees should be awarded.  In the 

event the Court determines that an award of fees is appropriate under NRS 18.010, Reading will 

then present the documentary support showing that the requested fees were reasonable for this 

Court’s review.  

Dated this 7th day of September 2018. 

     GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
       

          By:  /s/ Mark E. Ferrario    
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
KARA B. HENDRICKS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.  
TAMI D. COWDEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8994 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
Counsel for Defendant Reading International, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
2 This amount does not represent the total of all work performed, or even fees incurred in this 

action, as fees relating to defense against the T2 complaint have been excluded where possible to 
separate them, and any amounts written down or off by the respective firms have also been 
excluded.  
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

 TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring this Motion for Attorneys’ Fees 

on for hearing in Department XI, Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Nevada on the ____ 

day of ____________________, 2018, at __. m., or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard. 

Dated this 7th day of September 2018. 

     GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
       

          By /s/ Mark E. Ferrario    
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
KARA B. HENDRICKS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.  
TAMI D. COWDEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8994 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
Counsel for Defendant Reading International, Inc 
 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

Reading is entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees incurred for the defense of itself, and for 

the defense the Individual Defendants, against the claims brought by Plaintiff James, J. Cotter, Jr., 

(“Plaintiff” or “Cotter Jr.”).  Plaintiff’s claims were brought and maintained without reasonable 

grounds, and/or with the intent to harass all the Defendants, including Reading.   While a derivative 

action is supposed to seek to remedy harm done to the company, Plaintiff’s motivation was clearly 

quite different, as his principal goal was in obtaining his own reinstatement as CEO, coupled with a 

desire for revenge.   

As the Court is well aware, Cotter, Jr. was not a typical derivative Plaintiff for many 

reasons: 

 For many years prior to bringing the litigation Cotter, Jr. was an officer and director of 

Reading; 

 Plaintiff had long term prior experience with Directors Adams, Gould, Kane, 

McEachern and Storey.  Prior to bringing this litigation, he specifically voted in favor of 

October 22 9:00 am 

RDI-A10561
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the appointment of Director Adams to the Board in 2014.  Indeed, he likewise voted in 

favor of or otherwise supported the nomination of each of these directors without raising 

any issues regarding their independence; 

 Unlike an outside derivative plaintiff, Cotter, Jr. was already familiar with these 

directors’ history with Reading and with their various relationships with the Company 

and his father; 

 As a long time director, and as the President for Reading for several years, he was (or 

should have been) intimately familiar with the Company’s business and affairs, and with 

the internal governance of Reading; and 

 He continued to be a Director of the Company throughout the litigation, and had full 

access to detailed information about the business and affairs of Reading. 

Thus, this was not the case of an outside stockholder looking in, who needed discovery to determine 

if his suspicions were actually warranted.  Plaintiff was, or should have been, fully informed of the 

facts before he even filed his complaint. 

Despite intimate knowledge of the Company, throughout the litigation, Plaintiff engaged in 

actions that greatly increased the costs for all the Defendants, including making multiple demands 

for expedited discovery; excessive, often duplicative, demands for depositions and document 

production; and repeated amendments to his complaint, adding challenges to virtually every 

decision made by Reading’s Board of Directors.  Moreover, his complaint spawned a duplicative 

complaint filed by other stockholders.  Significantly, even after those other stockholders determined 

that there was no merit to the claims, Plaintiff not only persevered, but increased his barrage, 

suggesting that these investors were colluding with the Defendants.3 Furthermore, in addition to the 

proceedings in this Court, four writ proceedings emerged from this matter.  As the result of 

Plaintiff’s filing of this action, the Company was required to incur millions of dollars in attorneys’ 

fees, an amount that was well over and above that covered by the Company’s D & O Insurance.   

It is beyond dispute that Plaintiff’s claims against his sisters could have been maintained for 
                                                 
3 While the Defendants were ultimately not able to view the correspondence between Plaintiff’s 

counsel and counsel for T2, it is hard to believe that Plaintiff really in good faith believed that 
there was any collusion. 

RDI-A10562
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three years, if at all, only if he also attacked the motivations of all other board members. Once this 

Court determined that Plaintiff’s claims against Directors Codding, Gould, Kane, McEachern, and 

Wrotniak (“Independent Board Members”) 4 were unsupported by any evidence, the futility of the 

remaining claims became apparent. Thus, absent such frivolous claims against the Independent 

Board Members, Cotter, Jr.’s case would from the start have been much narrower, as it would 

necessarily have been limited to challenging only two specific board member decisions, neither of 

which involved viable allegations of monetary harm to Reading.  His concerns could have been 

addressed by the disinterested board members revisiting the challenged decisions (as ultimately 

occurred), or by using a special litigation committee to investigate the claims and determine 

whether the case was actually in Reading’s best interests to pursue.  

A derivative plaintiff who truly has the best interests of the corporation at heart would desire 

a speedy resolution of the claims, both to limit the disruption to management posed by the 

litigation, and to limit the costs to the company, who must not only defend itself, but also has an 

obligation to bear the cost of defense for the board members defendants.  Indeed, a derivative 

plaintiff bears a fiduciary duty to prosecute the case fairly, and in a manner intended to benefit the 

corporation. Plaintiff did not fulfill that duty, but instead, persisted in maintaining claims that were 

groundless, and even prolonged the litigation, seeking constant delays in the trial for assorted 

reasons.  Derivative cases sound in equity.   Likewise, as a matter of equity, Reading and its 

stockholders should not be required to bear the burden of these fees. Plaintiff’s actions warrant an 

award of fees pursuant to NRS 18.010(2)(b).  

SUMMARY OF RELEVANT FACTS 

 This Court is familiar with the facts involved in this matter, and accordingly, only a 

summary of the facts, including those most significant to this Motion, is provided.   

                                                 
4 The use of this shortened term to reference these five directors is solely to offer a shortened means 

of reference, and does not constitute a concession as to the validity that PLAINTIFF’s claims that 
the actions of the remaining directors, Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter, or Guy Adams were 
motivated by self-interest. To the contrary, Reading is confident that had the trial proceeded, 
Cotter, Jr. would not have been able to present evidence to support a conclusion that Ellen and 
Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams did not with a good faith believe that PLAINTIFF’s termination 
was in the best interests of the corporation.  

RDI-A10563
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Plaintiff was appointed CEO of Reading in August 2014, after the then-CEO, James J. 

Cotter, Sr., resigned for medical reasons. While Cotter, Sr. was in the hospital, Plaintiff, Jr. had an 

amendment to the James J. Cotter, Sr.  Living Trust (the “Trust”) drafted what became known as 

the “Hospital Amendment” to the Trust, and used undue influence to persuade his father to execute 

the same. Ex. F. Trust Decision.  As relevant here, through that amendment Plaintiff attempted to 

alter the control over the majority of the Reading voting shares that Cotter, Sr. had directly and 

indirectly owned, by adding Plaintiff as a trustee, in addition to Margaret Cotter, and providing for 

rotating authority to vote the shares.  Shortly after their father’s death in the autumn of 2014, Ellen 

and Margaret Cotter filed suit to have the Hospital Amendment to the Trust declared invalid.  

Plaintiff fought that litigation vigorously. Ultimately their position in that lawsuit was vindicated, 

and Plaintiff’s assertions that he was a trustee of the Cotter, Sr., Living Trust and the Voting Trust, 

were rejected.  Repeatedly during the Trust Litigation, Plaintiff used the allegations in his complaint 

and the T2 Complaint to attack Ellen and Margaret Cotter. 

Meanwhile Plaintiff continued in the position as President and CEO, and did an abysmal 

job.  He devoted much of his time to discrediting his sisters, rather than developing any strategic 

business plans or otherwise furthering the business of Reading.  While Plaintiff blamed his sisters 

for all his troubles, it is undisputed that tensions were high within Reading’s management and on 

the Board.  Things got so bad that one independent board member was charged with the duty of 

acting as an ombudsman.5  Moreover, Plaintiff himself recognized his own inadequacies, 

surreptitiously hiring, at Company expense, a consultant to coach him.  By June 2015, multiple 

board members had had enough, and Cotter Jr. was terminated.   

The very same day he was terminated, Cotter, Jr. filed this action, which originally included 

both his own direct claims related to his termination, as well as a purported derivative claim.  That 

filing was no surprise, Plaintiff’s litigation counsel had attended one of the board meetings where 

Plaintiff’s termination was discussed, and threatened to sue each board member if Plaintiff were to 

be terminated.  Plaintiff also personally made such threats to individual board members.  

                                                 
5 As the Court no doubt recalls, that director (Tim Storey) was sued by Plaintiff for his efforts, even 

though he voted not to terminate Plaintiff. 

RDI-A10564
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In August 2015, Plaintiff brought a motion for a preliminary injunction, which sought, 

among other things, the voiding of the termination decision and Plaintiff’s immediate reinstatement 

as President and CEO. See Pl.’s Mot. For Prelim. Inj. at 25-26. He also sought expedited discovery, 

pursuant to which the Defendants produced documents in September and October of 2015.  But 

Plaintiff, after crying wolf and imposing the costs of expedited discovery on the Defendants and 

Reading, thereafter proposed waiting until February to hold the hearing on his motion, at which 

point this Court concluded that Plaintiff’s conduct “belies the need for immediate relief” and 

vacated the request for preliminary injunction.  See October 29, 2015 Minute Order.  

Regular discovery then commenced, but it did not proceed on a steady path.  Plaintiff made 

multiple amendments to his complaint, adding newly appointed Reading board members as 

defendants, and challenging virtually all board decisions that had occurred between complaint 

iterations.  See FAC and SAC. This allowed Plaintiff to demand still more discovery from Reading. 

Indeed, even though on October 29, 2015, Plaintiff’s counsel indicated that he “will be surprised if 

discovery that has been done so far is not a substantial part of the total production in this case,” see 

October 29, 2015 Minute Order, Plaintiff made additional documents requests in November 2015, 

February, June and August 2016, and January 2018.  Over the course of three years of litigation, 

Defendants and Reading produced nearly 27,000 documents to Plaintiff (approximately 128,000 

pages).  Additionally, excluding the witnesses specific to the T2 complaint, 23 witnesses were 

deposed, with several of the Individual Defendants being deposed over as many as five days.  

Significantly, more than 28% of Reading’s own attorneys’ fees were incurred in connection with 

Plaintiff’s relentless discovery.  

Yet, despite having obtained the wealth of information from the horrendously expensive 

discovery, Plaintiff was unable to submit evidence sufficient to support his claims that Directors 

Codding, Gould, Kane, McEachern or Wrotniak were somehow beholden to Ellen or Margaret 

Cotter, and therefore unable to exercise independent judgment—the foundational premise upon 

which his legal house of cards was built. This is a fact that, given his long-held position as a 

director and tenure as President, he knew or should have known from the beginning. 

Remarkably, even after this Court granted judgment in favor of the Independent Board 

RDI-A10565



 

Page 8 of 21 
 
 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

G
re

e
n

be
rg

 T
ra

u
rig

, 
LL

P
 

1
0

84
5

 G
rif

fit
h

 P
e

a
k 

D
riv

e
, 

S
u

ite
 6

0
0 

L
a

s 
V

e
g

a
s,

 N
V

 8
9

13
5

  
(7

0
2

) 
79

2
-3

77
3 

(7
0

2
) 

79
2

-9
00

2
 (

fa
x)

 

Members, and after those Directors ratified the two remaining challenged actions, Plaintiff persisted 

in pursuing this matter, causing Reading to incur yet more fees and costs.  

Plaintiff made multiple requests for a continuance of the scheduled January 2018 trial date, 

which this Court refused. Whether such requests were prompted by the knowledge that his evidence 

was insufficient to support his claims, or because he knew his expert witnesses would not be 

appearing will not be known without a hearing.  However, what is known is that despite admitted 

knowledge of a purported medical condition and necessary treatment (the nature of which he 

refused to disclose) for five or six weeks before the scheduled trial, he forced the Defendants to 

continue full blown trial preparation right up until the literal eve of the scheduled trial date. 

Moreover, it was only after he had obtained the desired continuance that it became known that 

Plaintiff would not be presenting any damages expert.  Significantly, such information was not 

voluntarily proffered by Plaintiff; Defendants had to engage in motion practice to request the Court 

to order Plaintiff to disclose documents relating to the experts who would appear.  

Moreover, even after his abandonment of his claims that the Company had been financially 

harmed by his termination and/or replacement by Ellen Cotter, Plaintiff still insisted on pursuing 

still more discovery, this time directed at the ratification process.  In so doing, Plaintiff was thus 

able to drag out the proceedings an additional six months, greatly increasing Reading’s e-discovery 

costs, as well as it attorneys’ fees.  

During the course of this litigation, the various defense teams were required to draft 

pleadings and briefs, including several rounds of dispositive motions; draft and prepare responses to 

discovery propounded by Plaintiff; facilitate electronic discovery collection; coordinate and 

facilitate expert reports; engage in electronic document review and production including production 

of numerous privilege logs; prepare for and attend depositions of more than 25 witnesses,  many of 

whose depositions continued over multiple days; draft and prepare discovery and review documents 

produced by Plaintiff and other Defendants; handle discovery motions; and prepare for and attend 

more than 50 hearings; fully prepare for the aborted January 2018 trial, and engage in renewed trial 

preparation in anticipation of the scheduled July 2018 trial, including the preparation of defense 

expert witness at a time that Plaintiff knew, or should have known, that he would not be calling any 

RDI-A10566
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expert witnesses on damages.  This cost of this work, for the attorneys’ fees alone, cost Reading 

more than $15,907,354.61.  Considering that Plaintiff expressed indignation over a $50,000 

payment to a director for additional service and $25,000 in Board approved compensation to Ellen 

Cotter —and that Plaintiff ultimately proved willing to jettison his claims for financial harm 

resulting from his termination and Ellen Cotter’s appointment entirely while maintaining the claim 

for reinstatement---his “derivative” lawsuit has been exposed as the sham it was.   

As a derivative plaintiff, Cotter, Jr. should have weighed the benefits to the Company (the 

beneficiary of his trust) against the costs.   In addition to distraction and loss of executive time, 

Cotter Jr. cost the Company millions in defense attorneys’ fees, and still kore in costs.  On the 

potential upside of a suit: a $50,000 fee paid to a director; $25,000 in compensation paid to Ellen 

Cotter; the alleged but undiscernible loss resulting from the acceptance of Class A Stock to pay for 

the exercise of Class B Stock Options; and, since no expert witness was or would have been 

produced, the alleged, but unquantifiable purported to have resulted from Plaintiff’s replacement as 

CEO.  Simply put, Cotter Jr. caused Reading to spend millions to defend a claim that at most could 

have won $75,000 for the Company and its stockholders.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

 
A major weakness of representative litigation in general is that the agent controlling 
the litigation often does not have the same interests as the principal. In the case of 

                                                 
6 The Company also had to defend vigorously, since Cotter Jr. alleged that Reading had made 

various false and misleading filings with the SEC.   This was a matter that, if true, would have 
exposed the Company itself to potential fines and damages. 
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stockholder derivative actions, a meritless suit brought by a plaintiff without the 
corporation’s best interest in mind can become a significant drain on the 
corporation’s and its stockholders’ resources. For better or worse, it is extremely 
difficult to win a derivative action because of the procedural hurdles in place. Since 
these barriers make success so unlikely, plaintiffs should be particularly 
conscientious of the merits of a case. 

 
Amy M. Koopmann, A Necessary Gatekeeper:  

The Fiduciary Duties of the Lead Plaintiff  
In Stockholder Derivative Litigation,  

34 J. Corp. L. 895, 896 (2009).  

This Court should find that Reading is entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees pursuant to 

NRS 18.010.  The record shows that Plaintiff brought a claim that was unquestionably without merit 

as to at least five, if not all, of the named defendants. He did so to prevent expeditious resolution of 

this case, when he knew or should have known that such individuals were in fact independent. 

Moreover, he continued to maintain his claims over the course of three years, despite repeated, 

objective indications that his claims were fruitless.  Despite his fiduciary obligations as a derivative 

plaintiff, Plaintiff heedlessly persisted in the litigation, with a desperate hope to win back his former 

position of CEO, regardless of the cost to the corporation, and thus, to the other stockholders. This 

Court should impose an award of attorneys’ fees on Plaintiff, both to remediate the damage done to 

Reading, and to penalize Plaintiff for his conduct.  

 In Nevada, attorney’s fees are recoverable to the prevailing party when authorized by rule, 

statute, or contract.  NRS 18.010; see also, Flamingo Realty Inc. v. Midwest Development, Inc., 110 

Nev. 984, 991, 897 P.2d 69, 73 (1994).  NRS 18.010(2)(b) provides:  
 
In addition to the cases where an allowance is authorized by specific statute, the 
court may make an allowance of attorney’s fees to a prevailing party. . . when the 
court finds that the claim . . . of the opposing party was brought or maintained 
without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party. The court shall liberally 
construe the provisions of this paragraph in favor of awarding attorney’s fees in all 
appropriate situations. It is the intent of the Legislature that the court award 
attorney’s fees pursuant to this paragraph and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 
of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and 
deter frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses because such claims and defenses 
overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of meritorious 
claims and increase the costs of engaging in business and providing professional 
services to the public. 

NRS 18.010(2)(b)(emphasis added).   
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As can be seen, the Nevada Legislature has indicated that the public policy of Nevada is that 

frivolous litigation should be thwarted and deterred by the imposition of attorneys’ fees. The 

Nevada Supreme Court has emphasized that the “statutory language is clear” in that “it encourages 

the district court to award attorney fees” and “reflects the Legislature’s intent to liberalize attorney 

fee awards.” Trustees of Plumbers & Pipefitters Union Local 525 Health & Welfare Tr. Plan v. 

Developers Sur. & Indem. Co., 120 Nev. 56, 62-63, 84 P.3d 59, 63 (2004). Thus, while the decision 

to award attorneys’ fees is subject to a district court’s sound discretion, see Semenza v. Caughlin 

Crafted Homes, 111 Nev. 1089, 1095, 901 P.2d 684, 687 (1995), Nevada courts should liberally 

award fees where the elements of NRS 18.020(2)(b) are met.  The application of this rule in this 

situation is particularly appropriate given Plaintiff’s fiduciary duties to Reading, his intimate 

knowledge of the relevant facts even before he brought the case, and his personal agenda in 

bringing and maintaining this case and further given the fact that if fees are not awarded, they will 

be borne by the Company and, ultimately, by its stockholders. 

To support such an award, there must be evidence in the record that supports a conclusion 

that the claims were brought or maintained without reasonable grounds or to harass the other party." 

See Chowdhry v. NLVH, Inc., 109 Nev. 478, 486, 851 P.2d 459, 464 (1993). Claims are groundless 

when their proponent is unable to proffer any credible evidence in support of them.  Bergmann v. 

Boyce, 109 Nev. 670, 856 P.2d 560 (1993); Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagnon, 109 Nev. 990, 996, 860 

P.2d 721, 724 (1993).  Whether a party has reasonable grounds to bring his claims “depends upon 

the actual circumstances of the case. . . ." Bergmann, 109 Nev. at 675, 856 P.2d at 563.   The Court 

is not limited to determining whether the plaintiff had “reasonable grounds” at the commencement 

of the action, but instead, should consider whether the plaintiff continued to have reasonable 

grounds to maintain the claims throughout the litigation, as the statutory language expressly 

provides that the maintenance of a of a groundless action warrants an award of fees.  NRS 

18.010(2)(b).7     

                                                 
7 In Duff v. Foster, 110 Nev. 1306, 1309, 885 P.2d 589, 591 (1994), the court noted that “[i]f an 

action is not frivolous when it is initiated, then the fact that it later becomes frivolous will not 
support an award of fees.”  (internal quotation and citation omitted). However, at the time Duff 
was decided, the statute referred only to claims that were “brought without reasonable grounds.”  
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A Plaintiff cannot avoid an award of fees simply because his claims survived motions to 

dismiss. Bergmann, 109 Nev. at 675, 856 P.2d at 563 (1993) (concluding that “[t]he trial court 

could not base its refusal to award attorney’s fees upon the 12(b)(5) ruling”); see also Fountain v. 

Mojo, 687 P.2d 496, 501 (Colo. Ct. App. 1984) (A claim is groundless if “the complaint contains 

allegations sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, but which are not 

supported by any credible evidence at trial.”).  A motion to dismiss requires the Court to assume the 

pleaded facts are true, and thus, the denial of such a motion offers no evidence that the claims had 

merit. 

Here, Reading is entitled to fees.  The term “prevailing party,” as used in NRS 18.020(2)(b), 

is “broadly construed so as to encompass plaintiffs, counterclaimants, and defendants.” Valley Elec. 

Ass’n vv. Overfield, 121 Nev. 7, 10, 106 P.3d 1198, 1200 (2005) (emphasis added).  Judgment has 

been entered in favor of all the Defendants, and they are therefore the prevailing party on all claims 

A. Plaintiff Brought and Maintained Groundless Claims.  

Here, Plaintiff filed an action, including as defendants all of Reading’s directors, other than 

himself, and claiming a litany of fiduciary breaches, all of which depended on a theory that his 

sisters were improperly taking control of Reading. The record and result in this case clearly 

demonstrate that Plaintiff lacked credible evidentiary support for his claims, and that his lawsuit 

was brought and maintained primarily to harass Defendants, to avenge his own injured sensibilities, 

and also so that he could have additional leverage in his larger battle with his sisters, over the 

control of their father’s estate (and thus RDI).  Notably, another court has already concluded that 

Cotter, Jr.  “actively participated” to unduly influence James J. Cotter Sr. through “high pressure 

‘sales tactics,’” with the goal of “unduly benefitting” and “increasing his power” in RDI’s 

operations at the expense of his dying father’s true intentions. See Ex. F, Trust Decision, 1, 8-13).   

Significantly, Plaintiff has never presented any evidence showing that Reading was being 

looted or that its assets were being dissipated to satisfy the whims of his sisters.  He could not even 

present evidence of excessive salaries, because Reading’s executives are compensated on the low 

                                                                                                                                                                  
In 2003, the legislature amended NRS 18.010(2)(b) to permit an award of fees where a claim has 
been “brought or maintained without reasonable grounds.”  2003 Statutes of Nevada, p. 3478.    
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end of the spectrum for comparable companies.  As Plaintiff remained a Director of the Company 

throughout this litigation, he had access to the information regarding the -performance of the 

Company. In contrast to the evidence of his own demonstrated failures in the CEO position, 

Plaintiff could offer nothing to show that either of his sisters failed to perform the duties of their 

respective employment positions adequately.  Instead, he was reduced to pointing to the fact that, 

after serving as interim CEO for more than six months, Ellen Cotter was appointed to the position, 

and called it proof of her claimed nefarious purpose.  No discovery was needed to produce this 

evidence.  It was timely reported in Reading’s public filings.   Evidence of Margaret Cotter’s 

supposed intent to the harm Reading consisted of her being appointed to a VP position.   Again, no 

discovery was needed, as her appointment was likewise reported in Reading’s public filings  

Yet, remarkably, this flimsy evidence was actually more substantial than any offered to 

show that any of the Independent Board Members lacked sufficient independence.  His “evidence” 

against Codding and Kane consisted of them having friendships with Plaintiff’s own parents—a fact 

known to him without discovery.  Indeed, Plaintiff freely admitted that his suspicions regarding the 

interestedness of Directors Gould and McEachern were based solely on the fact that the directors 

had voted contrary to his wishes.  Moreover, in his deposition in May 2016, Cotter, Jr. admitted that 

Gould and McEachern were independent, yet he never voluntarily dismissed them. Ex. G, 

Plaintiff’s Depo, 79:12-80:8; 84:21-86:4. Similarly even though Reading prospered under the 

leadership of Ellen Cotter, reaching a stock price well above the average price during Cotter, Jr.’s 

tenure, he insisted that the company was being harmed. As a director, he knew or should have 

known that new directors Codding and Wrotniak were independent and acted independently in the 

board meetings in which he participated, yet he sued them anyway. Further, as a director, Cotter, Jr. 

knew that what he continuously mischaracterized as an “offer” from Patton Vision was, in fact, 

nothing more than a proposal to enter into negotiations, and not the basis for any legal claim against 

directors (as the Court ultimately ruled).  Such actions are demonstrative of the groundless nature of 

the claims that RDI and the Director Defendants were forced to defend.   

Plaintiff further pledged to the Court and Defendants that he would bring a barrage of 

witnesses to trial, many of whom were entirely irrelevant or outside of the jurisdiction of the Court. 
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And, despite guaranteeing to the Court that all his experts were ready to testify at trial within a 

matter of days, Plaintiff’s promise was exposed as a sham, as he had failed to pay those experts, had 

not prepared them for trial or done any work with them over the preceding year.  Ultimately, 

Plaintiff withdrew his two damages experts due to lack of payment, and thus, could not have put on 

a damages case at trial.  However, Plaintiff did not disclose his true intent, requiring Reading and 

the Individual Defendants to prepare for the case he had claimed he would bring.  

In short, Plaintiff continually demonstrated an awareness that he could not prove his claims, 

yet he failed to call a halt to the litigation.    In this regard, it is to be noted that the Company’s 

D&O insurance was exhausted in November 2016. Accordingly, the Company bore the entire brunt 

of these unnecessary trial preparation costs. 

B. Plaintiff’s Purpose in Bringing the Actions was Harassment.  

This litigation was never motivated by a rational concern for the welfare of Reading, but 

instead, was motivated by a desire to avenge Plaintiff’s personal feelings of rejection and bitterness.  

As late as June of this year, Plaintiff was asserting as a claim the fact that he was allegedly 

“threatened” with termination:  a claim which the court correctly noted that, if true, would be 

personal and not derivative in nature.8   While Plaintiff styled himself as a champion of corporate 

governance, claiming he wanted to ensure that Reading was led by a Board that followed 

appropriate processes, throughout the litigation, the remedy he relentlessly sought was to achieve 

his own reinstatement as CEO, despite the fact that he clearly did not have the approval or 

confidence of any Reading Board member.  Cotter, Jr.’s sham concern for corporate governance is 

further shown by simply looking at the improved corporate governance structure Reading’s Board 

adopted subsequent to Plaintiff being removed as CEO.  The Reading Board approved: the first ever 

Compensation Committee Charter which required that all of the members of the Compensation 

Committee be independent (as such term is defined under NASDAQ Stock Market guidelines)9;  a 

                                                 
8 Furthermore, it is a claim that was dismissed from the employment arbitration proceeding, as such 

“threats,” even if true, do not violate California employment law, and therefore, do not support a 
claim of wrongful termination.  

9 Citadel, the company that is today RDI, was at one time a savings and loan holding company and, 
at that time, as a regulated financial institution holding company, likely had a Compensation 
Committee Charter. 
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Supplemental Insider Trading Policy, significantly limiting the right of insiders to trade in RDI 

securities; a new state of the art Code of Business Ethics; a new state of the art  Audit and Conflicts 

Committee Charter; a first ever stock ownership policy (obligating officers and directors to achieve 

and maintain certain minimum levels of stock ownership in RDI); and the first ever strategic 

business plan for the Company. 

The very genesis of this action shows that Cotter Jr.’s did not care about corporate 

governance and that the lawsuit was intended to be harassing. Even prior to his termination, 

Plaintiff threatened litigation on behalf of RDI itself against RDI’s Board—i.e., those who 

controlled his continued employment—if they decided that it was in the best interests of the 

Company to fire him and threatened that he would use a suit to “ruin them financially.” Ex. H, 

McEachern Depo. at 78:14-79:2 He announced his intent to bankrupt the other directors, and 

indeed, as can be seen by the fees incurred here, had the independent directors not been entitled to 

indemnification, Plaintiff would likely have made good on his threat.  

In these proceedings, Plaintiff used discovery as both a sword and shield with which to 

further harass Defendants and RDI. For instance, due to his preliminary injunction motion, Plaintiff 

gained access to early and expedited discovery.  However, thereafter he slow-rolled the case, 

leading the Court to summarily deny the motion.  Plaintiff also cried wolf every time dispositive 

motions or trial would near, asserting that he still needed even more discovery to prove his ever-

elusive claims.  It is clear Plaintiff did so in order to postpone an unfavorable judgment and keep 

alive his leverage in other cases. As a result, RDI’s directors sat for multiple days of needlessly 

duplicative depositions, harming the Company’s business operations and forcing Reading to waste 

resources that could have been used for capital improvements or other needs on the defense against 

his claims.  

Significantly, Plaintiff knew that the litigation was itself harming Reading due to its cost.  

He knew that the D&O insurance had been exhausted.  Nearly a year after he commenced the 

litigation, he frankly acknowledged an inability to cite any purported monetary damages that the 

Company had suffered after his termination, except for a purported drop in stock after his 

termination was announced (after which there was an admitted rebound), and the costs incurred by 
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the company to defend against the derivative action. Ex. G, Cotter Depo, 67:10- 68:8; 69:21-24.  

Yet, despite acknowledging his lawsuit was damaging Reading, Plaintiff continued to prosecute 

claims that he knew could, at best, yield only a comparatively miniscule financial benefit, 

evidencing an intent to harass Reading.  

Because Plaintiff brought his claims to harass the Defendants, this Court should award 

attorneys’ fees pursuant to NRS 18.010  
 

C. Cotter, Jr.’s Claims Against the Director Defendants Were Intended to Subvert 
Protections Against Frivolous Derivative Actions.  

Derivative actions are an equitable tool that permits stockholders to pursue claims held by 

the corporation, but which the corporation’s management refuses to pursue.   See e.g., Schoon v. 

Smith, 953 A.2d 196, 200 (Del. 2008) (“To prevent "a failure of justice, courts of equity granted 

equitable standing to stockholders to sue on behalf of the corporation for managerial abuse in 

economic units which by their nature deprived some participants of an effective voice in their 

administration.) (citations and internal quotations omitted).  However, a stockholder derivative 

action contravenes “a cardinal precept” of corporation law, i.e., that directors manage the business 

and affairs of the corporation.  Aronson v. Lewis, 473 A.2d 805, 811 (Del. 1984). Because courts 

have long been aware of the potentially ruinous expense that derivative actions may have on a 

corporation, certain protections developed, with the intent of insuring that derivative actions have 

merit.  See Koopmann, supra, 34 J. Corp. L at 907.  

One significant protection is the requirement, codified in NRCP 23.1, that a stockholder 

make demand on the corporation’s board of directors to bring the action, or, in the alternative, to 

show that demand would have been futile.  Id. at 811-812 (stating that demand requirement insures 

that stockholders exhaust intra-corporate remedy, and provides a safeguard against strike suits). 

Another protection is the use of a special litigation committee to investigate the claims raised in the 

suit, and to determine whether the suit was in the best interests of the corporation. should be 

continued.  Zapata Corp. v. Maldonado, 430 A.2d 779, 785 (Del. 1981) (noting that special 

litigation committee allows a corporation to “rid itself of detrimental litigation” and to avoid the 

situation where “a single stockholder in an extreme case might control the destiny of the entire 
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corporation”).  Both protections require that the directors involved be independent, which generally 

means that they have no personal interest in any challenged transaction, are not themselves at 

significant risk of personal liability should the claims proceed, and are not unduly influenced by 

directors who do have a personal interest.  See Police v. Brokaw (in Re Dish Network Derivative 

Litig.), 401 P.3d 1081, 1089 (Nev. 2017) (noting that in both the demand futility and the SLC 

context, the court should consider whether improper influences would prevent the directors from 

impartially considered the merits of the claims).   

To avoid a demand requirement, a plaintiff must plead a lack of independence, but is not 

required to prove such lack until much later in the proceedings.  See In Re Amerco Derivative Lit., 

127 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 17, 51629 (2011), 252 P.3d 681, (Nev. 2011) (requiring hearing to determine 

whether demand was futile before trial). Accordingly, the requirement of demand can easily be 

avoided by making allegations that all board members to whom demand might be made, without 

regard to whether the allegations will ultimately be proven. Making such allegations against all 

directors, including even those who join a board after the originally challenged decisions occurred, 

imposes an obstacle to the formation of a special litigation committee.  As existing defendants, all 

such board members will automatically have a strike against them in any determination of 

independence, as they “would be materially affected either to [their] benefit or detriment, by a 

decision of the board.” Police v. Brokaw (in Re Dish Network Derivative Litig.), 401 P.3d 1081, 

1090 (Nev. 2017) (noting bases for finding a lack of independence of members of special litigation 

committees).   

Here, despite the significant discovery performed, Plaintiff was unable to support his 

allegations that the Dismissed Director Defendants were so beholden to Ellen or Margaret Cotter 

that they would disregard their fiduciary obligations.  Having insufficient evidence after discovery 

had been completed, it necessarily follows that Plaintiff did not possess such evidence at the time he 

made his allegations.  Yet, despite such lack, he made the allegations anyway, and thus avoided an 

earlier conclusion to this litigation.  This Court should not countenance such deliberate tactics to 

avoid the protections against groundless derivative actions.   
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D. As a Derivative Plaintiff, Plaintiff Had a Duty to Prosecute Claims Fairly and 
For the Furtherance of the Best Interests of the Corporation, Which Duty He 
Ignored.  

Plaintiff’s conduct in purposefully extending the litigation, and thereby increasing the fees 

and costs incurred by Reading, is particularly egregious considering his fiduciary obligations as a 

derivative plaintiff and the level of his inside knowledge about the Company and its corporate 

governance. From the date he filed a claim that purported to be derivative, i.e., filed on behalf of 

Reading, Plaintiff had a fiduciary to duty to both Reading and its stockholders, separate from and 

beyond the fiduciary duty he owed by virtue of his status as a director.  In re Fuqua Indus., Inc. 

S’holder Litig., 752 A.2d 126, 129 (Del.Ch.1999) (“[A] derivative plaintiff serves in a fiduciary 

capacity as representative of persons whose interests are in plaintiff’s hands and the redress of 

whose injuries is dependent upon her diligence, wisdom and integrity.”).  “By agreeing to serve as 

the figurehead for the litigation, the lead plaintiff takes on the duty to be informed about the 

litigation, the prospects of success, and who is likely to pay the bill.”  Koopermann, supra, 34 J. 

Corp. L. at 914.  

 Plaintiff breached his fiduciary obligations as a derivative plaintiff in his prosecution of this 

case, because he continually failed to make an objective assessment of the merits of the case.  He 

ignored his own admitted lack of evidence as to Gould and McEachern.  So far from heeding the 

objective assessment of the claims and evidence produced in discovery made by the T2 Plaintiffs,10 

he actively fought against the settlement.  He disregarded the inevitable consequences of this 

Court’s December 2017 ruling.  He failed to acknowledge the obviously validity of the ratification. 

Furthermore, it is now undeniable that the only remedy that Plaintiff was truly interested in was his 
                                                 
10 Indeed, the truly independent stockholders realized the futility of the litigation as reported in 
Reading’s July 13, 2016 press release, Messrs. Glaser and Tilson advised our Company in 
connection with the settlement of their Derivative Claims: “We are pleased with the conclusions 
reached by our investigations as Plaintiff Stockholders and now firmly believe that the Reading 
Board of Directors has and will continue to protect stockholder interests and will continue to work 
to maximize stockholder value over the long term. We appreciate the Company’s willingness to 
engage in open dialogue and are excited about the Company’s prospects. Our questions about the 
termination of James Cotter, Jr., and various transactions between Reading and members of the 
Cotter family - or entities they control - have been definitively addressed and put to rest. We are 
impressed by measures the Reading Board has made over the past year to further strengthen 
corporate governance. We fully support the Reading Board and management team and their strategy 
to create stockholder value.” 
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own reinstatement as CEO, showing that at all times, he placed his own personal interests above 

those of Reading and its stockholders.  

 Given his intimate association with the Company, as a director and former President, the 

conclusion naturally follows that he knew or should have known from the beginning that he would 

not be able to prove his case on lack of independence.  Plaintiff’s conduct in masquerading as a 

derivative plaintiff constituted both bringing and maintaining claim without reasonable grounds.  

Accordingly, this Court should hold Plaintiff liable for an award of fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b).   

CONCLUSION 

In this case, the question is – who bears the expense of this litigation-the Plaintiff or Reading 

and its stockholders?  The Company believes that as a matter of both law and equity, this cost 

should be borne by the Plaintiff. 

Despite his fiduciary obligations as a derivative plaintiff, Cotter, Jr. brought a harassing 

lawsuit without reasonable grounds.  Given his pre-existing and ongoing access to information, it is 

reasonable to hold Cotter, Jr. to a stricter standard or reasonableness than might apply to a 

derivative plaintiff who is a true outsider, and has no conflicting interests.  Plaintiff’s insider and 

conflicted status, while not disqualifying him as derivative plaintiff, should surely be weighed in 

considering whether or not he acted reasonably and in good faith, and whether, on the balance of the 

equities, the cost of the litigation should be borne by the Reading’s stockholders. 

Plaintiff maintained this action for three years, despite his own admission that he had no 

basis to support allegations against two of the defendants, and despite numerous objective 

indications that his claims lacked merit.  Cotter, Jr. acted in the guise of a representative plaintiff, 

even though he wished to achieve outcomes that benefited only himself, including his own 

reinstatement to the position of CEO, as well as leverage against his sisters in other litigation.   

Plaintiff’s meritless lawsuit was prosecuted in a manner designed to result in the greatest cost and 

impose horrendous costs on Reading.  Notably, the Company not only incurred substantial fees on 

its own behalf, but was and is required to indemnify each of the director defendants for the fees they  
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incurred. Under the “actual circumstances” of this case, the factors for awarding attorneys’ fees to 

Defendants and RDI as the prevailing parties under NRS 18.010(2)(b) are clearly satisfied, and such 

fees are plainly warranted. 
 

Dated this 7th day of September 2018. 
 
     GREENBERG TRAURIG LLP    
        
          By /s/ Mark E. Ferrario         

MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
KARA B. HENDRICKS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No.  
TAMI D. COWDEN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8994 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
Counsel for Defendant Reading International, Inc 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify that on this day, I 

caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.’S 

MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES to be e-filed and served via the Court’s E-Filing 

system.  The date and time of the electronic proof of service is in place of the date and place of 

deposit in the mail. 

Dated this 7th day of September 2018.  

 
      /s/ Andrea Lee Rosehill                                           
      An employee of Greenberg Traurig, LLP 

 
 

 
 

 

RDI-A10579



 

LV 419863888v1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
              
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

              

 

RDI-A10580



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

LV 421198805v2 

G
re

e
n

be
rg

 T
ra

u
rig

, 
LL

P
 

10
84

5 
G

rif
fit

h
 P

ea
k 

D
riv

e,
 S

ui
te

 6
00

 
L

a
s 

V
e

g
a

s,
 N

V
 8

9
13

5
  

(7
0

2
) 

79
2

-3
77

3 
(7

0
2

) 
79

2
-9

00
2

 (
fa

x)
 

DECL 
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
(NV Bar No. 1625) 
KARA B. HENDRICKS, ESQ. 
(NV Bar No. 7743) 
TAMI D. COWDEN, ESQ. 
(NV Bar No. 8994) 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
10845 Giffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
Email: ferrariom@gtlaw.com 
 hendricksk@gtlaw.com 
 cowdent@gtlaw.com 
 
 
Counsel for Defendant Reading International, Inc. 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually and 
derivatively on behalf of Reading 
International, Inc., 
 
                           Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MARGARET COTTER, et al, 
 
                            Defendants.                           
 

 Case No. A-15-719860-B 
Dept. No. XI 
 
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.’S 
MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES   

 

DECLARATION OF MARK E. FERRARIO 

I, MARK E. FERRARIO, declare as follows: 

1.  I am a duly licensed attorney, authorized to practice law in the State of Nevada.  I am a 

shareholder with the law firm of Greenberg Traurig, LLP (“GT”), counsel of record for 

Reading International Inc. (“RDI”) in the above-captioned action.   

2. The facts contained herein are of my personal knowledge, and if called upon, I could and 

would competently testify to them.   

3. This declaration is submitted in support of RDI’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees. 

4. As relevant to the Motion for Attorneys’ Fees, the attorneys’ fees incurred by Reading    

related to GT’s representation of the Company in this action total $2,895,423.95.  
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5. Reading is not requesting that fees incurred for work specific to the defense against the 

claims filed by the T2 Plaintiffs, or with respect to the settlement of such claims, and 

therefore such fees, which totaled $229,386.55, have been excluded from the total in 

Paragraph 4.   

6. GT’s fees for each month it provided services related to this action are: 

Month Time Billed Total Fees Billed 
June 2015 $3,911.00 
July 2015 $5,001.00 

August 2015 $155,266.20 
September 2015 $171,894.15 

October 2015 $157,475.70 
November 2015 $147,489.75 
December 2015 $110,214.45 
January 2016 $67,493.25 

February 2016 $148,113.00 
March 2016 $152,221.05 
April 2016 $150,315.84 
May 2016 $153,975.15 
June 2016 $86,003.10 
July 2016 $53,579.70 

August 2016 $87,457.50 
September 2016 $100,198.80 

October 2016 $118,873.46 
November 2016 $66,895.89 
December 2016 $48,364.20 
January 2017 $49,546.26 

February 2017 $32,232.60 
March 2017 $10,961.55 
April 2017 $12,357.45 
May 2017 $3,449.35 
June 2017 $18,837.00 
July 2017 $30,035.25 

August 2017 $24,747.75 
September 2017 $24,564.15 

October 2017 $28,842.75 
November 2017 $50,987.70 
December 2017 $153,502.65 
January 2018 $90,888.75 

February 2018 $54,831.15 
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March 2018 $55,297.80 
April 2018 $57,034.35 
May 2018 $116,941.50 
June 2018 $64,474.20 
July 2018 $31,148.55 

Total Fees $2,895,423.95 
 

7. The name of the GT timekeepers for whose work a claim for fees is being made are set 

forth in Exhibit 1, hereto.  

8. The amounts set forth above reflect services rendered by GT include time spent on drafting  

pleadings, including several rounds of dispositive motions; drafting and preparing 

responses to discovery propounded by Plaintiff; facilitating electronic discovery collection; 

electronic document review and production including production of numerous privilege 

logs; attending depositions of more than 23 witnesses, many on multiple dates (and 

excluding depositions specifically related to T2 claims); reviewing documents produced by 

Plaintiff and the Director Defendants; handling discovery motions; and preparing for and 

attending approximately 50 court hearings, among other related items.   

9. GT’s attorneys diligently pursued this matter to conclusion, ensuring all tasks were 

assigned and performed timely and effectively. 

10. The amount of attorneys’ fees incurred by RDI in this action are reasonable. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing 

is true and correct. 

Executed on this 7th day of September, 2018. 

 /s/ Mark E. Ferrario 
 Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. 
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Time Keeper   Houly Rate/Hourly Rate Range 

Askling, Jennifer  $220.50‐$256.50 

Bedker, Stephanie  $238.50‐$292.50 

Bonner, Michael J.  $675.00‐$725.00 

Brewer, John N.  $360.00‐$585.00 

Cappo, Anthony  $382.50‐$472.50 

Chipman, Hannah  $112.50 

Coburn, Lance  $585.00 

Cowden, Tami D.  $531.00‐$590.00 

Ferrario, Mark E.  $630.00‐$690.00 

Godfrey, Leslie S.  $400.50‐$445.00 

Hendricks, Kara B.  $360.00‐$459.00 

Hutcherson, Lee  $288.00‐$310.10 

Miltenberger, Chris  $436.50 

Nicholas, Ann  $193.50 

Noyce, Shayna  $225.00 

Opie, Alayne  $306.00 

Rosehill, Andrea  $148.50 

Sankaran, Annapoorni R.  $405.00 

Sheffield, Megan L.  $234.00‐$256.50 

Sifuentes , Lisa  $225.00‐$234.00 

Swanis, Eric W.  $369.55‐$481.50 

Titus, Jaycee  $119.00‐$126.00 

Welch‐Kirmse, Whitney  $310.50 
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DECL 
COHENJOHNSONPARKEREDWARDS 
H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 00265 
sjohnson@cohenjohnson.com 
375 East Warm Springs Road, Suite 104 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Telephone: (702) 823-3500 
Facsimile: (702) 823-3400 
 
QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & SULLIVAN, LLP 
CHRISTOPHER TAYBACK, ESQ. 
California Bar No. 145532, pro hac vice  
christayback@quinnemanuel.com 
MARSHALL M. SEARCY, ESQ. 
California Bar No. 169269, pro hac vice  
marshallsearcy@quinnemanuel.com 
865 South Figueroa Street, 10th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90017 
Telephone: (213) 443-3000 
 
Attorneys for Defendants Margaret Cotter,  
Ellen Cotter, Douglas McEachern, Guy Adams,  
Edward Kane, Judy Codding, and Michael Wrotniak 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
JAMES J. COTTER, JR. individually and 
derivatively on behalf of Reading 
International, Inc., 

 
  Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER, 
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS 
McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY 
CODDING, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, and 
DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, 

  Defendants. 
 
 
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Nevada 
corporation, 
 
  Nominal Defendant. 
 

Case No.: A-15-719860-B 
Dept. No.: XI 
 
Case No.: P-14-082942-E 
Dept. No.: XI 
 
Related and Coordinated Cases 
 
BUSINESS COURT 
 

DECLARATION OF COUNSEL  
MARSHALL M. SEARCY III 
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DECLARATION OF COUNSEL MARSHALL M. SEARCY III 

 I, Marshall M. Searcy III, state and declare as follows: 

1. I am a member of the bar of the State of California, and am an attorney with Quinn 

Emanuel Urquhart & Sullivan, LLP (“Quinn Emanuel”), attorneys for Defendants Margaret 

Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Guy Adams, Edward Kane, Douglas McEachern, Judy Codding, and Michael 

Wrotniak.  I make this Declaration based upon personal, firsthand knowledge, except where stated 

to be on information and belief, and as to that information, I believe it to be true.  If called upon to 

testify as to the contents of this Declaration, I am legally competent to testify to its contents in a 

court of law.  

2. As permitted by the attorney ethical codes of both California and Nevada, while the 

above named Defendants are my clients, as indicated under Nevada’s corporate code, Reading 

International, Inc. is the party responsible for paying all fees and costs incurred on behalf of these 

Defendants, each of whom prevailed in this litigation.  

3. This Declaration is submitted in support of Nominal Defendant RDI’s Motion for 

Attorneys’ Fees and Costs.  The information contained in this declaration and the invoices from 

Quinn Emanuel are not intended to waive the attorney-client or work product privileges, nor 

should they be construed to waive those privileges.  

4. Quinn Emanuel has frequently been named the “Business Litigation Law Firm of 

the Year” by numerous publications, including Benchmark Litigation (2018), Legal 500 USA 

(2015), ACQ Global Awards (2015), Worldwide Financial Advisor Awards Magazine Continental 

Award (2013-2015), Vault (2014), Dealmakers (2013-2015), and Lawyer’s World (2013).  Quinn 

Emanuel’s business litigation practice is consistently ranked in virtually every national 

publication, and in 2012, 2014 and 2016 Legal Business named Quinn Emanuel “US Law Firm of 

the Year”.  The firm has also been voted as one of the four “most feared” firms by General 

Counsels at Fortune 500 companies.  Quinn Emanuel’s partners have tried over 2,645 trials and 

arbitrations and have won 88% of them.  

5. As noted above, I am a partner at Quinn Emanuel.  I am a graduate of Harvard Law 

School and have been practicing for over 20 years.  I have been recognized as one of Southern 
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California’s “Super Lawyers.”  I specialize in securities litigation and class action litigation.  I 

have worked on this case since its inception in June 2015.  In June 2015, my hourly rate was 

$845.75, which increased to $964.75 by July 2018.   

6. Chris Tayback is a partner at Quinn Emanuel.  Mr. Tayback is a graduate of 

Harvard Law School and a Fellow of the American College of Trial Lawyers.  He has been rated 

“AV Preeminent” by Martindale Hubbell, its highest rating.  He is also a member of the Multi-

Million Dollar Advocates Forum, the Association of Business Trial Lawyers, and for over 10 

years has been recognized as one of Southern California’s “Super Lawyers.”  Mr. Tayback has 

tried or arbitrated over 100 cases, civil and criminal, in multiple states.  Mr. Tayback has served as 

lead counsel in this case from its inception till present.  Mr. Tayback’s hourly rate in June 2015 

was $913.75, which increased to $1,147.50 by July 2018.   

7. David Armillei is Of Counsel at Quinn Emanuel.  Mr. Armillei is a graduate of 

Stanford Law School and has been practicing for over 15 years.  He specializes in complex 

securities litigation and has obtained dozens of favorable results for his clients, including 

settlements worth billions of dollars.  Mr. Armillei also served a two-year term as a law clerk for 

the Honorable Colleen Kollar-Kotelly, United States District Judge for the District of Columbia.  

Mr. Armillei’s hourly rate in April 2016 was $774.00, which increased to $805.50 by July 2018.   

8. Noah Helpern is Of Counsel at Quinn Emanuel.  Mr. Helpern is a graduate of 

Harvard Law School and has been practicing for over 11 years.  His practice focuses on 

commercial litigation, with an emphasis on class actions and shareholder derivative lawsuits.  

From 2013 to 2017, Mr. Helpern was named a “Rising Star” by Southern California Super 

Lawyers.  Mr. Helpern’s hourly rate in June 2015 was $661.50, which increased to $796.50 by 

July 2018.   

9. Lauren Lindsay (formerly Lauren Laiolo) is an associate at Quinn Emanuel.  Mrs. 

Lindsay is a graduate of UCLA School of Law and has been practicing for over 7 years.  Prior to 

joining Quinn Emanuel, Mrs. Lindsay served as a law clerk for the Honorable Fernando M. 

Olguin, District Judge for the United States District Court for the Central District of California.  
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Mrs. Lindsay was added to this case in August 2015.  Mrs. Lindsay’s hourly rate in August 2015 

was $549.00, which increased to $733.50 by July 2018.  

10. Skyler Cho was an associate at Quinn Emanuel.  Mr. Cho is a graduate of Harvard 

Law School and has been practicing for over five years.  Mr. Cho worked on this case from July 

2015 until April 2017.  Mr. Cho’s hourly rate in July 2015 was $513.00, which increased to $675 

by April 2017.  

11. Ali Moghaddas is an associate at Quinn Emanuel.  Mr. Moghaddas is a graduate of 

Loyola Law School and has been practicing for over three years.  Prior to joining Quinn Emanuel, 

Mr. Moghaddas served as a law clerk for the Honorable Manuel L. Real, District Judge for the 

United States District Court for the Central District of California.  Mr. Moghaddas was added to 

this case in September 2016.  Mr. Moghaddas’s hourly rate in September 2016 was $441.00, 

which increased to $585.00 by July 2018. 

12. Rakan Nazer was an attorney at Quinn Emanuel.  Mr. Nazer is a graduate of 

Southern California Institute of Law and has been practicing for over nine years.  Mr. Nazer 

worked on this case from September 2015 until April 2016.  Although hourly rates typically 

increase annually, Mr. Nazer’s hourly rate remained fixed at $365.00 throughout the course of this 

case.   

13. Lili Behm was an associate at Quinn Emanuel.  Ms. Behm is a graduate of 

Northwestern Pritzker School of Law and has been practicing for over three years.   Ms. Behm 

served as a law clerk in the Wisconsin Court of Appeals.  Ms. Behm worked on this case from 

September 2015 until February 2016.  Ms. Behm’s hourly rate in September 2015 was $365.00, 

which increased to $441.00 by February 2016. 

14. Homa Akram is an attorney at Quinn Emanuel.  Ms. Akram is a graduate of Loyola 

Law School and has been practicing for over 13 years.  Ms. Behm worked on this case from 

February 2016 until April 2016.  Ms. Akram’s hourly rate remained fixed at $738.00 throughout 

the course of this case.   

15. Mario Gutierrez is a paralegal at Quinn Emanuel with over 20 years of paralegal 

experience.  He has assisted in over 50 cases, 25 of which have gone to trial.  Mr. Gutierrez was 
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added to this case in August 2015.  Mr. Gutierrez’s hourly rate in August 2015 was $300.00, 

which increased to $310.00 by July 2018. 

16. Chris Grant is a paralegal at Quinn Emanuel with over 20 years of paralegal 

experience.  He has assisted in over 100 cases, 70 of which have gone to trial.  Mr. Grant was 

added to this case in December 2017.  Mr. Grant’s hourly rate remained fixed at $305.00 

throughout the course of this case.   

17. I am familiar with the billing rates for attorneys and paralegals in the Las Vegas 

legal market.  While Quinn Emanuel’s hourly rates may be higher than those in the Las Vegas 

legal market, as described more thoroughly in the Motion filed herewith, these rates are fair and 

reasonable in light of the complexity and sophistication of the legal matters involved.  Moreover, 

courts across the country have found Quinn Emanuel’s fees to be fair and reasonable.  See 

Transweb, LLC v. 3M Innovative Props. Co., No. 10-cv-04413-FSH (D.N.J. Sept. 24, 2013) (ECF 

No. 567) (Special Master’s ruling finding that Quinn Emanuel was a “premier litigation firm” and 

that total fees of $26,146,493.45 were reasonable); DIRECTV, Inc. v. NWS Corp., Am. 

Arbitration Assoc., Case No. 72 494 Y 00219 09 NOLG (June 15, 2010) (finding Quinn 

Emanuel’s rates and hours reasonable); Lockton v. O’Rourke, Case No. BC361629 (Cal. Super. 

Ct. Feb. 23, 2011) (attaching Feb. 14 court order finding Quinn Emanuel’s rates and total hours 

reasonable); Monrovia Nursery Co. v. Rosedale, Case No. BC351140 (Cal. Super. Ct.  Jan. 12, 

2009) (finding Quinn Emanuel’s rates and total fees reasonable); Riverside Cnty. Dept. of Mental 

Health v. A.S., Case No. 08-cv-00503-ABC (C.D. Cal. Feb. 22, 2010) (ECF No. 123) (awarding 

full amount of attorneys’ fees sought for work performed by Quinn Emanuel); Academy of 

Television Arts & Sciences v. National Academy of Television Arts & Sciences, Am. Arbitration 

Assoc., Case No. 72 140 00247 07 JENF at ¶ 2.2 (May 19, 2008) (finding Quinn Emanuel’s 

billable rates and hourly totals reasonable); In re Am. Home Mortgage Holdings, Inc., Case No. 

07-11047, Dkt. 3695 (Bankr. D. Del. Apr. 14, 2008) (finding attorneys’ fees requested by Quinn 

Emanuel were reasonable); Packaging Advantage Prop. Assocs., LLC v. Packaging Advantage 

Corp., Case No. VC045957 (Cal. Super. Ct. Nov. 6, 2007) (granting full amount of Quinn 

Emanuel’s fee request); Bistro Executive, Inc. v. Rewards Network, Inc., Case No. 04-cv-4640-
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CBM (C.D. Cal. Nov. 19, 2007) (ECF No. 357) (finding Quinn Emanuel’s attorney rates and 

hours were reasonable).     

18. All the work performed in this case was necessary to obtain the results reflected in 

this Court’s certified Judgment dated January 4, 2018 (granting summary judgment as to 

Individual Defendants Edward Kane, Douglas McEachern, Judy Codding, Michael Wrotniak and 

William Gould) and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law dated August 8, 2018 (granting 

summary judgment as to the remaining Individual Defendants Ellen Cotter, Margaret Cotter and 

Guy Adams) (entered on August 16, 2018).  Individual Defendants’ counsel performed extensive 

research, conducted dozens of depositions and prepared related motions including numerous 

motions to dismiss, motions to compel and motions for summary judgment.  In addition, counsel 

prepared for and attended countless hearings on procedural and dispositive motions and performed 

extensive work in preparation for trial, which never came to pass.  All the work done was 

consistent with civil litigation practice in Las Vegas, Nevada in similar cases.  This case presented 

unique legal issues along with a complex and protracted procedural history.  Indeed, the Court and 

counsel often remark of the lack of any comparable case to this in the country.  Additionally, this 

case was extremely contentious. 

19. In connection with the foregoing work, each timekeeper’s work was billed on an 

hourly basis and reflected in Quinn Emanuel’s monthly invoices, which were required to be made 

at or about the time of the activity reflected therein. 

20. Quinn Emanuel’s monthly bill totals are as follows: $121,145.03 billed on July 15, 

2015; $159,061.55 billed on August 19, 2015; $309,147.81 billed on September 16, 2015; 

$394,966.02 billed on October 12, 2015; $482,009.03 billed on November 5, 2015; $329,085.59 

billed on December 3, 2015; $312,637.09 billed on January 15, 2016; $195,635.50 billed on 

February 19, 2016; $384,648.85 billed on March 15, 2016; $478,375.06 billed on April 14, 2016; 

$674,728.93 billed on May 18, 2016; $592,783.11 billed on June 8, 2016; $516,177.10 billed on 

July 12, 2016; $490,168.18 billed on August 4, 2016; $655,640.10 billed on September 15, 2016; 

$728,171.60 billed on October 17, 2016; $726,059.70 billed on November 10, 2016; $312,896.17 

billed on December 12, 2016; $281,673.86 billed on January 11, 2017; $249,377.61 billed on 
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February 15, 2017; $141,917.04 billed on March 10, 2017; $51,699.47 billed on April 12, 2017; 

$37,116.27 billed on May 8, 2017; $88,882.64 billed on June 13, 2017; $42,600.09 billed on July 

13, 2017; $63,817.78 billed on August 4, 2017; $38,447.09 billed on September 7, 2017; 

$35,990.90 billed on October 5, 2017; $99,006.68 billed on November 10, 2017; $300,431.84 

billed on December 18, 2017; $938,134.47 billed on January 10, 2018; $500,000.92 billed on 

February 8, 2018; $132,504.77 billed on March 5, 2018; $118,075.19 billed on April 12, 2018; 

$214,672.00 billed on May 14, 2018; $314,272.31 billed on June 14, 2018; and $385,679.75 billed 

on July 16, 2018.  

21. In total, Quinn Emanuel billed Individual Defendants $11,734,276.77 for services 

performed relating to Individual Defendants’ defense of Plaintiff James Cotter, Jr.’s claims.  

19. This Declaration is made in good faith and not for the purpose of delay. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Nevada that the foregoing 

is true and correct.   

Executed on September 7, 2018, in Los Angeles, California.  

 
      /s/ Marshall M. Searcy III 
      Marshall M. Searcy III 
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DECLARATION OF SHOSHANA E. BANNETT 

I, Shoshana E. Bannett, declare as follows: 

1. I am an active member of the Bar of the State of California and an Associate 

with Bird, Marella, Boxer, Wolpert, Nessim, Drooks, Lincenberg & Rhow, A Professional 

Corporation (“BMBW”), which served as attorneys of record for Defendant William 

Gould (“Gould”) in this action.  I make this declaration in support of RDI’s Motion for 

Attorneys’ Fees.  Except for those matters stated on information and belief, I make this 

declaration based upon personal knowledge and, if called upon to do so, I could and would 

so testify. 

2. The attorneys’ fees incurred by Gould related to BMBW’s representation in 

this action total 1,149,357.50.   

3. BMBW’s fees for each month it provided services related to this action are: 

Invoice Month Amount Billed 
July 2015 11,211.00 
August 2015 13,870.50 
September 2015 33,598.50 
October 2015 40,992.00 
November 2015 30,422.00 
December 2015 22,511.50 
January 2016 29,924.00 
February 2016 53,361.50 
March 2016 24,000.00 
April 2016 58,748.50 
May 2016 86,702.00 
June 2016 74,683.50 
July 2016 17,348.00 
August 2016 71,924.00 
September 2016 137,151.50 
October 2016 136,321.50 
November 2016 38,271.50 
December 2016 10,080.50 
January 2017 760.00 
February 2017 2,527.50 
March 2017 7,107.50 
April 2017 3,332.50 
May 2017 2,960.50 
June 2017 8,950.00 
July 2017 13,158.50 
August 2017 0.00 
September 2017 7,065.00 
October 2017 10,567.50 
November 2017 32,702.50 
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DECLARATION OF SHOSHANA E. BANNETT IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO FEES 

 

Invoice Month Amount Billed 
December 2017 81,683.00 
January 2018 22,120.00 
February 2018 3,330.00 
March 2018 5,846.50 
April 2018 16,037.00 
May 2018 30,159.50 
June 2018 9,682.00 
July 2018 246.00 

Total 1,149,357.50 
 

4. The name of the BMBW timekeepers who worked on this action and their 

hourly effective rates are set forth in Exhibit 1, hereto.  The code PT indicates a partner.  

The code AS indicates an associate.  The code PL indicates a paralegal or litigation support 

staff. 

5. The amounts set forth above reflect for services rendered by BMBW include 

time spent on drafting pleadings, including several rounds of dispositive motions; drafting 

and preparing responses to discovery propounded by Plaintiff; facilitating electronic 

discovery collection; electronic document review and production; attending depositions of 

numerous witnesses many on multiple dates; reviewing documents produced by Plaintiff 

and the other Director Defendants and RDI; handling discovery motions; and preparing for 

and attending hearings, and preparing for trial, among other related items.   

6. BMBW’s attorneys diligently pursued this matter to conclusion, ensuring all 

tasks were assigned and performed timely and effectively. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the 

foregoing is true and correct, and that I executed this declaration on September 6, 2018, at 

Los Angeles, California. 

 /s/ Shoshana E. Bannett 
 Shoshana E. Bannett 
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timekeeper                                          LEGALMASTER MIRC for Transactions                                      9/6/2018  Pg 1
                                                                 -Fees-

   Sorts:  Actual employee code   (Subtotal only)

   Ranges:
      Include "Client code" from 4284 to 4284
      Include "Case suffix" from 2 to 2
      Include "Transaction date" from 01/01/1981 to 07/31/2018

   (1)     (2)    (3)                  (4)                 (5)               (6)                    (7)             (8)             (9)      

                                                          Act                                                                                
                Act                                       Emp                                     Billable         Billable        Effective 
Cl code  Ca sfx Emp  Actual employee name                 Cls Actual employee class desc             Hours          Dollars        Bill Rate 

4284          2 ADB  Bowman, Ashley D.                    AS  Associate                               8.60         3,354.00           390.00 
4284          2 ASB  Bender, Amy S.                       PL  Paralegal                             157.10        42,417.00           270.00 
4284          2 AXM  McTernan, Andrew                     AS  Associate                              74.10        28,528.50           385.00 
4284          2 BDM  Moore, Bonita D.                     PT  Partner                               131.80        73,149.00           555.00 
4284          2 DEF  Findley, DeHavilland E.              PL  Paralegal                              67.50        16,893.00           250.27 

4284          2 EER  Rhow, Ekwan E.                       PT  Partner                               580.40       393,010.00           677.14 
4284          2 EK   Kim, Emerson H.                      AS  Associate                               0.50           147.50           295.00 
4284          2 HDV  Vera, Hernan D.                      PT  Partner                               130.30        69,710.50           535.00 
4284          2 JKS  Liu, Joanne Seto                     PL  Paralegal                             124.20        33,649.50           270.93 
4284          2 LDB  Biksa, Liene D.                      PL  Paralegal                               9.10         2,457.00           270.00 

4284          2 PHJ  Jun, Patricia H.                     AS  Associate                               2.30         1,000.50           435.00 
4284          2 SEB  Bannett, Shoshana E.                 AS  Associate                           1,341.80       479,116.00           357.07 
4284          2 SVA  Allen, Stacey V.                     PL  Paralegal                              21.70         5,925.00           273.04 
                                                                                                ----------   --------------                  
                                                                                                  2,649.40     1,149,357.50                  
                                                                                                ==========   ==============                  

13 records printed.
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Sherrl R. {:srlgr, l'ixri{:utivr-" Offlô{lt:í{':lsrk

By: Sh niolr l"l*Kinrir:1', Fo"ttttY

SL}PE,RIOR COLiR-I' OF l-H¡, Sl"AI'L OF CALIIIORNI,q.

FOR'f}{E COUNTY OF T,OS ANGNI,ES

In Re: JAMESJ. COTTER IIVING TRUST ) Case No.: 8P159755

ELI,EN MARIE COT'TER
MARGARtr'I CO"|TER

Petitioners,
vs.

JAMIISJ. COTTERJT.,
Rc¡ponclenL

STATEï'V{EN'I OF DECISION

Thc courl Hakes the following fìndings in this case :

-I-he "irgs¡rital arnendment" is invalid clue lo the lack of capacity olJames Cotte r, Sr. iurcl

undue inlluence when he signed this clocumenl

'I'he sþilica¡rt assets of Sr.'s eslate begins r¿'ith ilre conpany that dre pa-r'ties state Sr. built,

RI)I, and specificai.lly thc corn¡rany stock. RDI was his l'amily business and he or,ured the rnajority

at the cncl of his lifè. RDI has a dual-class stock slructure wit.h non-r,oting (Class A) arttl todng

{Class l}) stock, At his dea{ìr, Sr. orrnned roughly 1.2 million volirrg sha¡-cs (709ó e¡l'thc votin¡1 si<¡ck),

rvl¡ich are nol actively traded, and about 2.2 lnillion non-r'oting sha:-es'

IIis asseis also inch:ded citrus f¿:rns in 'l'ula¡e and liresno counlies, cotrsisling o1'over ?000

ircres ol'orchards ancl a ¡rackaging house, Cecclia Packing that ¡rrocesseii cil¡r¡s botlr fiollr ilre its

orvn otcha¡'ds a¡d otller fanns. Tltc cou¡'L does nol. scnsc that Sr,'s children lrave ¿r sentiurent¿ll

a1ïrclultcnt lo the.se Central Valley orange gro!€s as witjr a traclitio¡ral lârnily lurn or ra¡rch.

Sr, owned nu¡ïÌerous private invcst¡nents ¿uld rc:rl estlte. ofi.cn;rs ¡raltnership sh¿¡.res of rçrl-

csia1e ten1ures.'l-hesc investnrenls inc'lutle, ¡uÌrongtlthers, the ¡rropelties lsrolvn:rs Sr-rtlon }-Iill,

)

,
)

)D
)))
)))
))
)
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Shadow View, Sorento, ancl Panol'a¡¡ra, ancl ¿r Laquna Beach condonriniuur, Sr, ou¡necl 100% of
tlle 120 Ccnt¡al Pa¡k South Cooperative A.partmcnt tlut his claughter Margar.et iras live¿ i¡r fìrr

over 20 years. Sr.'s Supplemen&rl Executivc Rctirement plan (',SERp") lro¡n lìDI is r.vc¡rrh

approxirnatcly $7. 5 millio¡t.

Tirneline ol'lìvents

The courl incorporâtes most of'[he petitioners' "timeline of cvents" preceding the de at]r ol'

Sr.:

.Junc 2013 Sr. exccutes 2013 Trusl, drafterl by Charles l-arson

Fall of 2013 Guy Arlarns and Scot Kirkpatrick become involved in Sr.'s e.sfate planning

Felrruary- 24, 2014 Scot Kirþatrick has a nreeting with Sr, regarding estate pla-r'rning

April 4,2014 Sco[ Kirk¡ratrick sends Sr. teclmical changes 1o dre trusl and an amenc]ment. to ]ris
trust
l¿stweek of May 2014.Jr. sees 2013'frust f-or fìrst time

May 28 Sr. and Scot Kirkpatrick in a ¡rhone conversation; Sr. instrucrs Kirk¡ratrick to revise his

trust and dividc tirc voting sLock l/3-l/&li3

June 6 Scot Kirkpatrick sends Sr. a conrplcte restâteltrent ol'hi.s trust

Junc lt "lhe "Capital Grille Dinner"

June 16 Sr. lalls at his [,os Angeles aparünent, and is adr¡rilteci to Cedars Sinai

.Jur¡c 17 Sr. undergoes a brain MRI n'hich reveals nrultiple strokes; Sr. and tlre färnily is tolcl thc

next day

Junc lBJr. r'ideotapes cliscussion of es{ate plan with Sr. and Marya.r-et ilt the cvening

Junc l9 {7arn) Jr. has l;¡rson prepare lhe Hospital A.¡ne¡rdme¡:I.

June l9 (12:30 pnr)Jr, ancl Margarel lrave Sr. sigrr tJre Hospibl A.rnc¡rdnrent, videotapes signing

J¿ne l9 {l:45 pm) Sr. unclergoes procetlure; consen[l'onr: signed byJr. in lieu of'S'

.|une l9 Scor Kirkpatrick senclsJr. ilre ']une l9 Ðra{i"'

June24. Sr. se¡rt Lo reliab unii at Cedars Sinai

June 25 Sr. diag"nosed witll "Majcr Ncurocogni¡ive l)isortler"; parlics

stipulate Sr. has losr capacitl' and all dc¡cumenls aftcr this point are

'rv¿rlid

June 25 Jr. se¡rcls Hospital Arnenchnent to Scot Kirkpatrick and requesis tlurl Kirk¡ratrick conl'orr¡r

lds.June l9 drafi ro l-Iospital A.mcndment
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June26 Scor Killi¡ratrick senclsJR. a revisecl dr;rft, confonning lo the Hospital

Anrencl¡t"lenl (except f'or Rotating Trustee Provision)

.luly 9,2¡7* Sr. discharged frorn Cedars Si¡rai rchab unir

Juli' :6,20t4. fir. reachninerl to Certam Sinai

Jul)'August 2014Jr., Ellert, and Ma¡garet h¿rve their father execule or themsclves exccnte a scries

ol'docurnents ¡:lrincipaily related to lr¿ursf'en-ing tire citr us pro¡rcrtics out of Sr.'s estate i¡rto Cotkr

Fanrily Fan¡r.ç

Se¡>{errrbcr 73,2014 Sr. passes away

CAP,.{CNY

Capacity to nrakc c¡r amend a trusl or will is ev¿rluated untlcr Caiifornia Pr<¡bate Codc,

Sectio¡r 6100.5 st¿urdarcls rather th¿¡r Calilbrnia Probate Code, Sec{ion Bl0, whicli sef.s

lbrtlr stand¿ucls lbr capacity t.o ent.er inlo co¡rlracls. (Scc, ,4ntlc¡sr¡n v. Hunr 196

Cal.App.4th 7 22, 730-3 I (20 I I ))

"Accordingly, sections Bl0 to Bl2 do lol set out a single sta:rda,¡-d for cont¡;rclual
capacity, but rather provide that capacity to do a rtu-iety o[ acls, includirrg t.o

conLract, rnake a will, or execule a lrust, rnust be cvaluatcrl by a ¡;erson's ability to

apprcciale [he conseque¡ìccs ol'the particul:r :u:l hc <¡r she r,vishes to take. More
corn¡tlicated clecisions ancl t¡ansactiorrs thus would appe¿u- to rcquire glcater l¡tental

fu¡ction; Iess conrplicate<l decisions il¡rd tr':nrsactions lvould appear lo tequire lcss

lnental lunction."
"'Whcn detemrining whether a trustor liad ca¡racit-v to e,xcculc a trusl amcn<hnetl[

that, in its content zurd com¡rlexity, clc;sely reseurbles a rvill <.¡r cotlicil, n'e believe it
is a¡rpropriare to lo<¡k to sec{ion 6100.5 [o detcnnine when Ír person's llrental

ctclìcits are suflicient tcr ¿rllow a court to conclude tJrat. fhe person l¿rcks tl¡e abilily "t<:

understa:td and ap¡:reciate the colxequences ol'his or lrer actions with regard to dle

type of'act or clecision in question." (S 811(b).) hi othcr wortls, while scction 6100,5

is not clirectly applicallle Lo detcmrine co.rnpetency ¡û lnalie or:urlend a trust, it is
¡raclc ap¡rlicablc tlrrough section Bl1 to trusts or lrt¡st atnench¡ren(s ûlat al'c

analogous Lo wills or co<licils"'

Pursu:urt t<l Califomi¿r Probate Coele, Scctior¡ 6100..5, a person is not lncntall)' .otrrrr"r"rrt.

[<r ruake a will if'a( the time ol'rnaking die will eithcr ol'thc l'ollorving i.s true:

{l)'l"he inrlividual does ¡rol havc sullìcient menkrl c:r¡lacit-v to be able to (,{)

u¡rcle¡'sia¡rcl the nature o1'the Lestiunentary act, (l]) undcrslar¡rl zurtl recollcct the

nahlre and situation of rl¡e individual's ptol)r.rt-v, or (C) rct¡relnl¡er ancl ulldcrshrld
the indivitlual's relations to living descendiurts, spousc, ancl parcnts, ;urd thosc

whosc inlcrests are being aflecled by thc r'vrll'

(2) 't'þe inclivi{ual suflers lrom a menlal disorcler with sytn¡-rtoltts inclucliltg

clclusions or hallucin¿rúons, r.vlüch clelu.sio¡rs or l:allucinalio¡rs resr¡lt. in the
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inclividu¿rl's devising property in a way r,r'lúch, exccpt f'or the exisle¡ce ol the
deiusions or hallucinations. dre i¡rdividual r,vould not har.,c done .

liven if sorncollc has a mental rlisorder in which there ¿u'e lucid periocls, it is presrmrc¿ tlral

lris or lrer w"ill has beer: tnacle during a time of lucidiry. Uistate o/'GoeÞ258 Cat.,{.p¡r.2d l0Z, l l4
(1967).) A finding of lack of testa¡rentar', câpaci[/ can only be supportcd if'the presuur¡rtion ol'

execution cluring a.lucid period is overcome. lÛsate of Mann 184 C:rl.App3cl S93, 603-04. (l986))

'fhe court liclieres that. the evidence at {rial established tha[Jarnes Cot[er Sr. ("Sr-."), hacl

suffered several recent strokes beforcJune 19, 2014, the date of the Hospital A¡ncnclment. -lhe

courl finds by a preponclerance of evirlence that Sr. clid not have e iilrer tesüunenrår], ca¡racity,

lvhether il l-¡e underslancling the efÌèct of his test¡unentary acts, or thc higher stindiucl to

unrlershnd the consequences zrntl legal efÏ'ecs of the hospiml r¡'ansactiorrs. -I-he¡'e rna,v bc isolatecl

entdes in the r:rerlical recorcls indicating ¡rossible slight irnprovements in his condition at times, buf

the overall review of the records, most ilnporkmtly cornbinecl with thc corn¡rellingvicleos, supporls

lhe court's conclusion drat Sr. lacked capacity to execute a test¿unentary documenl ol'this

conrplexily

Severaù significiuit fàcts e.stablish Sr.'s incapacitt . \ill¡en the vítleo of Sr. o¡r Novcnrber 13,

2013 is r"iewerl wii-h theJune, 2014 videos, drere is a subsnntial diflerence in awa¡eness, irllect, arlrl

ability to converse. An hour after the Hospital Arnendmenl- was signed, dre Ceda¡s Sinai sf¿lï

detennined Sr. coulcl nol sign a consent to a medical procedure. Jr. signed this tlocu¡ncnt. I)r,

Weüheirlrer, ¿l lÌeuropsychologist, evaluated Sr. six days alter the Hos¡rital4.lnctrch¡rent was

sigled. The¡ e 1,vas no er.'ide¡rce of any nerry stu'okes or bther sigrilicant medic¿¡l dcveloprnents.

'lhe di:rgnosis was 
-urajor neurocognitive clisorder," wlfcl: is circuurslantial evidence tlrat his

condido¡r onJune 25u'rvould not have declined fiornJune l9u'. -I'he videos taJren on.|rure lB ancl

l9 show a Sr. drat was inattentive, rninimally responsiræ, and possibly confused, su¡rporting the

court's tìnding that Sr. lacked capacity onJune 19.

'fhere 'r,vas conflicting testirnony by ¡ry6 r.ery qualifìed gcriatric psychiatrisls, Dr,.|iuncs

Spar, a{ier Sr.'s sl¡okes, concludcd thal l¡e was substantially unable to tnanage his fin¿urcial

resources or resist fraud o¡ undue infìuence. f)r. Spar l'urther did not see any positivc evidcuce

flxri sr. had capacir-v-; hovvever, hc does not believe a lack of "posiúve eviderrce" leads fo a

co¡rclusion t-hat sor¡reo¡re l¿rcks ca¡;acity. -I-his court did com¡rrent. th¿rt. experls in other cases havc
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stäLed tlrat {he1' clid not adnrinisler various diagnostic lesls on a palicnl, because it wouffi 5e

unllecessarJ¡ and rv¿isleful when {,}rc patient was clearly stable, clear thinking, non-clelusio'a-1, erc,

As f)r. S¡rar testitìed, "positive cvidence" is uol necessary to de kn¡i¡e levels of i¡rpaimrerìr., to

rvhich this couil concurs. Howevcr, witll Sr., the courl. believed there was subsriurlial cr.'iciercc of
impainnent, as surr-urlarized in this decision.

The court beliei'es tha[ thc evidence at trial establishecl that Sr.'s lnental luncfion was

ínr¡rairecl onJune 19''. Sr. rvas r.icleoùa¡red duringdiscussions of the t¡ust æld its subserluent

signing. Sr' states that Ellen should be included in the roþrtion as chairman with contrc¡l of'the

voling stock-which is nol included in thc Hospital Ar:rendment. For the remaintler of the

cliscussicxr, Sr. either urakcs irrclev¿url stalemenls or is diseng:rgecl al¡oul other nrallers.

In adclition to the .|une 25* exarn, a docLor the next clay onJune 26th concluclecl: "Not

currently able to make rn4jor decisibnsÆnancial clecisions." Dr. Posaclas's lnedical notes fror'¡l Sr.'s

adrnission documelrt ilrat on Tuesday a¡rd Wednesday of the preceding week, Sr. hacl "collapsed

liom fatigue," on Fliday Sr. had diihculq, walking, a¡rd on Salrrrday Sr. w¿rs "disoricnted." ()nJune

lr.l., Sr. leli a voiccmail mcssage for ScoL Kirhpatrick in which sr. had diflìcult1' rccaìling iris honrc

phone nurrtber that lie had I'or tliirty years.

()n the rnorning of June L7,Dt, Posaclas ret'erencecl fhe "problemn of "confusion." which

rv¡ls "rvùrsening' and commenlcd ürat he"[algreelell wit]r tlre rreurology rvor-ku¡r. l,aler onJture 17,

Dr. Susan Lce, a neurologisl saw Sr. She leamed about Sr.'s medical history lronr Marçtrcl,

lrccause Sr. wirs unable to provide the necessary läcts. f)r. L,ee obsened that. althoug*r St. lvas

"o¡'iented to self, yeru'and hospilal" a¡rd k¡rew his date of bi¡rh, he haci severi.rl'severe cleliciencie s;

læ did no[ k¡rovy t]re n¿une of'his prorninenl hospit¡1, the rnontlt, ¡urd his occupation, ancl had

diflict¡lty lollowin¡¡ inst¡uctions. His l'ailure to know his job is especially disconcedi¡rg as he rvas

vcry involverl with his business,

His phvsicrÌ thcra¡rist onJune l8 conunented on lris "delayecl processing", rcc¡uirirrg l0

secon<ls [o a:rs¡n'er simple question.s, such as if be is" working or retired." Hc nceclcrl "consla¡ll

verbal a¡rd tactile cuingan<l rnaxillral assist" tlrroughoul dre session. L,ater onJune 18, l)r. l,ee

obsen eci cognritive clifficultv, including dillìculty narning his own grandchilclren. 'fhc videos t:¡"Itc¡r

byJR. tìrat nigl:t corrobolale Sr.'s irnpainnent. Mæ'garet has to feed Sr. Guy Adanrs r:allerl dle.Jiur

Co{te r Sr. in dre .f une l8 v'iclec¡s "a shadr:w of the Jim Cotter I knew," :¡nrJ salv ouly "si.xu"lis" ol flrc
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old Jirn Cotþr- AltJrough Guy Adams is not rneclically traineel, t-he cc¡url forrnrl tlris con¡r¡.rc¡rr

¡tersuasive , as unlike the doctors, Guy Âdzuns could corìÌpare a pcrson he knen, r+,ell at clífÏere¡"ll

tinres- 'lfhe court recognizes that Guy Ad¿lrn's i¡rco¡ne gr eatly clepends on the current Rl)I
nìan¿geü'ìetìt.

The resuls of Sr.'sJune l7'n b¡ain ilIRI shor.vecl'multiple sr¡ra-ll acutc ischcnric inf¿rctio*s",

strokes, and fragmeüts circulating frorn a llloocl clot. Dr. Lee told Sr., Margarcç a'd.fR. a6out the

strokes, and they continued [o discuss the.se estate ¡rlanningissucs. Neitlrer.]r. nor Margaret.

appmr to make any serious attetnpts [o dete¡'mine if their f¿rther undersÞr:<ls what is ha¡rpcni¡g.

OnJune l9th when tìre Hospital Amendment rvas signed, an occupalionarl therapist

conclucktl an asscssllìent, slatiug that Sr. had impairecl cogrition." The therrpisl mentio¡red tliat

Sr. neede<l strong encourageme¡ìt to participale in therapy, ancl "clelayecl" zurswering cluestions.

La[er that rnoming, Dr. Ng no[ed that. Sr,'s "¡n€rìtal sta[us appeared lo be inrproving" overnight, llut

i¡rcluded "altered nrental slatus" to Sr.'s lis¿ of problems.

OnJune l9u', Sr. tlid nol appear to read the l{ospital Amendnrent, lrut siurply listens in his

bed as the seven bullel poinls a¡e read to hün b.v lVfargarel As Margaret recites tlle bullet points, a

nurse interrupts drem to change some batteries. IVlargaret. continues to read tlle bullet poinLs about

90 seconds laær. \Mhen Sr. signs the Hos¡rital Arnendrnenl, in tlre video Sr. needs help with his

pen.

,{.I¡out an hour aJter Sr. sþed the Flospital A¡nendurenl; ¿ nurse askecl who would

consent f'or a procedure widr Sr. and his fänily. "I-wo a¡rd a hall'hours alier thc Hospital

Amendurc¡rt is sþed, a henralologisl, base<l <¡n a residcnl's exaÌn, slates Sr. is "overa]l disodentecl".

'l'lrat night., Sr. rel-used to take hi.s medication ancl aske cl to go hor:rc. He l¡elievctl that. he was in

Chicago. Ar his rlepo*sition, f)r. Wertlreirner lestifìed tJraL Sr. a¡rswered I I or¡r ol'30 qucstions

corecdy orì âu orienultion tesl. versus ¿r norrnal score o['ovrr 25. Ðr, Nastuyth concluded lhat Sr.'s

"[clognition re.nrainedl signilicantly irn¡raired" a¡rì that Sr. cor¡ld not rnake rrr4jor [inancial

decisions."

{Jnder the Probab Code, Sr. l¿rcke<l the ca¡racity lo cxccutc legal clocumedts onJune l!}.

-fhc parties have 4gr-eed thar in this case , capacitr should be judge d by thc stanclarcls goveruing

contractu¿rl ca¡:acily. As a result, Sr.'s capacity accordingly rnltsf. bc evaluak:rJ under Proltatc Cocle
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section II2, alt.hough the court would ¡nakc the same decision if section 6i00.i goye,.,ecl i' t¡is
case.. See Andersen v. flunt,796 Cal. App. 4th 722 (Z0ll). Uncler Secrion g12, ,,a 

¡rerson lacks

the capacity tr¡ rnake a decision unless the person has f)re. ability [o cc]rnrnunica[e verbally, or by

any other ¡tìea¡ls' the decision, and to undershncl ancl appreciate, io the e.xte nt reler,¿ult, all oi. tlle
l'ollowing'.

(a) ]-he rights, duties, and responsibilities crealed by, or alï'ectcd l¡v thc dccision.

{b) 'lhe probirble consequences for the decision maker imd, where approprìale, üre persops

allèctcd by the decision,

(c) The signiiìcarnt risks, bencfits, and reasonable altem¿rlives invalved in the rlccision,

The rebutfable presunt¡:tion in C¿rlifornia Civil Cocle section 39{b) applies if a ¡rerson is

subslr:rtially unable [o ma-nâge his or her own financial resources or i'esist fiaud or undue

influence. Dr. S¡:ar stalecl that Sr., would have been sulrst.antially unable to manage his lìnances

:rnd resist fraucl and unclue influence . . . " Dr. Spar :rìso said that.Sr. could nol h¿rvc read thc

Hospierl Auttendment because he could not concentrate lbr nore thiur l0 sccolrrls. ,A.ltùouglr

reatling a testarnentary doculnent is ¡rot a prerequisite for capacity, it c¿rn be a releval"lt.l;rctor. Sr,

also had several delìcits accordÍng to Dr. Read. A. sþifìcant impainnent was lris abilily t<>

concent¡'¿rle, dernonstrated o¡r theJune I9* video.

His rnernory lor basic facts was poor, which dre courl has ¡rreviously sur:lnarizccl. Sr. hacl

diflìculty repeating thc eslate plans thatJr. had describeel, ancl rurderstanding ol'co¡Ì'r¡'nr¡nicating

rryith others. Regarding absfract concepls, Sr. was unable lo appreciate, hence consent, li¡r the risks

of ¿r medical procedure . He lacked the ability to act in his self'-intcrest with the occupational

therapisl onJune 19. Regarding Sr's logical processing; Dr. Wertheirtrer suggestccl dnt Sr. be

gìven him rìcr more th¿ur trvo options beci¡r¡sc Sr. had difliculLy with more cotn¡llex i¡:f'or¡nation.

Sr. was asked lo urake sone sþificaurt changes to his t¡ust, including his considemblc

business holdings, ¿r-¡rd hc was ¡;resente d with several o¡ltions relating to liis childrer. 'l'his

involvecl their coo¡;cration in exercising control of'RDL Sr, could no[ rerÌlenìber basic läcts aboul

lús life, such as his jc-rb, which nrises the question ol'how coulcl hc rerr¡enrl-¡er rììore conìplicatcd

lãcts such as Iús orvnerslii¡: of RDI, rvhether his lti<ls even u.orlied f}cre, whal constilurcd tJrc

"Cirus ()¡;cration", and how the Hospital Arnendlnenl changed his 2013 eslate plan rcgarcling the
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future ol'llDI and Ûre cit¡us fanns. Sr. could nolappreciale or un{erstan¿ L¡e c¡anges fro¡' tlle
2013 -l-rust, which he did no[ have in his room. All of these factors support dre cour¡'s fì¡¿ir-rg tìrat

he lacked c;rpacity. Even wiilr a presumption of capaciLy, if a¡rplicable, fìre er"iclence is sullicienl ro
ol'ercome {his ¡>resurnption and proves a lack o[ca¡raciry onJunc lg, 2014.

P,{RTIAI, INVAT,IDIIY

JR. has suggestcd that the Court could save tire Hos¡rital Arnenclmeut by voirling only pmrts.

Tlús rvould not apply if Sr. lacked capacity. 'Ihe petitioner ciles In re Raket-b Estare,l Tli CâI. 4g0,

435. ""I'he invalidiry which aüaches to a lvill on the ground of insanitf in tJrc tcsf;rtor ar rhe tirue ol.

its executjon attaches to all o{'its provisions." In this case, w'e do not have evidence of insanily, a.:rrl

sotne ol' the bulie t points a¡c less complex, '¿nd thus pursuant to the sliding scalc of .4¡ derson, ntay

involve a lesser sta¡rdard of capacity tha¡r conractual. Howevcr, this courL <loes not bclieve t-l'¡e

Hospitirl A¡nenchnent can be divided up and consi<lered in pa-t and il"Icoryoratc Sr.'s inlenl, when

conrbined with the 2013 tmst. The provisions of this com¡>lex estale ¡rlan are suflicicntl-v

interrelaled that selecting sorne of the parüs zrrd eliurinating odrers is nol ¡rractìcal, a:rd Lherc has

been insullicient er.{rlence in this hearing on the el}èc[ on t]re over¿ilI trus[ of pcmritting s¡recilìc

gifis for the residuary benefìci¿ries.

TJNDTJE,INFI,UENCE

iriolwithstanding a finding ol ca¡racity, thc ¡retitioners have also provcn therc was u¡rrlue

iulluencc, regiu'dless of the applicabiliLy of any presunìption uncler Calif'ornia larv.

Regzu'cling such a presumptio¡r ol'undue influe nce, it arises when there is a co¡rcur¡'ence of the

following elements: (l) the exislence ol'a confidential or fiduciary relationshi¡: betvvceu lire tcstaf or

ancl the person alleged to haye exertecl undue influencc; (2) active participation by su¿¡, ¡rersou in

Lhc preparation or execulion of'the will; and (3) an undue benelit to such person or iurotlrer

peîs()rr urrder the will dxrs procured. {Estate oÍ-{}elonese 36 Cal.App.Sd 854, 861-862 1t97't};

Estatc ol-Pcters I Cal.Âp¡i.8d 916, 922 (l970ll Estate of Morgatt l4,B Cal.App.2d Bl l, 814

(r 957).)

Jr. a¡d Sr., as father and son, had zr conficlential rr:larjonshi¡r. See, e.g., Esta? a|(.)rlatrcsc,

36 Cìal. r\pp. 3d 85,1. 863 (1914) {ex¡rlaining thal a "co¡rfidential rela.tionshi¡: is ¡-lrcserrt íts a rna{lcr

ol'larv becarrsel lsluch a re.l:rt¡lon is ¡lresurnecl to e xisl be tvveen paì-e¡]L and child"). Sccond, -JR'
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"acti\.'ely ¡ra¡ticipatell" in procuring the Hospiurl .A¡ncnclment. 'fhirrl,JR. uncluly be¡rcfittcd fronr

thc execufion of the Hospital Arnendtnent by increasing his por?er over Lìre voting siock ancl t¡c
citrus operations, and by getting tJre rolating lrusteeship.

The petitioners have establishecl thatJr. ¡rarticipatecl in tìre pre¡raration ancl executio¡ ol
Hos¡:it.zrl Anrendment. Case larv, on achnittetlly cliflèrent yeL relevant facts, slate drar neither ulgr¡¡g

a Lestal.or to make a will rlor procuring an atlomey lo prepãre the will ¿ue t[ernselves sul1icic¡t [o

triger tlte ¡rresutnption of unclue influence. 1'o susl'lin ar¡ undue il:fluence firrcling, the cot¡rt

looks for additional evidence such as dece¡rtion, overreaching or cxcessive persuasion . Uiçtate of'

Swettnan¡t 85 Cal.Ap¡r.4th 807, 821 (2û00); Estate of Becktey2SS Cal.App.2d 341, iì46-348

(1965).) In l-he presenL case, iìtere was crcdible eviclence presented thatJr. w¿rs involved in

orerreaclr.ing or excessive persuasion. Sr. lvas isolir.ted in hi.s hospiurl roorr, although lriends md

relativcs werc fiee lo visit him, and lawycrs. As such, tìte irdditional ele¡nent. has been satislicel.

'l'he evidence demonstrates that rïrâr1y of the Flospital Aure¡rdment tentìs were nevcr

diclated or discussed with Sr., vrhosc intent, according t.o Scot Kirpatrick, r,vas to leave a trust that

rvould have clividccl control of Sr.'s esLale equally benvecn lils tlree children. Jr. rvas concerned

about such a ¡rossibilily, which woulcl result in his loss of iury nreamingfìrl role in fhe rnanagemcnt

of his tätJrcr's cornparry, -I'he hospital arnendment is irrconsistent with Sr.'s interrt as ïvas cliscussed

wit.ll Scot Kirkpatrick ancl Guy Adans, bul also difl'crent liom Sr.'s irrlc¡ri <liscussed withJr. on dte

.lunc l8 tapes.

Neither Margaret norJunior's ex¡rlanations for their conducl onJune 1!)ih are crcdible,

Lirat they were tired, rushcd, relying on others, sacrificing ¡lersona-l jntercsts l.'or the greal-er good ol'

RDI, etc. -fhey knew their father rv:u dying, anrl tìrey r.vanled to get hirn to sigrr rvhat llrey

¡rerceived at the tilne to bc a bcttcr frust instrument. Llnclue influencc consists r¡f conch¡ct wlilch

subìuptes thc will of the lestalor to the will of anotller ancl c;ruses the testal¡:r to rnake. a dis¡losilion

ol'ltcr property contrary t<¡ an<l dilTerent fronr thal which l¡c rvoukl havc do¡re had he bcen

pennitted tc¡ follow his omr inclination or judgrnenL. (Estale o/'Iìranco 50 Cal.App.Scl i173, 382

{1975).) Evidence of sonre pressure on il:e teslator is not enough. Rather, there tnust be ¡rrool'ütal

flre testator's lree will was completely overbome by the p¡€ssurc of the u¡rdue influence.r. (Hagen

v. Hicl<cnbottorn 4.1 Cal.Ap¡r.4.th 168, 2A4-AS (1!)!15)')
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,Lficr 2013, Sr. initially consideretì revising his.trust to incorporate a ¡rar-enl's na[rral splir ol'
his eslale e]'cnly betrvee.lt lris tlxee chilclren. Aftcr the 20t3 trust r,r,as signecl, Sr-. co'teurplatcrl
additional estate phnning during thc fall witl Guy Aclar¡rs insteacl ol'Cha¡lcs f;u-son, who h¿*l

¡lreparcd thc 2013liust. Sr. then hired an Atlanta l:rwyer Scor Kirpatrick io ch:urgc dre v.tirg
stock distribution. Under the 2013 Trusl, N{argaret hacl sole control of thc votirg stock. Sr,

wanf,ed his tlu-ee chilrlren f o tvork togcfher, r.vhich unlo¡tunalely is now irnpossible.

According [o Scot Kirkpatrick, on May 28, Sr. asked hinr to <tivicle lús cstate, i¡clucli¡g c<¡¡rh-ol ol'

the voting s{ock, inLo thirtls for his three children. OnJune 6, 2014, Kirkpatrick sent Sr. a {ral.[

revision of his b'ust and will. 'fhe June 6 draft split control of üre voting stock t/3- l/3- l/3 betrvecn

lillert, Margaret, andJr.. ancl would result, in Kirkpatrick's words, in "Majority rule." T'l¡is nleãnt

that the sisters would outvote .]r., ancl thus run Rf)I. Jr. saw that. the 2013 -frust g:rve Marçuet, sole

conhol of the voling stock, and thus control of RDI. Jr. believed he was destined to assunre the

m?uragenlenl of RI)I based on pronúses by Sr. Hence,Jr. wanted that HospiLd Arnench¡rcnt.

Thcre is drc rnuch di.scussrxl 'Capiial Grille dinner" onJune 11,2014, Iive dirys befbrc Sr.'s

hospital adrnission, whenJr. discusses lús concems with Sr.. "I-here are, of cour-se, diflbrcnt

accounls of the couversatjon, and '.rs with much of the tcstimony in this case, each corres¡londs

will-r the selliintcrest of'the particip¿urt. As the court has stated, ùc credibiliry ol'bÕth.lr. ;urd

Miugalet is l:x:king clue to odrer [e stimony of both of tllem legglcling Sr.'s ca¡racity at- clil'fcrcnt

times, incorrcc[ staleurenls to Sr. at t]re hospital, subsequent cotmucnts to tl're estate l?ìwycrs, ¿ì.nd

the .signing of the later te sl¿urentary docunrents. Malgiret. ntay hara stated at her dcposition thaL

she was "zoned out" at this dinner, l¡ut it does not necessarily follow that she recalled noüring

aboul dle conlent o[ aly convel'sation, ancl dre courl r¡rusL still açsess t]re accuracy olJr.'s

recolleciion about what was discussed.

Accorrling to Scot lürkpatrick, Sr. did s¡rcak u,ith lfirkpa{rick onJunc 14, drree da;,s zLlicr

the Capitzrì Grille dirurcr, arrd a¡rpar-ently did not request any changts to theJune 6* dr¿rli, sucl¡ as

cxclurling Ellen. Â{.Jr.'s rcr¡uesl Kirk¡;atrick inserted fu-ticle IX (requires unani¡nous consen0

into fuisJu¡e 6 dr¿rft, rnelcirr:uìated a revised dralt on.]une 19, when S¡'. was i¡r dre hos¡ritaì. 'fhis

ruray inclicate Sr.'s i¡rle¡rt thar Ellen l¡e inclucleel, yei. she lvas not illcluded as a lrusl"ce ol'the

gra¡clchildren's trusl wliicll ha¡l becn rcccntly exccuted. Hr)wet'er, Ellen did not havc chilelren.
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OnJune l8th, Jr, tecortletl whal he says was the nra,joriry ancl ¡nost im¡;orteurl <¡f t¡c
conversation. -fhe 

rr:fzrting lrttstee provision is not rliscussed 6n tlìe tapes. Sr. is virtually silc^t

e-tccpl- for so¡ne alïin-nalir"e rcsponses. Sr. does conrlnenl. that. þlle¡ wou¡l ha'e a ycar- as the

ch:Lir, whiclt she. does not get in dre hospital arnendrnent. There is no clea¡ explanati'rr ol't-tris

requesl cn the tape.

.Jr. then asks for ChLrck Larson to rejoin the clrafting of the Hospiurl A¡nend¡neni on Junc

19"'. Ifirk¡rirf¡ick does not know ol'Sr.'s strolies, ancl tloes no[ bclicve he receivecl the vidco

sup¡rosedly -qlåling Sr.'s inl.entions. Larson rlrafïs tirc altemating chaii provisions exclurling lillen,

md driLfts thc 7 bullet poinfs.

On tìre June 19" video,Jr. inexplicably tells lris lafller thal t]re Hos¡rital ,{mendnrerrt only

urade "nriuor cltarlges", a¡r ironic slalement in view of the exlensive litigation about tltis

arnencl¡nent. This slatement alone sup¡rort-s a fincling of unclue infirrence, as itgrossly misst¿rtes Llre

ellect ol drc hospiurl ä¡nendmcnt. Jr. says tìre Hospital A¡rren<lment. "reflect[sl exactly what we

talkecl aboul ye,ste.rclay," notwithsta¡ding it did not, and the final version was clralied by Larson, nof..

the altorney ullimately hired by Sr. Margaret says dre version reflecls what Scot is dral'tirg, which

she later admits she did no[ read. Margaret's explanafion fr¡r her urisstatements, l-rlanring a lack ol'

sleep and relying on Jr., is unconvincing in view <¡f her later quíckly handing docuurenis lo iur

incapacitatcd Sr. to miilre sure shc got.ller Manhattan apar-trnerrt. Sr. says belbre signing, "If it

rvork.e, so lct it bc." Jr. conluses the rofa[ing t¡ustee sec{ion with rotaling chairs in descril>ing dre

anend¡lenl [o his father.

\Mhcn Þfar:garel. reads lÌre l-ruilct point.s tr¡ her father, hc rloesn't ask ;r single qttestion. Iu

täct, rvhen Marg.rrct reads to her läther the bullef ¡roint aboul. rolnling the chairrlratrship lrchvecn

dre tliree chil<lren, she zrsks her läther: 'Is drat r.vhat you walted? f)ad?" Sr. nt:r'cr rcs¡rortcls.

Jr. is visibly agitated in ilris tapc. Hc cxagerates fhat without the Flospital . ¡nendncui, dre family

will be lacing lin¿urcial dis¿rsÎ.er, and that practically every asset will go Lo dre fbundation. Again, dris

drr.e al. c¡f fin:rnci¿l ruin to Sr.'s I'aniily legacy alorrc could be undue irllÌuence. Ma:'g:ret lirsl says hc

I'ur.s :ro will, then says it is oicl, also unt¡ue . 'lhc videos rcpealeclly denro¡rstralc MarS:uet's

ig¡orarrce c¡l hcr lãther's estate . She wishes io bianre her lxotlrcr. If she clid n<¡r knorv the fitci'-c,

she slror¡lcln't be guessing arrd supplf ing lälse in{'orm¿rtion to her sick làt-her. foIar-garet clishorte slly

assures þcr fä.tþer sl¡e has reacl it to persuacle hi¡:r lo sigr the papers, which a.¡rparenily she dicl not.
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'Jr' even slvears Lo a dying gr:urdfadrcr o¡r h-is gliurclchil<iren's livc-s. .]r. s¿ys f¡is tlocurr:cnt, wirich is
signed a¡lcl thus has legai efièctif Sr. had capacity, cä.r: be cornplchlyluodifiecl, bul,,we 

'eecltogetsomelhing on the books, ducle." It has been <lescribecl as.just a "placchol¿er,, zulcl a ,,te'r¡lorarli

fi'{", also a r¡rissü¿tement. If this is rvhat Sr. wa:rtecl, r.r,hy rvoulcl it be tenrporary, to be ,,co¡r¡.rlelely

niodified" in the inurediatc future. Again, there a¡e specilìc acts supporting a fi'ding of undue
inlluence. AII of this ralies place in ten minutes, inclurling anot-her issue involving the ft:rgive¡ess
of a $1.5 n'rillion dollar loan roJr.

Kirkpatrick testilìed drat as an :rtfomey, he noukl ¡rol be al¡le to unclersta¡cl t¡e Hospital
,4.mendment fioln the bullet ¡:oints r.r¡ithout solne guessrvork. 'lJlere are significa't clrangcs,

specifically the rotating chair excluding lillen, uranimous votcs fbr t¡e orar¡¡e fa''s, iurcl

generating skipping shales. As discussed at tire trial, therc ;re scveral unrvorkirirlc ancl zurrþigur-lus

provisions with the rotating chair, such as who begins as the chair, lt'lrat is an "i¡rportä¡t" issuc, ancl

what happens if there is a rnajor conflic[ onJanuary 2*'. Rrrilremrore , it is dil'lìcult t.o assess f.hc

irnpact ol these changes wilhout Sr, having some briefìng of the 2013 trust wlüch r.r'ould be

superse<led,

Undue influence . . . is the legal condeurnatio¡r ol'a silr¡ation in which extraorclinary ancl

al¡nonnal pressure subverts intlependent fiee will ¿urd diverts iL l¡om its nafural cotirse in

accordance wiür thc dicrates of anoÛrer person." Estate o{,9anbia,221 CnLApp. 3c1599,605

(1990). Frobaie Code section 86 defines undue i¡rfluence as "excessive persuasíon that. causes

anodrcr pcrson to acl or refrain fiom acting by overcoming tlrat person's lrce will anrl rcsul{:s in

inequity." "Direct evidence as lo undue i¡r{luence is riu-ely obtai¡rable ancl llence' a court orjury

urusl detennine the issue of undue influcnce by inlèrenccs drar¡t liorn all the täcts :urcl

circunrsla¡rces." In re Hanna¡nb Estate,ltb CaJ. App. 2d 782,786 (1951). I-{owever, in dris case,

dre vicleos ¡rresented direct evidencc,

VVeif¿¡re & lnstiurions Cr:de section 15610.70(a) ¡:r-ovides crileri¿r to assess whedrer ürerc is

uncluc influence. Sr. was obr,"iously vulnerable due to his meclical condition. 'l'lre tapes suppor(

that he is v'irtuzilly helpless rvith tasks as sinrple as using dre correct ¡:oint of his pcn. .|r. w;rs

exercising r.vhalever authority he had over his fatlrer. FIe used alïection or coercion, citing a

potential loss fbr his estate with everythirggoing to the f'oundation, and the fanrily getting

"screwed". He clearly saicl it hacl to be done ill haste . He. in ellect, re¡rre.sentercl hc Ìrad sor¡re
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cxÞcrtise, as ¡ìe ?vas tìre principle funil-v ttre:nber ra,orkingwith the larvy'ers with the clralti'g- oi't¡e
trusts. Jr' controìltxl nlost of tlle access to inforrnation, as Sr. was in thc ¡ospital. FIe c¡argecl
lawl'e rs.

'lhe resuh is inequitablc to the 
"xterrt 

the court can discern Sr.'s intencled estate ¡rlur. 'I-he

Hospita.l A¡uend¡nent is clifl'erent than thc 2013 Tnrst, but Sr. r¡,as working on ch:urges.

Kirkpatrick'sJune 6 draft Inay' ltave been ruoot with Sr. af¡er rhe Capirol Grille ¿i'ner- if'orc
acceplsJr.'s accourlt of the conversation.

In hisJune 14' call with Kirkpatrick, Kirkpahick say,s drat Sr. rçlcl ¡im tlrat he was sarisfie¿

witll hisJune 6th drali, ancl was ready to sign but lbr a l'ew recþnic'al clranges. Sr. drcn sulfers lalis,

strokes, and his adrlrission to Cedæs. 'l'he pe titioner ¿sserts ilrat the June 6 drali is thc closesL

eviclence we have reg:rding a stat-e¡rìent of Sr. 's i¡rtent as ofJune 2014, as Sr. clid re¿rd it. ir-l'rer a

discussion widr Scot lürkpatrick. I-Iowever, it fails to acldress äny changes t-o Íhc voting stock anrl

ro[ating fustees. There are odrer <locun¡enls indicative of'a different intenf., such as.[r.'s

designirtion on the health dircctive, ancl Jr. and Margaret. as uuslees on thc granclcl-rilch-en's trusl.
-fr¡ add to the ;unbiguity, Mzrgaret a¡rel Ellen are the executors of his rvill. -fle Hospital

Anrcncl¡nenL incorporales clruges that uray have becn the product of the Capiurl Gdlle clinl:.er

cliscttssion. For whatever reason, the 2013 trust s¡recifically gives cxclusive ¡)olver to Marg:u'ct arrd

rrot Jr.

The court does nol que stion, as exprcssed in thc objections, that Sr. asked Jr.'s input in fJrc

estate ¡rlanning process, nor thal he was given perrnission to talk [o üre larvyers, Hovvever, tlris

rer¡uest does not corrclale wi¡h the abscnce of unduc influence whcn Sr.'s r-rredical c<¡nclition

rapidly cleclined when he was in tire hospital. Jr. concedes that he "irn¡rlored" his fâther i¡r thc

lros¡riurl, rvhich he believes was in¡roce¡rt as his fätirer hacl rer¡uested his help. This request clocs

not irn¡nr¡nLzeJr. fi'o¡n the tnissLate¡¡rents and pressure tactics clescribed in fhe lrial an<l

sul:lna¡-izrd in this stiateurent of dccision.

Wid: ihe conversations in the hos¡rita-l, high ¡rressure "sales {actics", factuaj r:ristakes, u lcr:

minule signing cercllx]ly, ¿¡mídst piuic, control o{'a $i100 lnillion entity at sÞlie {Jr.'s teslimony

about its capitalizatìon), all th¡ust on ân invalid, it is irnpossible for this court to re;rcl tl:e nrind ol-

Sr. reg:rrding his testiunent:uy intent so as tc¡ r:egate unrlue influence. I-{orvcver, as the cc¡lrrt has

stalecl on previous occ¿rsions, Sr.'s ulúrnate intention w'itl¡ ;rll <¡f"these clr;lfts and cliscus.rions,
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regaldless ol'the lalrtver, clinner cr¡nversation, rvho is t.o blame, ancl urytlting clsc prese'tcrl in this
case' lvzls tllat ihis corììpany rvas to be run by his tirrec chilclren f'or-dre mutual 6enelìt <¡f'the la'rily.
Jr' has been strip¡red of any authority with RDI, contr?uy to Sr.'s expressed intentions i¡r a
testiìDlentar}' docutnenl, and forced to resign. Linfbrhrnal-ely, Sr.'s inlent has beco¡'e i'rllossiblc to
achieve due to dre acdrnony that is the Cotter farnily krrìay. The onìy intent we Lnor,r, is that lds
rlrree chilclren s¡ere to run the cornpany, withJr. as the ¡rresiclenf widr wh¿rtever actual
resporuibilitjes th¿rt car¡re widr this nei.v position,

ELDER AIìL]SE

-l'hc holdingin ln rc EstaLe of I)íto,lgï Cal. App. 4.rh 791, 80il-04 (2011) cloes not sup¡rorL

tlle comple te disinheritalrce of Margaret ancl Ellen should they have conunitled elder alruse.

Probate Cocle section 259{c) provicles fbr disinhe rjtancc lo t}re extent of :rny nìoney darnages

awarded to the clder be cause of tlre abuse. 'I-he court o[ a¡r¡real shted that Probate Corle .se ciion

259 does nol necessarily disinherit a¡r abuser enlirely but radrer reslricls üre al¡uscr's rig'lrt ro

benefiL liorn his or her abusive conducl . . . . Tlrus, a person l'ound liable under subdivision (a) of'

section 2S9 is deetned to have predeceascrl the clccedenl only to dle extent tlre ¡>erson would havc

l¡een el¡titled through a lvill, t-rusl. or laws of intestâcy to receive a distribution of thc cliunirge s and

costs the l)erson is louncl to be liable to pây to ihe es[ate as a result of tlre a.buse. /)r?n spccilìczrily

contrasts lhe limited disinherit¿urce rernecly ¡:ror.ided b,'section 259 with the conr¡rlefc

ilisinlreritance irnposed on sÕtìleone wlro killed üre clecedenl Contr':uy toJr.'s argunrenl, Lhis

courl. cloes not believc this texl is simply clic[unr, but believes ir is bound by the court ol'appeal's

decision.

Þlach counsel ailcges forgery by eitherJr. or dre daughters i¡r iur efl'ort [o ¡)rove cldcr abuse.

Forgery, Penal Code section 470 rct¡uires a fiauclulent intent, ¡atller dun sirn¡rly signing a.nodrcr

pe rsou's sig'nature widrout consenl This cour[ does lrot lìnd drere is suflìciert. evide ncc ol'ar¡

ir-¡teni tc¡ delrat¡d Sr., r,vith the various signings olt dccuments, a necessary lincling to a chzu-ge of

elder abuse. As the court has previously noted, it is difficult. to disccrr Sr.'s intent r¿¡ith thc

rnultitucle ol leg;rl clocumenls presented in tJris case.
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I,OAN FORGN/NNIISS

As opposed to the complexilies of the I{ospital A;¡rendmcnt, rhe cour-t does ¡rot li¡¿ tllaL

Sr. Iackcd capacity, whether cont¡actual or lesta;nentarJ¡, lo make the relatìvely si¡rple decision o[
granting.[r. full ownership of his h<¡¡nc ll], for giving thc lo¿ur. This r¡,as not a conrplex decision. Sr,

had cliscussed tllis long before, inclutling on a video, and alrhougli he cli<ì not sign any docu'renls

Lo foryive the loan at tlnt tinre, there is no evidence of an1, coercion or decepiion, or ultclue

trenefit. 'l"he circulnstances had changed fi-onl earlier discussions about the loan. A puc¡t
f'r:rgil'ing ¿ì sotì or daughler's loan, while lay dying in a hos¡>ital, is ¿ natrual and untlersta¡cl:rblc acl"

lersus demancling th¿rt. a child continue to mahe loan ¡>aymenß. (In view of the lull originnl

p:fagra¡lh in the -fen[ative Statement of f)ecision, dre court cl<¡cs not unrlcr-stancl Lhe

objection/question asking if dle court is orrly relying on "palenhl im¡rulsc", unlcss sil'casnì was the

inl"ent.) 'l-he court did not observe ml' the coercive, high pressure, Lactics or incomect or

nrisleacling statentenfs regar ding the I'orgivcncss ol t-he loan. The ¡r lvas no e videuce ol'dilïe re nt

¡rlans regar<Iing f'oryiveness of the lo¿rn as with tlre multi¡rle clmfts ol'trust docunrents. -l'hc 
¡rbserrce

of Sr. signing a docutnent to lbrgive thc loa¡r is insullicienl to negäte lüs cx¡:ressi<n ol'his inlcnt.

'l-he courL does nol bclieve Sr. intended to givc tJris house to his daughters or any otìrcr r-ela[ives,

insread ofJr.

As for the question/objection regarrling tùe cflèctiveness of'tlre concurrenl granl ol t-he

M¿urlrattan condc¡ to Margaret, the corut does not rccall drat this issuc is before the court.

TINCLEAN HANDS

'lhc court does nc¡t believe the rioctrine ol'unclean hands applies to dris cirse,

notwithstanding ils earlier inquiry. It has noi becn used in probatc dis¡:utcs involving capacily, aurd

tl¡crc is insuflìcienl evidcnce th¿úJr. was hamrecl by the conduct ¿rl issuc.

COI\¡CT,USION

A potentizrl saüc of RÐI, antl dlc :r¡:¡rr-rintrrrell ol'a trust.ec ad litcnr, will be a.ddresscd ill a

sepärate stat.e.¡nent of decision. For üre reãsons sel f'orth ill tl:is decision, the 2014 "hospihl

;urren<lrnenr" is inv¿rlid.
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ltAiì nD i j p( )N'l'H t, F( )RE(;otN(;,'t'H ti. col rlTt' Rt lllìs AS FOI l,( )ws:

l. 'l'lrtr s{:ur<l¿rrrl ol'ca¡racitl'lìlr tllc arucntlc.rl tr¡"lst cxccrrtcrl bi'.farncs Cottcr, Sr. onJunc lÍ),

20 1.1. is gr:r'cnrc{l bv Calil'olni¿r Prcbatc Cbclc, Ijcction 6100.5.

2. .f:rrrrcs Cottcr Sr. l¿rckctl c;qlacii"y to cxrx:t.r(c lltc "Flos¡lit¿rl Anrcn<h¡rcul" <>n.func lf], 20lrl,.

3. .l¿unc:s Ct:ttcr Sr. u'¿rs sul¡icct t<> unduc inllucncc onJunc 19, 2014 whcu sigling thc

"Fkrs¡lit:tl l\nrclul rncnt,"

'tr.'l-hc 201,1. "I-I<>s¡rital Amcntlnrcnt" isinv¿¡lirl.

.5. .f:uncs (ìrttcr Sr. hatl ca¡r:rcity tt¡ uuclcrstiutrl tl¡c $1.5 ruillion kran lì>rgircncss lirr.|iu¡cs

Cottcr.|r. ¡xrrst¡rutl. tt¡ C.rliÍìtrnia Prr¡batrr Cotlc, Scctir¡r16100.5 and r.ras not sultjcct tr¡ r¡nrluc

inlìucucc in vi<¡latio¡r ol-Calili¡r-ni¿r Wcllarc ¿urd hstitutions Coclc, Scc{iou l5ô10.70 , ¿rs tlüs

tlocunrcnl q¡:rs cot¡sisLcnt rvi{l¡ his intcrrtions;rnd dicl not constitr¡tc ¿ur uu<luc llcnclit.

6. No ¡rar(y lras con¡l:ri(tcd cl<lcr al¡usc.

7. No ¡rarty sllall bc avr,¿u'tlctl ¡runitivc cliunirgcs tx'rkrul¡lc rlarnagcs.

¡1. Ncithc¡'.lar¡rcs Cof {cr.}r., l'ìllcn Cottcr, or Mar¡¡:rct Cottcr arc dccnrcrl {o l¡avc

¡rt'crlcccascrl.fanrcs (loL{cr Sr. ¡rursuant to Proba(c Corlc sctli<xl 2.59.

t I. li;rch partl' sh¿ill bcar thci¡' orvn cos[s.

12. Couttscl firr i\'Iargu'ct antl lìllcn Clottcr slnll prc¡:an: a,jud¡¡nc:rt ¿r¡rcl t>r'rlcr cornistcnt f itll
this statcrrrcni t>f 

' 
tlccisi<¡¡r.

I-l'IS S() ORDtiRlìD.
çLIFFORÞ L. KLËi¡I

ndcrr - -ILlSlt*- -
Clillì¡xl L. Klci¡r
.fr:rþc of'thc Los Angclcs Su¡rcrior LÌrurt
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES
Probate Division

Stanley Mosk Dept. - 9
8P159755
ln re: COTTEFI, JAMES J. LtVtNG TRUST DTD g/112000

Honorable Clitford Klein, Judge

$haron McKinney, Judicial Assistant
Terrilynn Edwards, Court Services
Assístant

December 12,2O17
8:30 AM

Elsa Lara (#3226), Court Reporter
Luis A Flores, Deputy Sheriff

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS: Court Order Hearing re Notice of Entry of Staternent of Decision

The following parties are prese,nt for the aforementioned proceeding:

No appearances.

Out of the presence of the court reporter, the Court makes the following findings and orders:

The parties are hereby notified that the Court has issued its Statement of Decision on Phase 1 of the trial on
December 8,2017 - A copy of the Statement of Decision is sent to the parties as indicated below rhis date by the
Clerk.

Counsel are ordered to pick up Phase 1 trial exhibits by Decemb er 28, ZO17 ,

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OT MAILING/
NOTICE OFENTRY OF ORDER

I, SHERRI R. CARTER, Executive Officer/Clerk of the above-entitled coufi, do hereby certify that I am nor a
party to the cause herein, and that on this date I served the Notice of Entry of the above minute order of December
72,2t77 upon each party or counsel named below by placing the document for collection and mailing so as to
cause it to be deposited in the United States Mail at the courfhouse in Los Angeles, California, one copy of the
original filed/entered herein in a separate sealed envelope to each address as shown below with the postage
thereon fully prepaid, in accordance with standard court practices.

Dated: D¿cember 12- 2017 By: /s/ Sharon McKinnev
Sharon McKimrey, Deputy Clerk

Minute Order Page 1 of2
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SUPERIOR COUHT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNry OF LOS ANGELES
Probate Division

Stanley Mosk Dept. - 9
8p159755
ln re: COTTER, JAMES J. L¡VlNc TRUST DTD S1112000

Adam Streisand
Nicholas Van Brunt
Valerie E. Alter
SHEPPARD MULLIN RICI{TER & HAMPTON, LLC
i.901Avenue of the Stars, Suite 1600
Los Angeles, CA 9AM7

Margaret G. Lodise
SACKS GI."{ZIER FRANKLIN & LODISE, LLP
350 South Grand Averue, Suite 3500
Los Angeles, CA 9OO7l-3475

Harry P. Susman, Esq.
SUSMAN GODFREY LLP
L000 l¡uisiana, Suire 5L00
Houston, TX77A22

December 12,2O17
8:30 AM

Minute Order Page 2 of 2
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

1           EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

2                CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

3

4 JAMES J. COTTER, JR., derivatively

on behalf of Reading International,

5 Inc.,

    Plaintiff,

6

             vs.                   Case No.

7

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER,     A-15-719860-B

8 GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS

McEACHERN, TIMOTHY STOREY,

9 WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY CODDING,

MICHAEL WROTNIAK, and DOES 1

10 through 100, inclusive,

    Defendants.

11

and

12

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.,

13 a Nevada corporation,

    Nominal Defendant.

14 ____________________________________________________

15        (CAPTION CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE.)

16     VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF JAMES COTTER, JR.

17               Los Angeles, California

18                Monday, May 16, 2016

19                      Volume I

20

21

22 Reported by:

23 JANICE SCHUTZMAN, CSR No. 9509

24 Job No. 2312188

25 Pages 1 - 297
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

1          MR. KRUM:  Objection --

2 BY MR. TAYBACK:

3     Q.   -- as illustrative of a lack of process?

4          MR. KRUM:  Sorry.

5          Objection, calls for a legal conclusion,      11:12:05

6 document speaks for itself.

7          THE WITNESS:  It's more illustrative of the

8 lack of process.

9 BY MR. TAYBACK:

10     Q.   Of these various griev- -- perceived          11:12:15

11 grievances, the lack of process and your termination

12 as CEO, do you believe the company has suffered any

13 monetary damages, that is, the shareholders, have

14 they suffered any monetary damages?

15          MR. KRUM:  Objection, foundation, may call    11:12:42

16 for a legal conclusion.

17          THE WITNESS:  I do.

18 BY MR. TAYBACK:

19     Q.   How?

20     A.   Well, number one, shortly after my            11:12:51

21 termination, the stock price had dropped fairly

22 significantly.  That's one reflection of the damages

23 that were suffered by the company.

24          I don't know, the damages in terms of the

25 costs that have been incurred by the company in        11:13:30
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

1 defending the action could be one reflection of the

2 level of damages.

3          And the -- just in terms of monetary

4 damages?

5     Q.   Yes, monetary damages.                        11:13:46

6          MR. KRUM:  Same objections.

7          THE WITNESS:  I mean, again, and this is --

8 yeah, I mean, that's the extent of my answer.

9 BY MR. TAYBACK:

10     Q.   The stock price drop that you referenced,     11:14:01

11 how long after your termination did you -- do you

12 understand that the price of Reading shares dropped?

13 Is it the day you were terminated?

14     A.   I --

15     Q.   A week?                                       11:14:16

16     A.   Mr. Tayback, I can't recall without looking

17 at a graph of the stock price.  It's my

18 recollection, sitting here today.

19     Q.   And do you remember thinking that at the

20 time?                                                  11:14:26

21     A.   I don't know if I remember thinking that at

22 the time, no.

23     Q.   And how long would you say that the company

24 stock price was -- fell because of your termination?

25          Withdraw that question.                       11:14:39
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

1          Is it -- you're saying that the stock price

2 dropped because you were terminated?

3     A.   I don't know why the stock price dropped.

4 I mean, it did drop, I believe, after -- shortly

5 after my termination.                                  11:14:50

6     Q.   But you have no opinion about what the

7 cause was of that?

8     A.   No.

9     Q.   No, you have no opinion; correct?

10     A.   Correct.                                      11:15:01

11     Q.   And do you have a view as to how long --

12 well, withdraw that.

13          The price didn't stay depressed.  It

14 continued to fluctuate over time, correct, between

15 then and now?                                          11:15:13

16          MR. KRUM:  Objection, vague.

17          THE WITNESS:  Without looking at the stock

18 price, I cannot say.

19 BY MR. TAYBACK:

20     Q.   Other than the stock price and the cost       11:15:27

21 incurred to the company to defend -- when you say

22 defend the action, you mean the derivative suit?  Is

23 that what you're referring to?

24     A.   Yes.

25     Q.   Other than the stock price drop that you      11:15:41
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

1          MR. KRUM:  Same objections.

2          THE WITNESS:  Again, technically, he may be

3 independent.  Yes.  I mean --

4 BY MR. TAYBACK:

5     Q.   Yes, he's independent, in your view?          11:28:22

6     A.   I mean, I'm -- again, Mr. Tayback, I'm not

7 a lawyer.  I -- so I don't --

8     Q.   I'm not asking the legal definition.  I'm

9 asking your view.  You've stated that some people in

10 your view aren't independent, and so now I'm asking    11:28:33

11 about these other people.

12          Mr. Gould, in your view, is he independent?

13     A.   Technically, I believe he's independent.

14     Q.   Technically.

15          Are you giving me a legal definition there,   11:28:47

16 or are you telling me --

17     A.   I don't --

18     Q.   -- what you think?

19          You don't know.

20          So with respect to -- I mean, all the other   11:28:54

21 people we've asked about, Ms. Codding, Mr. Wrotniak,

22 you said, I'm not giving you the legal definition,

23 I'm telling you what I think.

24     A.   Right.

25     Q.   Because you expressed a concern that there    11:29:03
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

1 aren't enough independent directors on the board and

2 on this executive committee, and I'm trying to find

3 out if you have a view as to whether Mr. Gould is

4 independent or not.

5          And you think, in your view, he's             11:29:13

6 independent?

7     A.   For a period of time, Bill was independent

8 but has -- yes, I mean, he is independent.

9     Q.   Okay.  And why do you think he's

10 independent?                                           11:29:23

11          Does he have no connection to your family?

12     A.   At least he doesn't have a relationship

13 going back with me and my two sisters that would be

14 of such that would question his independence.

15     Q.   How long have you known Mr. Gould?            11:29:44

16     A.   Maybe since -- at least since 2002.

17     Q.   Was he a friend of your father's?

18     A.   He was.

19     Q.   A close friend?

20     A.   I don't know.  I mean, he was a business      11:30:03

21 associate with my dad's.  I wouldn't describe him as

22 a close friend.

23     Q.   So he did business with your father?

24     A.   He's -- I think he's been on the board for

25 a number years, going back to perhaps 1985.            11:30:16
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

1 He would often go out to dinner with the two of them

2 and his family.

3          I really didn't have that level.  So I

4 would describe my two sisters' relationship with Ed

5 Kane and his family to be different than the one       11:33:59

6 that I had.

7 BY MR. TAYBACK:

8     Q.   And do you feel that was your choice or his

9 choice to not have that kind of relationship with

10 Mr. Kane?                                              11:34:08

11     A.   I mean, I don't know what he was thinking.

12 I just didn't have it with him.  I mean, I --

13     Q.   Were there occasions where you asked him to

14 go to dinner more and he --

15     A.   No.

16     Q.   -- wouldn't?

17     A.   No, no, no.  No.  I would never -- outside

18 of Reading, my interaction with Ed Kane and his

19 family was limited, or certainly much more limited

20 than Ellen and Margaret's.                             11:34:37

21     Q.   Mr. McEachern, is he independent, in your

22 view?

23     A.   Yes.  I mean, he's -- I mean, again, he's

24 independent.  He's got no relationship with Ellen

25 and Margaret or, you know, no business relationship    11:34:58
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

1 with Ellen and Margaret.  So --

2     Q.   No business relationship -- Mr. Kane has no

3 business relationship with Ellen and Margaret also;

4 correct?

5     A.   That's correct.                               11:35:20

6     Q.   So in your view, Mr. McEachern is

7 independent and has always been independent?

8          MR. KRUM:  Asked and answered.

9          THE WITNESS:  Yeah, the testimony speaks

10 for itself.                                            11:35:30

11 BY MR. TAYBACK:

12     Q.   So the answer's yes?

13          MR. KRUM:  Well, asked and answered.  He

14 said what he said.

15 BY MR. TAYBACK:

16     Q.   Well, was your answer --

17          MR. KRUM:  But it was yes with an

18 explanation.

19          Do you want him to withdraw the

20 explanation?                                           11:35:41

21          MR. TAYBACK:  No.  I was going to say, he's

22 independent and he's always been independent.

23 BY MR. TAYBACK:

24     Q.   I think you can answer it yes -- or not.

25 But I think the answer's yes, and I want to make       11:35:48
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JAMES COTTER, JR. 05/16/2016

1 sure I understand the answer.

2          MR. KRUM:  All right.  Same objections.

3          You can answer.

4          THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Yes.

5 BY MR. TAYBACK:                                        11:35:54

6     Q.   Guy Adams, is he independent?

7          MR. KRUM:  Same -- may call for a legal

8 conclusion.

9 BY MR. TAYBACK:

10     Q.   In your view?                                 11:36:03

11     A.   No.

12     Q.   Okay.  Why not?

13     A.   A significant portion of his income derives

14 from entities that are controlled by my two sisters,

15 a significant portion.  And I don't see how            11:36:28

16 Mr. Adams can make decisions that, in one way or the

17 other, impact Ellen and Margaret and do so in an

18 independent way.

19          He is fully involved with a number of

20 entities that my two sisters now purportedly           11:36:48

21 control, and his livelihood really depends on them.

22     Q.   Would he be independent if you controlled

23 those entities?

24          MR. KRUM:  Objection, calls for a legal

25 conclusion, incomplete hypothetical.                   11:37:11
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·1· · · · · · · · · · ·DISTRICT COURT

·2· · · · · · · · · CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

·3

·4· JAMES J. COTTER, JR.,· · )
· · individually and· · · · ·)
·5· derivatively on behalf of)
· · Reading International,· ·)
·6· Inc.,· · · · · · · · · · )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·) Case No.· A-15-719860-B
·7· · · · · Plaintiff,· · · ·)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·) Coordinated with:
·8· · ·vs.· · · · · · · · · ·)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·) Case No. P-14-082942-E
·9· MARGARET COTTER, et al., )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)
10· · · · · Defendants.· · · )
· · and· · · · · · · · · · · )
11· _________________________)
· · READING INTERNATIONAL,· ·)
12· INC., a Nevada· · · · · ·)
· · corporation,· · · · · · ·)
13· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)
· · · · · · Nominal Defendant)
14· _________________________)

15

16· · · ·VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF DOUGLAS McEACHERN

17· · · · · · · · ·TAKEN ON MAY 6, 2016

18

19

20

21

22

23

24· ·REPORTED BY:

25· ·PATRICIA L. HUBBARD, CSR #3400
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Page 78
·1· ·technique or something in between?

·2· · · · ·A.· ·I'm trying to think of how I do --

·3· ·sometimes I try to do the normal typing.· That's --

·4· ·that may be about 50 percent of the time.· And then

·5· ·the other 50 I have to go and find out where the

·6· ·letters are or the numbers.

·7· · · · ·Q.· ·Well, as I said, I'm old enough to ask

·8· ·that question.

·9· · · · · · · Did you ever communicate to Jim Cotter,

10· ·Jr., that you were assessing whether he should

11· ·remain C.E.O. of RDI?

12· · · · · · · MR. SEARCY:· Objection.· Vague, vague as

13· ·to time.

14· · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Sometime in May Jim

15· ·Cotter, Jr., and I had a discussion about replacing

16· ·him as C.E.O.· And I remember the discussion, I

17· ·think it was in his office, and he told me that I

18· ·could not fire him as C.E.O.· And he told me that if

19· ·I were to vote to fire him, he would sue me and ruin

20· ·me financially, to which my response was "Jim, we

21· ·have D and O insurance."

22· · · · · · · His response was "I don't think it

23· ·covers this."

24· · · · · · · "Well, Jim, we have an indemnification

25· ·from the company."

RDI-A10640
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Page 79
·1· · · · · · · "It's not any good.· I'm going after

·2· ·everybody."

·3· · · · · · · And that -- because of that discussion,

·4· ·we did talk about it and I remember it.· I can't

·5· ·tell you when it happened.

·6· ·BY MR. KRUM:

·7· · · · ·Q.· ·Was it after the first supposed RDI

·8· ·board of directors meeting at which the subject of

·9· ·his termination was raised?

10· · · · · · · MR. SWANIS:· Objection.· Form.

11· · · · · · · MR. SEARCY:· Join.

12· · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· I'm sorry.· What?

13· · · · · · · MR. SEARCY:· He objected to form.

14· · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· Oh.· I do not know if it

15· ·was before or after.

16· ·BY MR. KRUM:

17· · · · ·Q.· ·So you believe that you may have spoken

18· ·to Jim Cotter, Jr., and indicated to him that you

19· ·were prepared to vote to terminate him prior to the

20· ·subject being raised at an RDI board of directors

21· ·meeting?

22· · · · · · · MR. SWANIS:· Objection.· Form.

23· · · · · · · MR. SEARCY:· Join.· Object that it's

24· ·vague.

25· · · · · · · THE WITNESS:· I don't know that I had

RDI-A10641
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MJUD 
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. (NV Bar # 1625) 
KARA B. HENDRICKS, ESQ. \(NV Bar # 7743) 
TAMI D. COWDEN, Esq. (NV Bar # 8994) 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP     
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Telephone: (702) 792-3773 
Facsimile:  (702) 792-9002 
Email:  ferrariom@gtlaw.com 
             hendricksk@gtlaw.com 
  cowdent@gtlaw.com 
Counsel for Reading International, Inc. 
   
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., individually and 
derivatively on behalf of Reading 
International, Inc., 
 
                           Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
MARGARET COTTER, et al, 
 
                            Defendants.                            
 

 Case No. A-15-719860-B 
Dept. No. XI 
 

READING INTERNATIONAL, 
INC.’S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT 

IN ITS FAVOR  
 

Date:                                      
Time:                                    

 

    

 Nominal Defendant Reading International, Inc. (“RDI”), a Nevada corporation, by and 

through its undersigned counsel of record, hereby moves this Court to enter judgment in its 

favor, or in the alternative, to amend the judgment entered on August 16, 2018 to include 

judgment in Reading’s favor. This motion is based upon the files and records in this matter, the  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Case Number: A-15-719860-B

Electronically Filed
9/12/2018 3:37 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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attached memorandum of authorities, and any argument allowed at the time of hearing.   

DATED this 12th day of September 2018. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
 
/s/ Tami D. Cowden     
Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. (NBN 1625) 
Kara B. Hendricks, Esq. (NBN 7743) 
Tami D. Cowden, Esq. (NBN 8994) 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
 
Counsel for Reading International, Inc. 

NOTICE OF HEARING 

TO: ALL INTERESTED PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD: 

 YOU, AND EACH OF YOU, WILL PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will 

bring the foregoing Reading International, Inc.’s Motion for Judgment in its Favor on for 

hearing before Department 11 of the above-entitled Court on the _____ day of ______________, 

2018, at the hour of _____ ___ a.m.   

DATED this 12th day of September 2018. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
 
/s/ Tami D. Cowden     
Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. (NBN 1625) 
Kara B. Hendricks, Esq. (NBN 7743) 
Tami D. Cowden, Esq. (NBN 8994) 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
 
Counsel for Reading International, Inc. 

 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES  

 Reading, named as a nominal defendant in this action, has not yet received judgment in 

its favor.  However, all bases upon which relief might have been granted against Reading have 

been resolved against Plaintiff.  There is no sound basis for denying judgment in Reading’s 

October 22 
9:00 
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favor.  Accordingly, this Court should grant the Motion for Judgment, and issue judgment in 

favor of Reading. In the alternative, this Court should add the following  
 
As the resolution of the claims remaining against the Individual Defendants establishes 
that Plaintiff is not entitled to the relief requested against Reading,  
judgment in favor of Reading is granted. 

 
to the Judgment noticed on August 16, 2018.  

 
STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS 

Plaintiffs Second Amended Complaint, named Reading as a Nominal Defendant. The 

First, Second and Third Causes of Action were directed against “all Defendants.”  SAC, pp. 

47:26; 49:9; 50:27.  Plaintiff did not exclude Reading from inclusion in those claims. 

Additionally, Plaintiff sought relief that would have infringed upon Reading’s rights, including 

its right to have its board of directors determine its officers and to determine the qualifications to 

sit on that board.  SAC, 53:12-54:23.  Reading filed responsive pleadings to Plaintiff’s various 

complaints.  Reading’s Answer to the Second Amended Complaint requested that judgment be 

entered in favor of RDI and that RDI be its costs and attorneys’ fees.  See Reading’s Answer to 

Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint, filed December 20, 2016, 27:8-11.   

While Plaintiff has at times contended that Reading was not a true party to this matter, 

Plaintiff has nonetheless continually treated Reading as a Party, including by directing four sets 

of written discovery requests to Reading, and requiring Reading to produce a PMK to testify for 

a deposition.   

 On December 28, 2017, this Court granted summary judgment in favor of Individual 

Defendants Judy Codding, William Gould, Edward Kane, Douglas McEachern, and Michael 

Wrotniak.  Reading joined in the Motions for summary judgment that was granted in December, 

but was not included in the resulting written judgment. On June 16, 2018, this Court orally 

granted summary judgment in favor of the remaining individual Defendants, Ellen Cotter, 

Margaret Cotter, and Guy Adams.  Because of that ruling, this Court determined that Reading’s 

Motion to Dismiss was moot, thereby recognizing that resolution of the claims against the 

Individual Defendants also resolved claims against Reading.  The Court executed a written ruling 

RDI-A10644
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on August 8, 2018, which ruling was noticed on August 16, 2018 (“Judgment”).  The Judgment 

did not include judgment in favor of Reading.  

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

Reading is entitled to entry of judgment in its favor.  The December 28, 2017 and August 

16, 2018 Judgments do not constitute a final judgment in this matter, as neither results in the 

formal resolution of all the “rights and liabilities” of Reading.  NRCP 54(b). Without such a 

formal resolution of the claims against Reading, this matter cannot be finally concluded.  

A. Reading is Entitled to Judgment as a Matter of Law.  

The relief Plaintiff requested against Reading would have required orders directing 

Reading to take certain actions, including accepting reinstatement of Plaintiff to an executive 

position, termination of Reading’s chosen CEO and President; adherence to specific 

requirements for appointment to its Board of Directors; refraining from using committees as 

permitted in the Company’s bylaws, and more. See SAC, Prayer for relief, 3(a)-(e).  Such 

incursions into Reading’s affairs required it to defend against Plaintiff’s claims.  See Blish V. 

Thompson Auto. Arms Corp, 30 Del. Ch. 538, 542 (Del. 1948) (“A corporation may defend a 

stockholder's derivative action . . . if corporate interests are threatened by the suit. . . .”); 

National Bankers v. Adler, 324 S.W.2d 35, 37 (Tex. Civ. App. 1959) (“If the derivative action 

threatens rather than advances the corporate interests, the corporation may actually defend the 

action. ”); Swenson v. Thibaut, 39 N.C. App. 77, 100 (N.C. Ct. App. 1978) (noting that 

corporation may be required to defend against claims that seek to enjoin corporation action or 

interfere with internal corporate governance).  Accordingly, Reading properly took an active role 

in the matter, and was thus, as a practical matter, more than a “mere” nominal defendant.   

The relief sought that would have directly impacted Reading’s rights was premised upon 

the allegations of misconduct by the Individual Defendants.  Because all claims relating to such 

conduct have been resolved, there is no remaining basis by which Plaintiff may obtain his 

requested relief as against Reading.  Accordingly, Reading is entitled to judgment as a matter of 

law.    
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B. In the Alternative, this Court Should Amend the Judgment Noticed on August 
16, 2018 Pursuant to NRCP 60(a).   

This Court may amend a judgment where there is a clerical mistake arising from 

“oversight or omission,” as well where a judgment is the result of mistake and inadvertence. 

NRCP 60(a) and 60(b)(1).  Since there is no basis for continuing the litigation against Reading, 

the omission of Reading from the Judgment noticed on August 16, 2018 was not the result of a 

judicial determination, but instead, merely a mistake in writing. See Channel 13 of Las Vegas v. 

Ettlinger, 94 Nev. 578, 580 (Nev. 1978) (“[A] clerical error is a mistake in writing or copying. 

As more specifically applied to judgments and decrees a clerical error is a mistake or omission 

by a clerk, counsel, or judge, or printer which is not the result of the exercise of a judicial 

function. In other words, a clerical error is one which cannot reasonably be attributed to the 

exercise of judicial consideration or discretion”).  Accordingly, this Court may amend that 

Judgment to include judgment in favor of Reading.   

CONCLUSION 

 As set forth above, Reading is entitled to entry of judgment in its favor, either in a 

separate order, or, pursuant to NRCP 60(a) or 60(b)(1), through an amendment of the Judgment 

noticed on August 16, 2018.  

DATED this 12th day of September 2018. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
 
/s/ Tami D. Cowden     
Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. (NBN 1625) 
Kara B. Hendricks, Esq. (NBN 7743) 
Tami D. Cowden, Esq. (NBN 8994) 
10845 Griffith Peak Drive, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
 
Counsel for Reading International, Inc. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify that on this day, I 

caused a true and correct copy of the Reading’s International, Inc.’s Motion for Judgment in 

its Favor to be filed and served via the Court’s Odyssey E-Filing system.  The date and time of 

the electronic proof of service is in place of the date and place of deposit in the mail. 

 DATED this 12th day of September 2018. 
 
 
      /s/ Andrea Lee Rosehill  

AN EMPLOYEE OF GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP  
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COHENJOHNSONPARKEREDWARDS 
H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 00265
sjohnson@cohenjohnson.com
375 East Warm Springs Road, Suite 104
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Telephone: (702) 823-3500
Facsimile: (702) 823-3400

QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & SULLIVAN, LLP 
CHRISTOPHER TAYBACK, ESQ. 
California Bar No. 145532, pro hac vice  
christayback@quinnemanuel.com 
MARSHALL M. SEARCY, ESQ. 
California Bar No. 169269, pro hac vice  
marshallsearcy@quinnemanuel.com 
865 South Figueroa Street, 10th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90017 
Telephone: (213) 443-3000 

Attorneys for Defendants Margaret Cotter,  
Ellen Cotter, Douglas McEachern, Guy Adams,  
Edward Kane, Judy Codding, and Michael Wrotniak 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

JAMES J. COTTER, JR. individually and 
derivatively on behalf of Reading 
International, Inc., 

Plaintiffs, 
v. 

MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN COTTER, 
GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS 
McEACHERN, WILLIAM GOULD, JUDY 
CODDING, MICHAEL WROTNIAK, and 
DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

READING INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Nevada 
corporation, 

Nominal Defendant. 

Case No.: A-15-719860-B
Dept. No.: XI

Case No.: P-14-082942-E
Dept. No.: XI

Related and Coordinated Cases 

BUSINESS COURT 

DEFENDANTS MARGARET COTTER, 
ELLEN COTTER, GUY ADAMS, 
EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS 
MCEACHERN, JUDY CODDING AND 
MICHAEL WROTNIAK’S JOINDER TO 
READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.’S 
MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES  

Case Number: A-15-719860-B

Electronically Filed
9/17/2018 9:50 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Dismissed Defendants Margaret Cotter, Ellen Cotter, Douglas McEachern, Guy Adams, 

Edward Kane, Judy Codding, and Michael Wrotniak, by and through their counsel, hereby submit 

this Joinder to Defendant Reading International, Inc.’s Motion for Attorneys’ Fees filed on 

September 7, 2018. 

Dated: September 17, 2018 

COHEN|JOHNSON|PARKER|EDWARDS 

By: /s/ H. Stan Johnson 
H. STAN JOHNSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 00265
sjohnson@cohenjohnson.com
375 East Warm Springs Road, Suite 104
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Telephone: (702) 823-3500
Facsimile:  (702) 823-3400

QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & 
SULLIVAN, LLP 
CHRISTOPHER TAYBACK, ESQ. 
California Bar No. 145532, pro hac vice 
christayback@quinnemanuel.com 
MARSHALL M. SEARCY, ESQ. 
California Bar No. 169269, pro hac vice 
marshallsearcy@quinnemanuel.com 
865 South Figueroa Street, 10th Floor 
Los Angeles, CA 90017 
Telephone: (213) 443-3000 

Attorneys for Defendants Margaret Cotter, Ellen 
Cotter, Douglas McEachern, Guy Adams, Edward 
Kane, Judy Codding, and Michael Wrotniak 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I hereby certify that on this day, 

I caused a true and correct copy of DEFENDANTS MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN 

COTTER, GUY ADAMS, EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS MCEACHERN, JUDY 

CODDING AND MICHAEL WROTNIAK’S JOINDER TO READING 

INTERNATIONAL, INC.’S MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES to be served via the 

Court’s Wiznet E-Filing system on all registered and active parties.   

Dated: September 17, 2018 

  /s/ Sarah Gondek 

An employee of Cohen|Johnson|Parker|Edwards 

RDI-A10647 C



 

 

M
O

R
R

IS
 L

A
W

 G
R

O
U

P
 

41
1 

E.
 B

O
N

N
EV

IL
LE

 A
VE

., S
TE

. 3
60

 ∙ L
AS

 V
EG

AS
, N

EV
AD

A 
89

10
1 

70
2/

47
4-

94
00

 ∙ F
AX

 7
02

/4
74

-9
42

2 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

OPPS 
MORRIS LAW GROUP 
Steve Morris, Bar No. 1543 
Akke Levin, Bar No. 9102 
411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 360 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Telephone:  (702) 474-9400  
Facsimile:  (702) 474-9422 
Email:  sm@morrislawgroup.com 
Email:  al@morrislawgroup.com 
 
Mark G. Krum, Bar No. 10913 
Yurko, Salvesen & Remz, P.C. 
1 Washington Mall, 11th Floor 
Boston, MA  02108 
Telephone:  (617) 723-6900 
Facsimile:  (617) 723-6905 
Email:  mkrum@bizlit.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
James J. Cotter, Jr.   

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

JAMES J. COTTER, JR., 
derivatively on behalf of Reading 
International, Inc., 
  
 Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
MARGARET COTTER, ELLEN 
COTTER, GUY ADAMS, 
EDWARD KANE, DOUGLAS 
McEACHERN, WILLIAM 
GOULD, JUDY CODDING, 
MICHAEL WROTNIAK, 
  
 Defendants. 

And 

READING INTERNATIONAL, 
INC.,  a Nevada corporation, 
 

Nominal Defendant. 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. A-15-719860-B 
Dept. No. XI  
 
Coordinated with: 
 
Case No. P-14-0824-42-E 
Dept. No. XI 
 
Jointly Administered  
 
PLAINTIFF'S OPPOSITION TO 
MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS' FEES
 
Date:  October 22, 2018 
Time:   9:00 am 

Case Number: A-15-719860-B

Electronically Filed
9/27/2018 6:03 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Plaintiff James J. Cotter, Jr. ("Cotter") hereby submits his 

Opposition to RDI's Motion for Attorneys' Fees ("Fee Motion").  This 

Opposition is based on papers and pleadings on file, the exhibits attached 

hereto, the following points and authorities, and any oral argument the 

Court may allow. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The defendants' rambling portrayal of this case in an effort to 

justify their request for $15.9 million in discretionary attorneys' fees is 

largely based on ad hominem attacks on the Plaintiff and his counsel, 

unsupported arguments, subjective opinions, and wishful thinking.  None of 

these "criteria" is a measure under which discretionary fee requests are 

evaluated under NRS 18.010(2)(b).  What counts is the record evidence, 

which RDI by and large ignores in its Fee Motion, and for good reason: the 

evidence does not support RDI's claim that Plaintiff filed or maintained his 

case without reasonable grounds or to simply harass the defendants.  For 

example:     

1. The defendants admitted to key conduct that formed the 

basis of Plaintiff's complaints.   

2. The Court did not find that the Plaintiff had no evidence to 

support or maintain his claims; the Court ruled the Plaintiff had not 

submitted enough evidence to prove the lack of independence of five of the 

directors.   

3. Until the eve of trial, the Court found that Plaintiff had 

raised genuine issues of material fact as to the independence of three of the 

Cotter defendants.   

4. RDI consistently lost every motion to dismiss based on 

demand futility it filed in this case.   
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5. The Court sanctioned the defendants—not Plaintiff— for 

dilatory discovery conduct when they withheld relevant ratification 

documents.   

Even assuming the defendants had met their burden under NRS 

18.010(2)(b)—as shown below, they clearly did not—the Court should use its 

discretion to deny this exorbitant fee request outright.  The word "may" in 

NRS 18.010(2)(b) does not mean "shall."  As some courts have held, this verb 

"sometimes means 'won't,' "especially when the amount sought is 

"outrageously excessive. . . .' " Brown v. Stackler, 612 F.2d 1057, 1059 (7th 

Cir. 1980).   For these reasons and those more fully set out below, the Court 

should deny RDI's Fee Motion in its entirety and award them $0.00.   

II. RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Until August 7, 2014, James Cotter Sr. was the CEO and 

Chairman of the board of RDI and controlled 70% of RDI's Class B-voting 

stock.  Compl. ¶ 17.  When Cotter Sr. resigned, the board of directors of RDI 

unanimously appointed Plaintiff James Cotter Jr. CEO of RDI, as per Cotter 

Sr.'s wishes.  Compl. ¶ 7.  Less than a year later, Cotter Jr.'s two and only 

sisters—who represented themselves as majority shareholders of RDI 

following Cotter Sr.'s death—together with three RDI directors voted to 

have Cotter Jr. removed as CEO.  Id. ¶ 6.  Once Plaintiff was terminated, his 

sister Ellen Cotter was appointed interim CEO, and ultimately—following 

an aborted CEO search—CEO.  See Defendants' Answer, ¶ 14.  Plaintiff's 

other sister, Margaret Cotter, was granted her wish to become RDI's 

Executive Vice President of Real Estate Management and Development-

NYC.  Id. ¶ 15.   

On June 12, 2015, Plaintiff filed a derivative complaint against 

the seven individual board members, naming RDI as a nominal defendant.  

See Compl., on file.  Although Plaintiff did not make claims against RDI and 
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in fact sought damages and injunctive relief on behalf of RDI, Compl. ¶¶ 

133-134, RDI employed Greenberg Traurig to represent it in this lawsuit.  

See Ferrario Decl., Ex. A to Fee Motion, ¶ 6.  All individual defendants 

engaged Los Angeles-based law firms to represent them: The Cotter sisters, 

Ed Kane, Guy Adams, and Douglas McEachern (hereafter, the "Cotter 

defendants") hired Quinn Emanuel; defendants William Gould and Timothy 

Storey hired Bird, Marella.  See Exs. B, D to Fee Motion. 

At no time did RDI's board of directors form a special litigation 

committee to assess the lawsuit.  Fee Motion at 5:7-10.  Although RDI 

contends Plaintiff's concerns "could have been addressed" by ratification, id., 

it was not until the eve of trial that a special independent committee was 

created, met, and proposed to ratify the challenged board's decisions on 

December 29, 2017.  Instead, the defendants and RDI embarked on an 

aggressive litigation path to defend against Plaintiff's claims.  In just seven 

months—before even a single deposition was taken—nominal defendant 

RDI had already incurred more than $800,000 in legal fees, which pales in 

comparison to the $2 million in legal fees Quinn Emanuel had billed by the 

end of January 2016.  Fee Motion, Ex. A ¶ 6; Ex. C at 5 ¶ 20.         

A. Defendants' unsuccessful motions to defeat Plaintiff's lawsuit. 

On August 10, 2015, the Cotter defendants filed a motion to 

dismiss, arguing, in relevant part, that Plaintiff: (1) failed to adequately 

plead demand futility; and (2) could not adequately represent the interests 

of RDI's shareholders. See Motion to Dismiss, on file, at 4.  RDI joined in the 

motion.  Before the hearing on this motion, the Cotter defendants filed a 

second motion to dismiss arguing that Plaintiff failed to adequately plead 

demand futility.  See Sept. 3, 2015 Motion to Dismiss, on file.  The Court 

denied the motion(s), finding that the "plaintiff had adequately alleged 
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demand futility and interestedness."  Sept. 10, 2015 Hearing Tr. at 16:2-3; see 

also Oct. 19, 2015 Order.  

On August 31, 2015, RDI filed a motion to compel arbitration, 

arguing that Plaintiff's lawsuit was "about nothing more than the 

termination of Mr. Cotter's employment" and therefore subject to arbitration 

under the parties' employment agreement.  Motion to Compel Arbitration at 

3, on file.  The Court disagreed and denied RDI's Motion.  See Oct. 12, 2015 

Order.  

During the August 9, 2016 hearing, RDI's counsel opposed 

Plaintiff's motion to amend his complaint to address events and actions by 

the board that post-dated his initial complaint.  The Court granted Plaintiff's 

motion and, again, found "that demand would be futile on the board under 

the circumstances."  August 9, 2016 Hearing Tr. at 23:1-2.     

On September 23, 2016, the Cotter defendants filed six motions 

for partial summary judgment ("Partial MSJs"), each addressing certain 

issues or board actions alleged in the complaint, such as the directors' 

independence (No. 2), or the decision to appoint Ellen Cotter (No. 5).  RDI 

joined in each one of them.  See RDI's October 3, 2016 Joinders, on file.1  

Gould filed a separate motion for summary judgment.  RDI also joined in 

Gould's MSJ.  See October 3, 2016 Joinder, on file. The Court denied Partial 

MSJ No. 1 regarding Plaintiff's termination, finding there were "genuine 

issues of material fact and issues related to interested directors participating 

in the process."  Oct. 27, 2016 Hearing Tr. at 117:9–12.  The Court granted in 

part and denied in part Partial MSJ No. 4 (Executive Committee), and 

                                           
1 RDI's counsel was allowed to present argument on the Partial MSJ on the 
director independence, over the objections of Plaintiff's counsel that RDI 
was a nominal defendant.  Oct. 27, 2016 Tr. at 70:12-76:18.  RDI's counsel 
also spent considerable time attempting to change the Court's mind on its 
ruling to admit aspects of Judge Steele's expert testimony.  Id. at 130:12-
139:2. 
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denied the remaining four Partial MSJs on Rule 56(f) grounds.  See Dec. 21, 

2016 Order.  The Court had just five minutes left to hear Gould's MSJ, but 

Gould's counsel declined to use them.  See Oct. 27, 2016 Hearing Tr. at 

139:18-140:3; 151:20-152:6.  Gould did not re-notice his MSJ until more than a 

year later.  See Gould's December 1, 2017 Request for Hearing, on file. 

On October 11, 2017, the Cotter defendants filed a Motion for 

Evidentiary Hearing Regarding Plaintiff's Adequacy as a Derivative 

Plaintiff, in which RDI and Gould joined.  The Court found nothing new in 

defendants' argument that Plaintiff was "using this derivative case to pursue 

solely personal remedies." Nov. 20 2017 Hearing Tr. at 6:8-22 ("we've known 

that and I've known that when I did not dismiss the derivative portion of the 

case").  In denying the Motion, the Court pointed out to defense counsel that 

not all aspects to Plaintiff's derivative claim were solely personal to him.  Id. 

at 9:16-19 ("that's not the whole allegations that he's made as part of his 

derivative claim.  You understand that").   

In November, 2017 the Cotter defendants supplemented their 

Partial MSJs.  At the December 11, 2017 hearing, the Court granted Partial 

MSJ Nos. 1 (Termination) and 2 (Independence) as to defendants 

McEachern, Kane, Gould, Codding, and Wrotniak on the grounds that 

Cotter Jr. had failed to raise a disputed issue of material fact regarding their 

disinterestedness.  Dec. 11, 2017 Hearing Tr. at 41:4–20; 45:1-4.  The Court 

granted Partial MSJ No. 3 (the Offer) on separate grounds, but denied Partial 

MSJ Nos. 1, 2, 5, and 6 as to the Cotter sisters and Guy Adams because there 

were genuine issues of material fact related to their disinterestedness and/ 

or independence. Id. at 41:8-12; 44:20–25; 48:17–22; 49:11–52:15; Dec. 28 

Order, on file at 4.   

On the eve of trial, RDI filed a Motion to Dismiss for Failure to 

Show Demand Futility, and the Cotter defendants filed a Motion for 
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Judgment as a Matter of Law (based on the recent ratification vote).  The 

Court denied both motions without prejudice, finding they were untimely 

filed.   Jan. 8, 2018 Hearing Tr. at 10:20-11:4.  Notably, the Court faulted RDI 

for never requesting an evidentiary hearing: 

You never requested it for the [three] years or so we've been in 
litigation. . . You didn't request it after the motion to dismiss was 
denied because it appeared the allegations at that time were well 
founded. You never again requested or renewed that motion 
with a request for an evidentiary hearing. 

Id. at 14:22-15:3. 

Finally, on June 1, 2018, RDI filed a "Motion to Dismiss Pursuant 

to NRCP12(b)(2), or in the Alternative, NRCP 12(b)(5) for Lack of Standing" 

and the remaining three Cotter defendants filed a motion for summary 

judgment based on ratification ("Ratification MSJ").  After an omnibus 

hearing on June 19, 2018, the Court granted summary judgment in favor of 

the three remaining Cotter defendants based on ratification, and denied 

RDI's Motion to Dismiss as moot.  June 19 Hearing Tr. at 49:2-15. 

III. ARGUMENT 

A. Neither Gould, nor RDI is entitled to attorneys' fees under NRS 
18.010(2)(b). 

1. Gould did not file a timely motion for attorneys' fees. 

Rule 54(d)(2)(B) states, in relevant part: 

Unless a statute provides otherwise, the motion [for attorney 
fees] must be filed no later than 20 days after notice of entry of 
judgment is served.... The time for filing the motion may not be 
extended by the court after it has expired.  

NRCP 54(d)(2)(B).  

Post-judgment motions (such as those under Rules 55 and 59) 

toll the 20-day time limit, and allow a prevailing party to file a motion for 

attorneys' fees within 20 days "after the resolution of the last post-judgment 

tolling motion."  Barbara Ann Hollier Trust v. Shack, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 59, 
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356 P.3d 1085, 1091 (2015).  "Once the 20–day period expires, however, the 

extra sentence in Nevada's statute would then prohibit any type of 

extension." Id.; see Nev. R. Civ. P. 54(d)(2)(B)("The time for filing the motion 

[for attorneys' fees] may not be extended by the court after it has expired") 

(emphasis added).    

Here, defendant Gould prevailed on his summary motion on 

December 28, 2017 and all Plaintiff's claims were dismissed against him.  See 

Order, on file.  This portion of the order was certified as final under Nev. R. 

Civ. P. 54(b) by order dated January 4, 2018, in which the Court "direct[ed] 

entry of judgment as to defendants . . . William Gould . . . on all Plaintiff's 

claims against them."  Notice of entry of the order was given that same day.  

See Jan. 4, 2018 Notice of Entry of Order, on file.  Plaintiff's motion for 

reconsideration was denied by order dated January 4, 2018.  Notice of entry 

of that order was given on January 5, 2018.  See January 4 Order Denying 

Plaintiff's Motion to Stay and Motion for Reconsideration; January 5 Notice 

of Entry of Order, on file.  

Thus, Gould had 20 days from January 5, 2018 to file his motion 

for attorneys' fees.  Because the time to do so has already "expired," it no 

longer can "be extended by the court . . . ." Nev. R. Civ. P. 54(d)(2)(B).  

Moreover, Mr. Gould passed away on August 6, 2018.  RDI's Fee Motion—

purportedly filed on behalf of Gould—cannot revive Gould's expired rights.  

The Court should deny all attorneys' fees sought on behalf of former 

defendant Gould. 

2. RDI is not a "prevailing party."  

The term "prevailing party" is a legal "term of art." Buckhannon 

Board & Care Home, Inc. v. West Virginia Dept. of Health and Human 

Resources, 532 U.S. 598, 603 (2001).  A "prevailing party" is a "party who has 

been awarded some relief by a court . . . ." Id. (citing cases).  Although a 
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third-party defendant may be deemed a prevailing party if the third-party 

and the non-prevailing plaintiff are "functionally adverse," Copper Sands 

Homeowners v. Flamingo 94 Ltd., 335 P.3d 203, 206 (Nev.2014), a nominal 

defendant is functionally aligned with the plaintiff: It is the "real party in 

interest" on whose behalf the derivative case was brought.  Ross v. 

Bernhard, 396 U.S. 531, 538-39 (1970).  As one court observed: 

Whatever be the circumstances furnishing license to the 
individual stockholder to bring a class action of this kind, the fact 
remains that when suit is brought and determined on its merits 
the company must be treated in all respects, including liability 
for costs and counsel fees, as any other complainant in the 
ordinary cause. 

Solimine v. Hollander, 129 N.J. Eq. 264 (N.J. 1941). 

Here, RDI is not a "prevailing party" because the Court did not 

award it any relief.  Plaintiff did not bring any claims against RDI and did 

not seek damages or injunctive relief against RDI but on behalf of RDI .  See, 

e.g., June 12, 2015 Compl. ¶¶ 133-134; Oct. 22, 2015 Am. Compl., ¶¶ 192-193 

(" . . . the Company . . . and other RDI shareholders have suffered . . . injury . 

. . .the Company, and other shareholders will suffer irreparable harm. . . .") 

(emphasis added); see also Sept. 2, 2016 Second Am. Compl. at 45 ("RDI 

AND RDI SHAREHOLDERS ARE INJURED"); id. at 53, ¶ 202 ("unless such 

injunctive relief is granted, Plaintiff, the Company and other shareholders 

will suffer irreparable harm"); id. at 54 (Prayer for Relief, ¶ 5) ("For. . . 

damages incurred by RDI. . . .").     

Moreover, RDI lost all its motions based on demand futility filed 

with the Court.  See supra, Section II.A.  RDI could not unilaterally 

transform itself into a "prevailing party" by joining in the individual 

defendants' Partial MSJs and Gould's MSJ, as it did here—especially when 
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Plaintiff made no claims against it.  Thus, there is no legal basis—none—on 

which to award RDI attorneys' fees.2   

B. Legal standard for discretionary attorneys' fees under NRS 
18.010(2)(b). 

Attorneys' fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) are discretionary.  The 

Court "may" award attorneys' fees if the Court finds that Plaintiff's "claim . . . 

was brought or maintained [1] without reasonable ground or [2] to harass 

the prevailing party."  NRS 18.010(2)(b).  While the Court "must liberally 

construe the provisions of this paragraph in favor of awarding attorney’s 

fees in all appropriate situations," there must be "evidence in the record"—

not mere argument—that the claim was brought or maintained without 

reasonable basis or to harass the defendants.  Chowdhry v. NLVH, Inc., 109 

Nev. 478, 486, 851 P.2d 459, 464 (1993).  Without such record evidence, a fee 

award is subject to reversal as an abuse of discretion.  See Pub. Employees' 

Ret. Sys. Of Nev. v. Gitter, 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 18, 393 P.3d 673, 682 (2013) 

(granting writ petition and directing clerk to vacate award for attorneys' fees 

for lack of evidence in the record that defense was frivolous); Las Vegas 

Metro. Police Dep't v. Buono, Case No. 54106, 127 Nev. 1153, 373 P.3d 934 

(2011) (reversing order for sanctions because there "was no evidence that 

LVMPD engaged in any delaying or obstructing tactics"); Rivero v. Rivero, 

125 Nev. 410, 216 P.3d 213, 234 (2009) ("Although a district court has 

discretion to award attorney fees as a sanction, there must be evidence 

supporting the district court's finding that the claim or defense was 

unreasonable or brought to harass").   

                                           
2 To the extent that the argument that follows pertains to RDI or Gould, it is 
made strictly in the alternative, should the Court disagree with Plaintiff's 
arguments under III.A.1 and III.A.2 above.  
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C. RDI did not meet its burden under NRS 18.020(2)(b) to prove 

that any attorneys' fees are warranted.   

While RDI on page 11 of its Fee Motion expressly recognizes that 

"there must be evidence in the record" to support a "conclusion that the 

claims were brought or maintained without reasonable grounds," RDI's Fee 

Motion by and large ignores the record.  For example, RDI's 4-page 

"Summary of Relevant Facts" is replete with gratuitous ad hominem attacks 

and arguments that are unsupported by any citation to the record.  See Fee 

Motion at 5-9 (e.g., alleging Plaintiff used the complaint "to attack" his 

sisters; alleging RDI incurred 28% of its fees due to his "relentless 

discovery"; and dismissing Plaintiff's "purported medical condition").3   

RDI provides no support for its arguments that Plaintiff's claims 

were "unquestionably without merit," "fruitless" and "clearly" lacking 

evidence.  E.g., id. at 10:8-16.  RDI's Motion drones on for pages without 

providing evidence to support its arguments that Plaintiff brought baseless 

claims to harass the defendants.  E.g., id. at 12:14-20; 12:24-13:16; 13:18-15:5; 

15:14-28; 18:15-19:5.4  Without any record evidence to back up RDI's 

hysterical claims, the Court should deny RDI's Fee Motion in its entirety.  It 

                                           
3 These attacks—which permeate the Fee Motion—are so personal and 
display such hostility that they support the merits of Plaintiff's claims, rather 
than show the claims were frivolous. 
4 It is ironic that RDI should argue that Plaintiff "never presented any 
evidence showing that Reading was being looted . . . to satisfy the whims of 
his sisters" or that the directors defendants lacked independence.  Fee 
Motion at 12:24-26.   RDI and its directors spent $15.9 million dollars on 
legal fees—exceeding the D&O policy by more than $5 million, id. at 2—and 
spent $2.9 million in costs, including on decadent items such as limos from 
Los Angeles to Las Vegas for Ellen Cotter, one-way $2,800 airfare tickets for 
Margaret Cotter, and a $1,200 dinner at Nobu for four—all of which 
expenses flagrantly violated RDI's Travel & Expense Policy.  See Travel & 
Expense Policy, Exhibit 1 hereto.  All of Margaret and Ellen Cotter's 
extravagant expenses were approved and signed off by "independent" 
director McEachern.  See Opp'n to Motion to Retax, Exhibit Pages 1713-1946. 
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would be an abuse of discretion to award the defendants fees in the absence 

of evidence to support them.  Gitter, 393 P.3d at 682. 

D. The Court has already found that Plaintiff's claims were not 
brought or maintained without reasonable grounds. 

The mere fact that a claim fails to survive summary judgment is 

not evidence that the claim lacked a reasonable basis.  In Baldonado v. 

Wynn Las Vegas, LLC, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the district 

court's order denying Wynn attorneys' fees—even though Wynn prevailed 

on summary judgment—because of the complexity and unsettled nature of 

the labor laws under which the plaintiffs sued.  124 Nev. 951, 968, 194 P.3d 

96, 106-07 (2008).  In Bower v. Harrah's Laughlin, Inc., the Nevada Supreme 

Court held that the district court abused its discretion in awarding Harrah's 

attorneys' fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) even though: (1) Harrah's prevailed 

on summary judgment based on claim preclusion; and (2) "other factually 

similar cases were decided in favor of Harrah's."  125 Nev. 470, 494, 215 P.3d 

709, 726 (2009), modified on other grounds by Garcia v. Prudential Ins. Co. 

of Am., 293 P.3d 869 (Nev. 2013) ("Bower").  The Nevada Supreme Court 

held that the plaintiffs had reasonable grounds to bring their claims because 

the existence of "other factually similar cases" decided in Harrah's favor" did 

not "necessarily support issue preclusion." Id. at 494, 215 P.3d at 726.  

Moreover, the fact that Judge Denton had denied Harrah's summary 

judgment motion against Bower illustrated that "reasonable minds could 

disagree as to whether issue preclusion barred [plaintiffs]' claims."  Id. 

Here, the record of this case belies RDI's unsupported arguments 

that Plaintiff lacked a reasonable basis to bring or maintain his claims.  

First, the Court did not just deny one motion to dismiss, as in 

Bergmann v. Boyce, 109 Nev. 670, 856 P.2d 560 (1993)—a case on which RDI 

relies—the Court denied at least three motions to dismiss based on demand 
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futility that the Cotter defendants and RDI filed over the course of this case.  

See Oct. 19, 2015 Order; Jan. 8, 2018 Tr. at 14:22-15:3; Aug. 14, 2018 Order.   

Second, the Court twice denied the Cotter defendants' Partial 

MSJ No. 1 on Plaintiff's termination claims that formed the basis of his initial 

complaint.  In October 2016, the Court denied Partial MSJ No. 1 as to all 

defendants on the grounds that there were "genuine issues of material fact 

and issues related to the directors participating in the process."  Oct. 27, 2016 

Hearing Tr. at 117:9-12.  In December 2017, the Court denied Partial MSJ No. 

1 as to the Cotter sisters and Guy Adams, on the grounds that there were 

genuine issues of material fact related to their disinterestedness and 

independence.  See Dec. 28, 2017 Order.  Thus, the Court rejected 

defendants' argument that there was "clearly" no evidence to support or 

maintain Plaintiff's initial complaint.   

Third, the Court consistently denied the Cotter defendants' 

Partial MSJ No. 2 on "Independence" as to the Cotter Sisters and Guy 

Adams.  See Dec. 28, 2017 Order.  The Court also denied Partial MSJ Nos. 1, 

4 (in part), 5, and 6 against them.  Id.  But for the ratification vote, Plaintiff's 

claims against these three defendants would have proceeded to trial.  And 

while the Court ultimately found that Plaintiff failed to raise a genuine issue 

of material fact as to the disinterestedness or independence of the other five 

directors, id., the Court did not find that Plaintiff lacked any evidence to 

bring or maintain his claims against them.  Just in their answer alone, these 

defendants admitted a great number of key factual allegations of Plaintiff's 

Second Amended Complaint that formed the basis of his claims that these 

defendants were not independent.  See Defendants' Nov. 28, 2017 Answer, 

e.g., ¶¶ 5-6, 10-12, 14-15, 18, 24-25.   

Fourth, the Court also rejected defendants' argument that 

Plaintiff's complaint was merely filed for personal reasons, and disagreed 
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with defendants' characterization of the decision rendered in the California 

Trust litigation.  See Nov. 20, 2017 Hearing Tr. at 8:5-9:19.  This California 

decision is not only wholly irrelevant—because it is not part of the record 

evidence in this case—but it does not help the defendants.  As the Court 

correctly observed, Plaintiff was not found to have engaged in any 

"forgeries," let alone attempts to deprive his sisters of their share of the 

Trust.  Id. at 8:11-13; 20-22.  As the Cotter sisters' counsel, Mr. Tayback, 

acknowledged, the judge in that case is "unhappy with all the litigants," 

including Margaret Cotter.  Id. (emphasis added).5   

E. The complex and novel legal issues in the case also preclude an 
attorneys' fee award. 

The Nevada Supreme Court has consistently held that it is an 

abuse of discretion to award attorneys' fees if claims are based on "novel and 

arguable, if not ultimately successful, issues of law." Gitter, 393 P.3d at 682.  

Just this month, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed an order awarding 

attorneys' fees because the case presented a novel issue of state law, even 

though "the evidence produced and Nevada's current jurisprudence [did] 

not fully support the Trust's suit." Frederic and Barbara Rosenburg Living 

Tr. v. MacDonald Highlands Realty, LLC, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 69, __P.3d __, 

2018 WL 4402363134, at *7 (Sept. 13, 2018).   As the Nevada Supreme Court 

remarked:  

Though we understand the Legislature's desire to deter frivolous 
lawsuits, this must be balanced with the need for attorneys to 
pursue novel legal issues or argue for clarification or 
modification of existing law. 

                                           
5 In fact, Margaret Cotter admitted to forging a document on behalf of her 
father which had the effect of transferring an apartment to an entity that 
Margaret controlled.  The Judge in the Trust Litigation asked the attorney 
for the Cotter sisters: "What do you do about the fact that your clients 
testified by their own admission to some shameful conduct?  Possibly 
criminal . . . ."  
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Id.    

The Nevada Supreme Court also held that it is an abuse of 

discretion to award attorneys' fees where the complaint presented complex 

legal questions.  See Key Bank v. Donnels, 106 Nev. 49, 53, 787 P.2d 382, 385 

(1990) (holding it is abuse of discretion to award attorneys' fees where law 

not clear and complaint presented complex legal questions concerning 

statutory interpretation and legislative intent); see also Baldonado, 194 P.3d 

at 106-07 (affirming district court's order denying Wynn attorneys' fees 

because of the complexity and unsettled nature of the labor laws under 

which the plaintiffs sued).  

Plaintiff's derivative case presented complex and novel issues of 

law that did not fit squarely in typical derivative cases.6   Notably, this case 

was filed two years before the Nevada Supreme Court defined the scope of 

the directors' duty of care and the business judgment rule.  See Wynn 

Resorts, Ltd. v. Dist. Ct., 133 Nev. __, __, 399 P.3d 334, 343-44 (2017).7  One of 

these issues was whether a lack of director independence can be shown 

                                           
6 RDI's counsel repeatedly argued that he had never seen a derivative case 
like this.  E.g., Oct. 27, 2016 Tr. at 71:11-12 (Mr. Ferrario: "We can't find a 
derivative case that parallels this anywhere"); June 19, 2018 Hearing Tr. at 
13:23-14:4 (Mr. Ferrario: "So do I agree with Mr. Krum that I've never seen 
anything like this, you bet I haven't.").  But Plaintiff's case was certainly not 
the first derivative case that involved family disputes or involved the 
termination of a CEO.  See Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 137 
P.3d 1171 (2006) (derivative case brought by Paul Shoen against Mark Shoen 
and others); In Re Walt Disney Co. Derivative Litig., 907 A.2d 693, 697 (Del. 
Ch. 2005) (derivative suit alleging "that the director defendants breached 
their fiduciary duties in connection with the 1995 hiring and 1996 
termination of Michael Ovitz as President of The Walt Disney Company").   
7 This is why Plaintiff had a reasonable basis to bring and maintain his 
complaint against Mr. Gould (and McEachern), because his claims were 
based on factual allegations pertaining to his breach of duty of care and, 
later, his duty of loyalty.  See Compl. e.g., ¶¶ 2, 112, 115; First Am. Compl. 
e.g., ¶¶ 3, 9, 150, 160, 174, 181; see also Answer, on file ¶¶ 12, 15, 94, 126, 137 
(admitting key factual allegations pertaining to fiduciary duty claims). 
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based on a pattern of decision-making conduct that consistently benefitted 

the Cotter sisters personally—as distinguished from benefitting all 

shareholders.  Another issue was whether a lack of independence or 

disinterestedness was the only way to rebut the business judgment rule.  An 

issue that arose late in the litigation was whether board decisions to 

terminate a CEO and or decisions to invoke a share option were 

"transactions" that could be ratified under NRS 78.140.  The Court itself 

questioned whether NRS 78.140 applied in this case.  See June 19, 2018 

Hearing Tr. at 27:22-28:9; 28:21-29:2; 29:21-30:20.   

Although Plaintiff was ultimately unsuccessful, these complex 

and novel issues preclude a fee award as a matter of law. Gitter, 393 P.3d at 

682.  The Cotter defendants apparently agree, because their counsel 

contends that while Quinn Emanuel's attorney rates "may be higher than 

those in the Las Vegas legal market, the rates are fair and reasonable in light 

of the "complexity and sophistication of the legal matters involved."  Searcy 

Decl. ¶17 (emphasis added); see also Cost Memo at 10 (arguing that the 

"complexity of the litigation" warrants a higher cost award for expert 

witness costs than $1,500); id. at 5 (seeking more than $45,000 in Westlaw 

legal research).  Thus, the admitted complexity and novelty of the legal 

issues provides a separate basis to deny the Fee Motion in its entirety. 

F. RDI fails to meet the "harassment" standard of NRS 18.010((2)(b). 

When determining whether to award sanctions under NRS 

18.010(2)(b) for bringing or maintaining a claim to harass, courts look at 

whether a litigant's conduct in filing or maintaining suit was reasonable.  

See American Excess Ins. Co. v. MGM Grand Hotels, Inc., 102 Nev. 601, 605, 

606, 729 P.2d 1352, 1355 (1986) (reversing award of attorneys' fees under 

NRS 18.010(2)(b) because "AEI's conduct in filing suit was not 

unreasonable"); Sargeant v. Henderson Taxi , Case No. 70837, 2017 WL 
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10242277, at *1 (Nev. Dec. 1, 2017) (affirming district court's order awarding 

a portion of Henderson Taxi's attorneys' fees where "Sargeant embarked on 

a series of filings that sought to revisit the court's denial of class certification, 

prolonging the litigation without advancing or redefining his remaining 

claims").  

Although there is a paucity of Nevada law applying the 

harassment factor of NRS 18.010(2)(b), the cases decided by the Ninth 

Circuit Court of Appeals on Rule 11 sanctions on the grounds of harassment 

are instructive.  These cases hold that harassment is not determined by how 

the defendant subjectively perceives the complaint.  The claim must "more 

than in fact bother, annoy or vex the complaining party."  Zaldivar v. City of 

Los Angeles, 780 F.2d 823, 831-32 (9th Cir. 1986), abrogated on other 

grounds, 496 U.S. 384 (1990)) (emphasis added).  Rather, there must be 

objective evidence of a party's improper purpose, such as repeated filings 

based on arguments already rejected by the Court. E.g., id. at 832 ("Without 

question, successive complaints based upon propositions of law previously 

rejected may constitute harassment under Rule 11"); Buster v. Greisen, 104 

F.3d 1186, 1190 (9th Cir.1997) (same); accord Sargeant, supra, at * 2 

(affirming a partial attorney fee award where the plaintiff repeated 

previously rejected arguments in a series of motions).   

Moreover, when a plaintiff makes non-frivolous claims, it is 

irrelevant whether his "motives for asserting those claims are not entirely 

pure." Townsend v. Holman Consulting Corp., 929 F. 2d 1358, 1362 (9th Cir. 

1990) (citing Zaldivar, 780 F.2d at 834); accord, e.g., In re Marsch, 36 F. 3d 

825, 829 (9th Cir. 1994) (holding same); Greenberg v. Sala, 822 F.2d 882, 885 

(9th Cir.1987) (a "nonfrivolous complaint cannot be said to be filed for an 

improper purpose.").  Without such standard, every complaint could be 

deemed to "harass" the other side.   
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1. There is no objective evidence of an improper purpose.  

Here, the objective record evidence (which the Fee Motion 

ignores) shows no intent to file or maintain the lawsuit to harass the 

individual defendants.  The fact that the defendants admitted many alleged 

facts that called into question the independence of the directors shows that 

the complaint was non-frivolous.  See, e.g., Defendants' Nov. 28, 2017 

Answer, ¶¶ 5-6, 10-12, 14-15, 18, 24-25.  Thus, even assuming Plaintiff or his 

counsel had threatened the RDI board with litigation, this does not prove 

harassment under NRS 18.010(2)(b), because Plaintiff had an objectively 

reasonable basis to bring his litigation.  Zaldivar, 780 F.2d at 834.  Moreover, 

up until the eve of trial, this Court agreed with Plaintiff that there were 

"genuine issues of material fact and issues related to interested directors 

participating in [Plaintiff's termination] process." Oct. 27, 2016 Hearing Tr. at 

117:9–12.  The termination process was the very basis of Plaintiff's initial 

complaint.  If the five directors found to be independent had not "ratified" 

the termination vote, this claim would have proceeded to trial.   

Unlike the plaintiff in Sargeant, Plaintiff did not "embark[] on a 

series of filings" to revisit the Court's adverse rulings that needlessly 

prolonged the case.  Plaintiff's two amended complaints were based on new 

events that further supported his initial claims rather than on previously 

rejected legal propositions.  Until December 28, 2017, Plaintiff had prevailed 

on most dispositive motions.  The only two motions for reconsideration 

Plaintiff filed involved entirely different issues, were promptly filed and 

decided, and not renewed.  See Dec. 19, 2017 Motion for Reconsideration of 

Rulings on Partial MSJs and Gould's MSJ on OST; August 8, 2018 Motion for 

Reconsideration on OST (re in camera review), both on file.    

Plaintiff also did not needlessly prolong the case or abuse the 

discovery process.   As RDI admits, Plaintiff sought expedited discovery at 

the outset.   He filed several discovery motions that the Court granted in full 
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or in part.  See, e.g., October 3, 2016 Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion to 

Permit Certain Discovery on OST, on file; July 12, 2018 Order Granting in 

Part Motion to Compel and Motion for Relief, on file; see also Oct. 27, 2016 

Hearing Tr. at 32:12-16 (Court asking Mr. Ferrario about status of 

outstanding production of documents).  The parties twice stipulated to 

extend the discovery deadline.  See June 21, 2016 SAO to amend deadlines 

(second request), on file.  If the discovery on ratification prolonged the case, 

it was because (1) the defendants did not take a ratification vote until the eve 

of trial; (2) the defendants filed an untimely motion for judgment based on 

the ratification on the eve of trial; and (3) the defendants did not timely 

produce all relevant ratification documents and privilege logs to Plaintiff's 

counsel after the Court allowed discovery on the subject.  See July 12, 2016 

Order at 2.  The Court even imposed an evidentiary sanction against the 

defendants for their belated and incomplete production of the ratification 

documents.  See id. 8   

RDI's argument that Plaintiff unreasonably prolonged the 

proceedings by failing to make an "objective assessment" of this lawsuit like 

the T2 plaintiffs allegedly did is also unavailing.  Unlike the T2 Plaintiffs, 

Plaintiff was on RDI's board of directors.  He knew that the facts often 

differed from those represented in the public filings.  His inside knowledge 

supported rather than refuted his claims.  By way of example (only), he 

knew that Ellen Cotter was not elected CEO as a result of the CEO search 

but because the CEO search was aborted. E.g., Spitz Depo Tr., Exhibit 2 

hereto at 125:20-25; 144:5-145:17.  He knew that Timothy Storey did not 

voluntarily retire but was asked to leave following discussions by the 

"nominations committee" with the Cotter sisters.  Storey Dep. Tr., Exhibit 3 

                                           
8 To the extent the defendants complain about "multiple days of needlessly 
duplicative depositions," Fee Motion at 15, this argument cuts both ways. It 
took defendants' counsel four days to complete Plaintiff's deposition.      
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hereto, at 201:19-202:13.  To suggest, as RDI does, that Plaintiff only filed this 

case to get his job back overlooks the fact that Plaintiff was and remains a 

significant shareholder seeking to protect his and his children's investment 

in RDI just as any other shareholder would.  

2. RDI and the individual defendants are to blame for this 
protracted case and their outrageous attorneys' fees. 

RDI and the Cotter defendants made a number of litigation and 

corporate governance gaffes that put them in the situation they now regret 

and lament. 

First, in a derivative suit alleging that the directors breached 

their fiduciary duties to the corporation in which the corporation is named 

as a nominal defendant, the corporation " 'is required to take and maintain a 

wholly neutral position taking sides neither with the complainant nor with 

the defending director.' " Swenson v. Thibaut, 250 S.E. 2d 279, 293-94 (N.C. 

App. 1978) (quoting Solimine v. Hollander, 129 N.J.Eq. 264, 19 A.2d 344 

(1941)).  Instead, RDI took a very aggressive adversarial position.  Its counsel 

attended most depositions, conducted an inordinate amount of legal 

research, and joined in many substantive motions filed by the directors.      

Second, the defendants filed a total of four motions to dismiss 

based on demand futility—after the Court had already denied the first 

motion.  See Aug. 10, 2015 MTD; Sept. 3, 2015 MTD; Jan. 8 Hearing Tr. at 10-

14; June 19 Hearing Tr. at 49.  What the defendants should have done was 

seek an evidentiary hearing "to determine . . . whether the demand 

requirement nevertheless deprives the shareholder of his or her standing to 

sue" Shoen v. SAC Holding Corp., 122 Nev. 621, 645, 137 P.3d 1171, 1187 

(2006).  But, as the Court pointed out to the defendants, they "never again 

requested or renewed that motion with a request for an evidentiary hearing" 

in all the three "years or so we've been in litigation."  Jan. 8, 2018 Hearing Tr. 

at 14:22-15:3.  Even after this "hint," defendants still did not ask for an 
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2 
evidentiary hearing.  Instead, RDI on June 1 filed yet another motion to 

dismiss "under NRCP 12(b)(2)," which the Court later denied as moot.  

Third, the defendants say in their Cost Memo that "each of 

[Plaintiff's] claims could have easily been resolved by ratification, as 

ultimately occurred, thereby saving Reading millions of dollars."  Cost 

Memo at 2 (emphasis added).  But it took RDI directors two years to create a 

special independent committee, and its conflicted counsel did not advise 

this committee to recommend ratification until December 20, 2017, which 

did not occur until December 29, 2017—more than two and a half years after 

Plaintiff filed suit.   

Fourth, the director defendants never established a special 

litigation committee to assess the merits of this case.  RDI's "excuse" for not 

doing so is baseless.  Contrary to what RDI contends on page 17 of its 

Motion, In Re Dish Network does not hold, let alone suggest, that board 

members who are "existing defendants . . . will automatically have a strike 

against them" in the determination of whether they are independent and can 

serve on an SLC.  The Nevada Supreme Court held the exact opposite: "The 

independence standard that applies to directors in the demand-futility 

context is equally applicable to determine whether an SLC is independent."  

In re Dish Network Derivative Litig., 401 P.3d 1081, 1089 (Nev. 2017) (citing 

cases).       

Fifth, despite having a sophisticated searchable database and 

paying its E-discovery vendor thousands of dollars per month to conduct 

searches that were billed as "consulting fees," RDI was repeatedly unable to 

timely produce the requested documents—resulting in thirty-seven 

productions over the course of three years.  See Ex. 4 to Plaintiff's Motion to 

Retax Costs; see also Ex. 3 to Plaintiff's Reply in Support of Motion to Retax 

Costs at REP65-164, on file.   

RDI-A10668



 

21 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

M
O

R
R

IS
 L

A
W

 G
R

O
U

P
 

41
1 

E.
 B

O
N

N
EV

IL
LE

 A
VE

., S
TE

. 3
60

 ∙ L
AS

 V
EG

AS
, N

EV
AD

A 
89

10
1 

70
2/

47
4-

94
00

 ∙ F
AX

 7
02

/4
74

-9
42

2 

Sixth, Gould's counsel chose not to use the last five minutes of 

the October 27, 2016 hearing to argue Gould's MSJ, and thereafter did not 

request a hearing or re-notice his MSJ until December 1, 2017—more than a 

year later.  See Gould's Dec. 1, 2017 Request for Hearing, on file.  

Last but not least, the Cotter defendants filed six Partial MSJs on 

issues; not MSJs on claims by defendant.  As the Court recognized and 

advised their counsel when arguing the Partial MSJ on the Issue of Director 

Independence, "[i]t's not summary judgment, counsel."  Oct. 27 2016 

Hearing Tr. at 83:16; see also id. at 83:8-11.  The piecemeal filing of six Partial 

MSJs on issues was inefficient and resulted in piecemeal rulings that did 

nothing to move the case along or dispose of parties or claims.   

G. The sheer size of RDI's attorneys' fees warrants an outright 
denial of the Fee Motion.  

Even assuming the defendants had met their burden under NRS 

18.010(2)(b)—as shown above, they did not—where, as here, the Court has 

discretion to award attorney's fees under a fee-shifting statute, "such 

discretion includes the ability to deny a fee altogether when, under the 

circumstances, the amount requested is outrageously excessive." Clemens v. 

New York Central Mutual Fire Ins. Co., __ F.3d __, 2018 WL 4344678, at *5 

(3d Cir. Sept. 12, 2018) (citing Brown v. Stackler, 612 F.2d 1057, 1059 (7th Cir. 

1980); Envtl. Def. Fund, Inc. v. Reilly, 1 F.3d 1254, 1258–60 (D.C. Cir. 1993); 

Fair Hous. Council of Greater Wash. v. Landow, 999 F.2d 92, 97 (4th Cir. 

1993); Lewis v. Kendrick, 944 F.2d 949, 956–58 (1st Cir. 1991)).    

In Clemens—which was decided this month—the plaintiff 

prevailed and was awarded $100,000 in punitive damages under 

Pennsylvania's bad faith statute.  Clemens, __ F.3d __, 2018 WL 4344678, at 

*1.  His counsel filed a request for $946,526.43 in fees and costs but was 

ultimately awarded $0.00.  The court in Clemens, like many courts in 
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Nevada, began its analysis with the "lodestar" method—i.e., "the 

multiplication of the actual number of hours spent in pursuing the claim by 

a reasonable rate."  Id. at * 2.  Compare, e.g., Herbst v. Humana Health Ins. 

of Nevada, 105 Nev. 586, 590, 781 P.2d 762, 764 (1989) (The lodestar 

approach involves multiplying "the number of hours reasonably spent on 

the case by a reasonable hourly rate").  The district court found "eighty-

seven percent of the hours billed . . . vague, duplicative, unnecessary, or 

inadequately supported by documentary evidence."  Clemens, __ F.3d __, 

2018 WL 4344678, at *1.  For example, the court found 562 hours spent to 

prepare for trial "outrageous" under the circumstances, and the fee motion 

did not explain which one of the many attorneys working on the case 

performed which task.  Id. at * 4.  "After making that [87%] reduction, the 

court then decided to award no fee at all in light of the excessive nature of 

the request."  Id. at *3.   

Here, the $15.9 million in legal fees incurred by the defendants is 

also unjustifiably excessive and mostly self-inflicted.  As a nominal 

defendant, RDI could and should have limited its legal fees to only those 

related to Plaintiff's standing to bring suit.  Nevertheless, RDI incurred $2.9 

million in attorneys' fees.9  Although it is hard to tell from Mr. Ferrario's 

declaration, which does not identify the roles of the 23 timekeepers who 

                                           
9 Under the parties' stipulation, RDI's counsel was supposed to list in his 
declaration each attorney who worked on the case and his or her billable 
hour.  See Sept. 4 SAO Relating to Process for Filing Motion for Attorney 
Fees, on file, at 1.  However, Mr. Ferrario's chart merely lists 23 timekeepers 
with "hourly rate ranges" without saying what hourly rate was charged to 
RDI.  See Ex. 1 to Ferrario Decl.  Unlike the declaration of Mr. Searcy, Mr. 
Ferrario's declaration does not identify which individuals are attorneys and 
which individuals are paralegals (or assistants); when each worked on this 
case, and what hourly rate each charged at a given time.  This was especially 
sloppy given the generous accommodation granted to RDI by Plaintiff's 
counsel that RDI did not yet have to support its motion for discretionary 
attorneys' fees with its billing records.  Sept. 4 SAO, on file, at 2. 
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worked on the case, there appear to be ten attorneys who worked on the 

case at some point in time for this nominal defendant.  See Ex. 1 to Ferrario 

Decl.  RDI admits, and the bills show, that on December 7, 13, 15, 20, and 21, 

2017, RDI's counsel was in California to prepare the two Cotter sisters—who 

were alleged to have breached their fiduciary duties to RDI—for trial.  See 

Opp'n to Motion to Retax Costs at 28:6-12; id. Ex. 11 and EP 1607-1608; EP 

1614; EP 468; EP 629-630; EP 632.  RDI admits, and its cost bills show, that 

Greenberg Traurig played a lead role throughout this case and would have 

played a lead role at trial, id. at 27 fn. 19, when its role as a nominal 

defendant should have been "wholly neutral" under the cases it cites.  See, 

e.g., Swenson v. Thibaut, 250 SE 2d 279, 293-94 (N.C. App. 1978). 

The Cotter director defendants and Gould—who were especially 

aware of the D&O policy limits—recklessly spent more than the entire D&O 

policy on attorneys' fees—and this before trial on the merits had even 

begun.  See Fee Motion Exs. B-F.  It apparently was not enough to have three 

experienced Harvard graduates to defend the Cotter defendants against 

Plaintiff's claims they have consistently characterized as frivolous.  The 

Cotter defendants had between eight and ten Quinn Emanuel ("QE") 

attorneys to represent them over the course of the litigation who billed 

between $365 and $1,147 per hour.  Searcy Decl.¶¶ 5-14.  Director Gould 

was represented by eight attorneys: six Bird Marella attorneys—three 

partners and three associates—and two Nevada attorneys.  See Ex. 1 to 

Bannett Decl.; Lattin Decl.  Collectively, Gould incurred $1.4 million in legal 

fees when his role and exposure in the case was admittedly minimal. 

The RDI directors' failure to monitor their attorneys' fees, 

allowing them to exceed the D&O policy, is a testament of reckless and 

irresponsible corporate governance.  None of the work performed by the 

many attorneys is described or allocated; we only know the total fees 
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incurred per month, but this much we do know:  On average, QE billed 

$325,000 each month for the three years of litigation.  Id. ¶ 21 ($11,734,276 

divided by 36 months).  Just let that sink in for a moment.   

In the first month of litigation alone, QE billed more than 

$120,000.  Id. ¶ 20 (July 15, 2015 bill).  And for what? There were no 

dispositive motions pending, no depositions taken or court hearings held, 

nothing.  By November 2015—months before depositions were taken or 

scheduled—QE's monthly bill was almost half a million dollars.  Id. ¶ 20.  

RDI's claim that Plaintiff caused the defendants to incur these fees is 

offensive and unsupported.  Fee Motion at 4:24-26.  Plaintiff's discovery 

requests were limited in scope and in time.  See Ex. 1 to Reply in Support of 

Motion to Retax Costs, on file.  Even when depositions began in February 

2016, no reason is offered why the Cotter defendants were "required" to 

incur more than $3 million in legal fees between February and August, 

2016—i.e., $500,000 per month.  Searcy Decl. ¶ 20.  QE mainly defended their 

clients in fact witness depositions during that time.  See Exhibit 4 hereto.   

QE took only 11 depositions over the entire course of the litigation—five of 

which as a result of the T2 complaint.  See id.; see also Exhibit 5 hereto.    

Based on the thoughtlessly excessive amount of attorneys' fees 

alone, the Court should follow the lead of the federal courts cited above and 

use its discretion to deny the Fee Motion in its entirety.  Doing so would not 

require the Court to make any findings.  See Stubbs v. Strickland, 129 Nev. 

146, 152 n.1, 297 P. 3d 326, 331 n.1 (2013) ("While we require a district court 

to "make findings regarding the basis for awarding attorney fees and the 

reasonableness of an award of attorney fees [] this court has not required 

such findings when a district court denies a motion for attorney fees") 

(internal citation omitted).  Should the Court nevertheless be inclined to 

award defendants' attorneys' fees, Plaintiff is entitled to see all law firms' 
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billing statements and reserves the right to make any and all arguments 

against any award of fees. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For all the reasons discussed above, the defendants did not meet 

their burden of proof to support a discretionary award of attorneys' fees 

under NRS 18.010(2)(b).  Even assuming they had met their burden, the 

$15.9 million fee award they seek is so extravagantly excessive that it 

justifies an outright denial.  The Court should therefore use its discretion 

and deny the Fee Motion in its entirety.  

 

 
MORRIS LAW GROUP 
 
By:   /s/ AKKE LEVIN                                           

Steve Morris, Bar No. 1543 
Akke Levin, Bar No. 9102 
411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 360 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 

 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
James J. Cotter, Jr.  
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READmG INTERNATIONAL, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Non-Discrimination Policy

Reading International strongly believes in equal opportunity for all, without regard to race,

religion, color, national origin, citizenship, sex, veteran's status, age, marital status, sexual

preference, disability or any other protected characteristic. In addition, the company will

endeavor to make reasonable accommodations for known physical or mental limitations of

otherwise qualified employees and applicants with disabilities unless the accommodations would

impose an undue hardship on the operation of our business. Equal employment opportunity will

be extended to all individuals in all aspects of the employment relationship, including

recruitment, hiring, promotion, transfer, discipline, layoff, recall and termination.

At Reading International equal opportunity is not only a legal commitment, it also is a moral

commitment. If you feel you have been the victim of discriminatory treatment or harassment of

any kind, please speak with your supervisor or manager or any management personnel with

whom you feel comfortable. If you are not satisfied with the results of the response by the

individual to whom you first complained, you should speak with the Payroll Department at (213)

235-2244 or the Benefits Coordinator at (323)213-4989.

Page 1 Last Updated on January 2013
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READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Anti-Harassment Policy

The company prohibits all forms of harassment based on an individual's protected

characteristics, including sexual harassment. Sexual harassment of any kind is illegal, will not be

tolerated and may be grounds for immediate termination. Sexual harassment includes many

forms of offensive behavior and may include:

• Unwanted sexual advances

• Offering employment benefits in exchange for sexual favors

• Making threatening reprisals after negative response to sexual advances

• Visual conduct such as leering, making sexual gestures, displaying of sexually suggestive

objects or pictures, cartoons or posters

• Verbal conduct such as making or using derogatory comments, epithets, slurs or jokes

• Verbal sexual advances or propositions

• Verbal abuse of a sexual nature, graphic verbal commentaries about an individual's body,

sexually degrading words used to describe an individual, suggestive or obscene letters,

notes or invitations.

• Physical conduct such as touching, assault, impeding or blocking movements

The company also prohibits any other form of harassment based on race, color, religion, creed,

age, sex, national origin or ancestry, marital status, sexual preference, veteran's status, or status

as a qualified individual with a disability, and any other protected characteristic, in accordance

with applicable laws.

While harassment is not easy to define, examples include verbal (including improper joking or

teasing) or physical conduct that denigrates or shows hostility or aversion towards an individual

because of these protected attributes, and that (1) has the purpose or effect of creating an

intimidating, hostile or offensive working environment as defined by law; or (2) has the purpose

Page 2 Last Updated on January 2013
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READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

or effect of unreasonably interfering with an individual's work performance; or (3) otherwise

adversely affects an individual's employment opportunities.

The following steps have been put into place to ensure a work environment that is professional

and free from unwelcome harassment.

• Reporting - If an employee believes that harassment has occurred, you should report such

incident(s) to your manager, or any Reading International management personnel with

whom you feel comfortable. If you are not satisfied with the results of the response by the

individual to whom you first complained, you should speak with the Payroll/Benefits

manager.

• Investigation - Upon receipt of such a report. Reading International will conduct an

investigation, as discretely as possible, consistent with the need to identify and terminate

any improper conduct.

• Corrective Measures - Upon completion of the investigation we will take corrective

measures; if it is determined that such measures are necessary. These may include, but

are not limited to counseling, suspension, or dismissal of an employee engaging in

misconduct.

No employee will be subject to, and the company prohibits any form of discipline or retaliation

for reporting incidents ofunlawfi'1 harassment, pursuing any such claim or cooperating in the

investigation of such reports.

Page 3 Last Updated on January 2013
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READmG INTERNATIONAL, WC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Complaint Procedure

The company believes it is important for employees to bring work-related problems to the

attention of management. It is the company's hope to resolve these problems promptly and at the

lowest level of the organization as possible. Work related problems include an employees

expressed dissatisfaction concerning conditions of employment or treatment by management,

supervisors or other employees. Examples of work related problems are improper applications of

rules and procedures, unfair administration of promotions or training opportunities, harassment,

discrimination, or improper administration of employee benefits.

If you have a work related problem, as quickly as possible you should bring the matter to the

attention of your supervisor or manager, or any of the company's management personnel with

whom you feel comfortable. You should feel free to discuss work concerns and solutions

candidly.

If you are not satisfied with the response by the individual to whom you first complained, you

should speak with the Payroll/Benefits Manager.

Page 4 Last Updated on January 2013
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READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Whistleblower Policy

Purpose

To establish a process by which employees may disclose to the Audit Committee of the Board of

Directors ("Audit Committee") alleged (1) improper accounting or auditing matters, (2) fraud or

(3) breaches of the Company's financial and internal controls (collectively "Accounting

Matters").

Making a Disclosure

An employee who becomes aware of Accounting Matters must make a report of the foregoing as

soon as practical after becoming aware of the conduct. Company employees should primarily

report such matters to the Chief Financial Officer, Chief Legal Officer, or Chief Executive

Officer, in which case, a letter should be addressed and mailed as follows:

Personal and Confidential

Chief (Financial/Legal/Executive) Officer

Reading International, Inc.

6100 Center Drive

Suite 900

Los Angeles, CA 90045

However, where an employee does not feel comfortable addressing the matter to these

individuals, such employee may make such report to the Audit Committee. Employees may

make reports to the Audit Committee by mailing a letter addressed as follows:

Personal and Confidential

The Audit Committee

Reading International, Inc.

6100 Center Drive

Suite 900

Los Angeles, CA 90045

Page 5 Last Updated on January 2013
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As soon as practical after receipt of the report, the Audit Committee will nominate a director to

handle the report who does not have a conflict of interest in the matter being investigated (the

"Handling Director"). The Handling Director and/or his designees will conduct an investigation

into the allegations and will take any necessary corrective action that they deem appropriate.

Where the Handling Director determines the employee's allegations do not involve Accounting

Matters, the Handling Director shall refer the matter to the appropriate Company officer to

address the employee's concerns.

False Allegations ofWronsful Conduct

An employee who knowingly makes false allegations shall be subject to discipline, up to and

including termination of employment, in accordance with Company policies and procedures and

applicable law.

No Adverse Action

No adverse personnel action may be taken against an employee in retaliation for making a

complaint or any disclosure of information under this policy or otherwise pursuant to law, which

information the employee in good faith believes evidences actual or potential Accounting

Matters. No employee with authority to make or materially influence significant personnel

decisions shall take or recommend an adverse personnel action against an employee in retaliation

for reporting such alleged wrongful conduct. Any employee found to have so violated this

policy shall be disciplined, up to and including termination, in accordance with existing

Company policies, and procedures and applicable law.

It shall not be a violation of this policy to take adverse personnel action against an employee

where legitimate business reasons warrant separate and apart from that employee's making a

report.

Retaliation Complaints

As soon as an employee is notified or becomes aware of an adverse personnel action against him

or her and if the employee believes the action was based on his or her prior report of actual or
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potential violations of applicable laws and regulations regarding the Company's audits or

internal controls to the Audit Committee, he or she may protest the action by filing a written

complaint with the Company's Chief Legal Officer. The Chief Legal Officer, on receipt of such

a complaint, will investigate such complaint promptly and thoroughly. If the Chief Legal Officer

has a conflict of interest in the matter being reviewed, he will appoint a substitute officer to

handle the complaint. The Chief Legal Officer shall notify the complainant in writing of the

results of the review and whether the adverse personnel action is affirmed, reversed, or modified

in a timely manner.

Retention of Reports

Any allegations submitted and investigations performed under this policy shall be retained in

confidential files by the Company for a period of seven (7) years from the date the matter was

resolved.

Page 7 Last Updated on January 2013
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READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
AND SUBSmiARIES

Vacation Policy
Updated: September 30th, 2008

The Company encourages its employees to take vacation on a regular basis within the particular

demands of the business. The management of the Company believes that a workforce that

regularly and fully utilizes its vacation time, helps to maintain the health and well being of

employees as well as being more productive at work.

The following summarizes the vacation policy in force for all employees of Reading

International Inc. and its U.S. subsidiaries:

Vacation for Corporate full-time salary employees is earned as follows:

• Less than 5 years of employment: 80 hours per year (6.666 hours per month),

• After 5 years of employment: 120 hours per year (10 hours per month),

Vacation for Cinema managers (salary and hourly) is earned as follows:

• Less than 5 years of employment: 80 hours per year (3.077 per pay period or 0.0385

hours for every hour worked to a maximum of 80 hours per year),

• At least 5 years of employment: 120 hours per year (4.615 per pay period or 0.0577

hours for every hour worked to a maximum of 120 hours per year),

Vacation for Cinema hourly employees and Live Theater salary employees is earned as follows:

• Less than 1 year of employment: 40 hours per year (0.0192 hours for every hour

worked to a maximum of 40 hours per year) earned after the first year,

• From 2 years to 5 years of employment: 80 hours per year (0.0385 hours for every

hour worked to a maximum of 80 hours per year),

• After 5 years of employment: 120 hours per year (0.0577 hours for every hour worked

to a maximum of 120 hours per year),

NO OTHER VACATION ACCRUALS WILL BE PERMITTED OUTSIDE OF THE

STIPULATED CRITERIA ABOVE.
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Vacation time must be approved by the relevant supervisor and should not be taken at work

sensitive periods, as applicable to each department and as defined by the department supervisor.

Unused vacation cannot accumulate to more than the maximum vacation an employee may earn

over a 21 month period depending on their length of service. For example, an employee with less

than 5 years of service may accumulate a maximum of 140 unused vacation hours, while an

employee with at least 5 years of service may accumulate a maximum of 210 unused vacation

hours. Once the cap is reached, an employee will earn no additional vacation hours until they

take vacation. An accumulated balance based on the above calculation may be carried over from

one year to the next.

All vacation requests on the appropriate completed form (attached) must be submitted to the

relevant department supervisor prior to the beginning of the vacation period, who will forward

the approved request to Corporate Payroll department in Los Angeles.

At every December 31, employees will be required to sign a fonn to confirm their vacation

usage during the past year and any small amounts of unused vacation carried forward into the

next year.

Page 9 Last Updated on January 2013
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Sick Time Policy

The following summarizes the sick time policy in force for all employees of Reading

International Inc. only:

• Employees are entitled to 10 business days of sick time per calendar year, without

regard to length of service.

• Sick time is to be used for periods of illness and/or doctor/dentist visits. Under no

circumstances may sick time be used to supplement vacation days.

• No sick time may be carried forward from one calendar year to the next, nor will any

sick time be paid out under any circumstances.

• Sick time must be reported to the relevant supervisor and the Corporate Payroll

Department in Los Angeles as soon as is practicable.

Sick time requests for Cinema and Live Theater employees is administered strictly on a

case by case basis and should be requested and approved by the Vice President of

Domestic Theater Operations and Chief Operating Officer of Live Theaters, respectively.

Bereavement Policy

Death in Immediate Family - With Management approval, you will be granted a persona!

leave of absence in the event of a death in your immediate family (spouse, child, brother,

sister, parent, grandparent, grandchild, or spouse's parent). The maximum period of leave

will be three days if required travel is within 400 miles and five days if distance is over

400 miles.
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READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
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Jury Duty Policy
Effective Date: September 1st, 2008

Reading International, Inc. supports employees in fulfilling their civic duty by testifying as a

witness in judicial proceedings or serving as jurors because of a jury duty summons. The

following items summarize the jury duty policy in effect for full-time exempt employees of

Reading International, Inc. and its U.S. subsidiaries:

• Supervisors may request that employees postpone jury duty service based upon business

necessities.

• Employees must promptly notify their immediate supervisor of jury duty summons and

the start date of such service. It is the responsibility of the employee to keep their

supervisor informed of their jury duty service.

• Full-time exempt employees will receive a maximum of 5 fall days of regular pay while

completing jury duty service. Employees must present evidence of jury duty service

upon completion.
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RDI-A10688



READING INTERNATIONAL, INC.
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Travel & Expense Policy
Effective Date: April 1st, 2009

Office Expenses

The Company, at management's discretion, will provide coffee, tea, accompanying

condiments, and water from water dispensers for employee use.

Telephone

Certain employees will be authorized to receive reimbursement for mobile telephones for

Company business. Authorization for reimbursement will be approved by the CEO/President or the

Chief Financial Officer (CFO), or the President. Full copies of all such bills must be presented with

the expense report in order to be reimbursed. No home telephone bills will be reimbursed unless a

copy of the detailed bill, accompanied by business reasons, is submitted with the expense report. The

Company has issued discount calling cards to those employees incurring long distance phone charges

related to Company business while outside of the office. The discount calling cards should be used

whenever possible to reduce expenses.

Equipment Purchases

The purchase of equipment including, but not limited to, home computers, hand held

organizers, laptops, blackberries, home fax machines, and mobile telephones, is not

automatically reimbursable. In order to be reimbursable, such purchases must be approved in

advance of the purchase by the CEO/President or CFO.

Private Clubs

As a general rule, the Company does not reimburse private club membership fees except

when approved under special circumstances by the CEO/President where such membership is

required for business reasons.

Airline Clubs

Airline club lounge memberships may be approved by the CEO/President for certain

employees who fly frequently.
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READmG INTERNATIONAL, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

Meals

Employee meals may be reimbursable when the employee is traveling with the authorization

of the Company for a business purpose, provided that the meal expenses are reasonable.

The Company will only reimburse meals between employees when they are meeting for a

specific business purpose and such purpose is submitted with the expense report. The most senior

employee is to pay for the meal and claim it on his or her expense report.

When not traveling, the Company will reimburse employees for the reasonable costs of meals

with vendors, suppliers, and industry contacts, where such meetings m combination with dining is

beneficial to the Company. The Company will generally not reimburse for the cost of meals between

employees, except when such meetings between employees in conjunction with dining is for a

specific business purpose beneficial to the Company and the cost of the meal is reasonable.

The Company will not reimburse employees for extravagant restaurant dining (any amount in

excess of $30 Breakfast / $40 Lunch / $50 Dinner per person will on the surface be considered

extravagant).

Travel

Upon determination that a trip is necessary, a Travel Request Authorization Form must

be filled out and signed by the Senior Supervisor and the Chief Executive Officer/President

(CEO) for all Operations, New Zealand, and Australia Staffer the Chief Financial Officer (CFO)

for all U.S. Finance and U.S. IT Staff prior to travel. The Chief Executive Officer will approval

all direct reports' travel requests and can provide approvals in the CFO's absense. Include the

purpose(s) of the trip and the estimated costs ofairfare, lodging, and any other incidental

expenses. Incur only expenses that are consistent with business needs and exercise care in

determining appropriate expenditures. Please use the current Travel Request Authorization Form

for all out of town travel only. This form is available in electronic format in the "Global HR"

shared network folder located within your mapped drives.

Page 13 Last Updated on January 2013

RDI-A10690



READmG INTERNATIONAL, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES

By Automobile

• Travelers are expected to use rental agencies with which the Company has contracts that

include insurance coverage. When renting a car on Company business, do not purchase any

insurance offered by the rental agency as the Company has a blanket policy in effect that covers

all liabilities.

• At the discretion of Management, car allowances may be offered to certain employees.

Employees with car allowances may not claim vehicle-related expenses through the expense

report. A car allowance is paid through payroll, and is intended to cover all Company-related

vehicle expenses, including mileage, maintenance, insurance, and gas.

• An employee without a car allowance, upon authorization by his or her supervisor, may use his

or her personal vehicle on business-related travel, and may claim reimbursement for such travel

at the mileage rate published by the United States Internal Revenue Service, Australian Taxation

Office, or New Zealand Inland Revenue Department, effective on the day when the travel

occurred. Business-related travel does not include travel between one's home and the office.

By Air

• Requests for air travel must be made in advance wherever possible to allow enough time for

approval while maximizing savings on airfare.

• As such, commitments must not be made prior to approval on the basis that travel will be

approved. When travel is urgent and unavoidably requires an oral request, the

CEO/President may waive the written requestjrequirement at his discretion.

• All domestic flights within the US (including Alaska, Hawaii, and Puerto Rico), Australia,

and New Zealand must be booked using the best priced economy class fares.

• All international travel over eight (8) hours duration may be booked using business class.

When business class is fall or not offered, the best priced economy or premium economy

class should be booked.
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• For extremely long duration international flights, special consideration may be given by the

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) to allow for first class travel if two employees are

traveling together and are able to obtain a two-for-one offer on first class.

• Employees may use their own frequent flyer mileage to upgrade from economy class to a

higher class of service provided no additional cost is incurred by the Company (i.e. if a

normal coach ticket is $100, but the coach ticket fare available to upgrade is $150, the

Company will reimburse the employee for $100). Any other fees associated with

upgrading are not reimbursable.

Hotels

Pre-approval for overnight hotel accommodation whether linked to air travel or not, must

also be obtained prior to making any business related commitment. Hotel expenses should be

reasonable, and should be comparable to or less expensive than the Marriott, Hyatt, or Hilton

hotel chains.

Monthly Expense Report

Employees must submit expense reports for the reimbursement of business-related

expenses in a timely manner. All such submitted expense reports will be paid within 7 days.

Expense reports must be completed using the current Company authorized form. This form is

available in electronic format in the "Global HR" shared network folder located within your

mapped drives. Travel and Expense Policy (Version: April 1, 2009) Page 5 of 5 The policies in

this document supersede and replace all previous versions.

Original receipts must be attached to the expense report for all expenses in excess of

$25.00, and wherever possible when $25.00 or less.

Expense reports must be approved by the employee's immediate supervisor before

submission to the CFO for all Finance/IT staff and the CEO/President for all Operations staff for

final approval.
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Employees holding corporate credit cards are personally responsible for making

payments directly to the credit card company. The corporate credit cards have been set up on a

calendar month cycle in order to coordinate with the expense report process.

Any invoices addressed personally to an employee for his own account must be

reimbursed through the expense report process, and will not be paid directly by the Company.

Temporary Worker/Consultant Policy

• All hiring of temporary workers or consultants must be pre-authorized by the CEO or

CFO.

• A request for a temporary worker/consultant must be submitted to the CEO or CFO at

least one week in advance of their anticipated first day at work. The request should be

made on the appropriate form and must state the number of work hours anticipated, the

requested hourly pay, the period of time for which the temporary worker/consultant is

needed, and the reasons why the work requirements cannot be met by company

employees. Any changes to the original written request must be approved by the CEO or

CFO. Each payment of compensation for services of temporary workers must be

approved by the CFO.

• The individual requesting the temporary worker is responsible for setting their work

hours, supervising their performance, recording the number of hours they have worked,

and requesting written approval of compensation from the CFO. The individual

requesting the temporary worker is also responsible for ensuring that the temporary

worker exits the premises at the end of the day, and for infonming the temporary worker

of any applicable Company policies.
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RICHARD SPITZ-DECEMBER 7, 2016

1 ; but —

i

2 THE WITNESS: To answer your question, if

I
3 i you just ask me the question again, then I'd be able

4 I to answer it because I'm not sure I understood your

question. So if you want to ask me the question

again, I'll be happy to answer it.

BY MR. HALPERN:

Q. How, if at all, do you believe that the RDI

decision maker was not fully informed about the CEO

search?

A. Well, a number of different ways.

First, they -- the search process did not

include candidates that were comparable to Ellen

Cotter as far as background and experience. That

was not part of the formal search process.

It would appear to me that the search --

formal search process did not invest sufficient time

in interviewing other internal candidates or

potential internal candidates.

The search process did not include

Korn Ferry interviewing Ellen Cotter; did not

include having her go through the assessment, the

Korn Ferry assessment; did not include other

candidates going through the Korn Ferry assessment.

25 i And for those reasons, those candidates and her

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13 I

14 '

15

16 ;

^ I
18

19

20

21

22

23

24
i
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1 A. Where?

2 : Q. The last sentence of paragraph 40.

3 ; A. Okay. I see that.
I

4 ; Q. What do you mean by "adequate"?
!

5 • A. What I mean is that the considerations that

6 : the search committee used to terminate the search

7 ' and nominate Ellen Cotter as the permanent CEO did

8 : not align with the search parameters set forth in
i

9 ; the Position Specification, and that's where the

10 i disconnect is.
i

11 i Said another way, the formal search was

12 ; looking for oranges and the search committee
i
I

13 | selected an apple, and you can't say you conducted a

14 I search for an apple because you conducted a search

15 I for an orange. Yes, you chose an apple, but the

16 I search process itself focused squarely on oranges.

17 ! And I think there's a lot of conflation between the

18 i two.

19 I I'm just saying the formal search process

20 | was looking for what was in the spec and selection

21 i of Ellen Cotter didn't seem to match it, and that --

22 I I found that vexing and not convincing that the

23 ] search process itself was the result that Ellen --

24 I Ellen Cotter selection was a result of the formal

25 ! search process.

02:13PM

02:13PM

02:14PM

02:14PM

02:14PM
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MR.KRUM: Okay.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We are off the record at

4; 19 p.m., and this concludes today's testimony

given by Richard A. Spitz.

The total number of media used was three 04; I9PM

and will be retained by Veritext Legal Solutions.

Thank you.

(TIME NOTED: 4:19 p.m.)
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recognize the document.

MR. KRUM; Okay.

Q. I mean, you've been shown a document.

A. I don't think I was -- I don't think I had any

involvement --

Q. All right. Very well.

A. -- in the matter, as far as I can recollect.

It was simply sent to me.

Q. We're done with that then.

I'll ask court reporter to mark as Exhibit 45, a

one-page document bearing production number TS 604.

(Whereupon the document referred to is marked by

the reporter as EXHIBIT 45 for identification.)

MR. KRUM;

Q. Mr. Storey, I'm not going to ask you much of

anything about the substance of this.

A. Uh-huh, I recognize the document.

Q. What do you recognize it to be?

A. It is an e-mail from me to Guy Adams confinning

a discussion we had.

Q. Okay.

And was the document true and correct at the time

you sent it?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague.

MR. KRTJM: Let me rephrase that.
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sees fit.

MR. SEARCY: So if we're switching over, if it's a

natural breaking point.

MR. KRUM; Not quite.

MR. SEARCY; Sorry, I misunderstood you.

MR. ROBERTSON; It was a tease.

MR, FERRARIO: I was right then.

MR. KRUM: I'll ask the court reporter to mark as

Exhibit 46, a three-page document bearing production

numbers TS 916 through 919. That makes it a four-page

document.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

(Whereupon the document referred to is marked by

the reporter as EXHIBIT 46 for identification.)

THE WITNESS: Yes, I recognize the document,

MR. KRUM:

Q. And what do you recognize Exhibit 46 to be?

A. I had sent the previous note, Exhibit

Number 45, and I received a lengthy qualifying note back

from counsel.

Q. Counsel being Craig Tcnpkins?

A. Counsel being Craig Tompkins.

Q. And the qualifying note is --

A. Which went on for some pages, obviously.

Q. The redacted portion of this; correct?

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

17
18
19
20
21

22
23
24
25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12
13
14
15
16

17
18
19
20
21

22
23
24
25

Page 199

THE WITNESS; I think --

MR. KRUM:

Q. Does it accurately reflect your understanding

of the discussions referenced in it?

A. I thought I discussed this with Doug McEachem,

to be honest, but I might have sent it to Guy. But in

any event, I think the outcome — the initial discussion

I had was with Doug McEachem. I can recollect that.

Perhaps I had a subsequent conversation with Guy and

confirmed the arrangement.

Q. Well, you see it's carbon-copied to Ellen

Cotter and Doug McEachem?

A. Yes, it gets to the same place, my discussions

with Doug and confirming my arrangement.

Q. So let me ask the question again to get a clear

record. Does Exhibit 45 accurately reflect your

understanding of the discussion it describes?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. Lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: I think it accurately reflects the

discussion I had with Doug McEachem and Guy Adams.

MR. KRUM: Okay. That answers the question.

This is really, at this stage of this proceeding,

Mr. Robertson's matter, so I'm going to be interested in

getting out of the way. I'm not going to ask any

further questions about that. I'll let him do so if he

Page 201

A. Indeed.

Q. And was Mr. Tonpkins party to your discussions

with McEachem and/or Adams?

A. No.

Q. And his response, did it address legal issues

or deal points, or both?

A. It certainly dealt with commercial matters, but

I guess it could have dealt with both. I suppose that's

why it's redacted.

Q. And Exhibit 45, the prior exhibit --

A. Thank you.

Q. -- followed discussions you had with McEachem

and/or Adams regarding the terms of your retirement

after one or both of them told you that you would not be

renominated to stand for election as a director;

correct?

A. I'm sorry. Can you rephrase that or restate

it?
Q. At the beginning of Exhibit 45, it says,

"Following our discussion your Wednesday." Do you see

that?
A. Yes.

Q. And the discussion referenced there was a

discussion you had with, you believe, McEachem;

correct?
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A. Yes.

Q. And in that discussion, he infonned you that

you were not going to be renominated to stand for

election as a director at the 2015 annual shareholders

meeting; correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And what did he tell you, if anything, about

why that was?

A. My recollection is that he commented that

members of the -- I guess it must have been a

nominations committee that had recently been appointed

had come to that conclusion following discussions, I

assume, with Margaret and Ellen.

MR. KRUM: I'm going to leave that. So let's go

off the record.

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going off the video record

at 4:29 p.m.

(A recess is taken.)

THE VIDEOGRAPHER: We're back on the video record

at 4:46 p.ra.

MR. KRUM: What's our next in order?

THE REPORTER; 47.

MR. KRUM: I'll ask the court reporter to mark as

Exhibit 47, a one-page document bearing production

number TS 697.
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116.

(Whereupon the document referred to is marked by

the reporter as EXHIBIT 48 for identification.)

MR. KRUM:

Q. I'm only going to ask you about the first

e-mail on the first page.

A. I'm sorry?

Q. So whenever you're ready, the question is, do

you recognize Exhibit 48?

A. Yes, I recognize the document.

Q. And what is it?

A. It is a series of e-mails between, essentially,

between Ed Kane and me.

Q. And did you receive and transmit these e-mails

on or about the dates they reflect?

A. I did.

Q. Directing your attention to the e-mail at the

top of the first page from Ed Kane to you, dated

April 3, 2015, did you see that in the middle of that

paragraph there's a description to the effect that Ellen

had called Ed Kane and was coining down to San Diego,

La Jolla Saturday to have lunch with him, and so forth

and so on?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Yes?
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(Whereupon the document referred to is marked by

the reporter as EXHIBIT 47 for identification.)

MR. KRUM:

Q. Mr. Storey, do you recognize Exhibit 47?

A. I do.

Q. What do you recognize it to be?

A. It's an e-mail, dated the 4th of February, from

me to Bill Gould.

Q. And so it says that Jim called you and

indicated that Ellen had said something to him about an

interim CEO; is that correct?

A. I don't recollect the specific discussion, but

I do recollect that early in the piece that around this

stage, there was some talk atout looking to change the

CEO.

Q. And what talk was that?

A. Just simply that that was one option available

to the company.

Q. And who's -- And who were the persons who made

that statement or those statements?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague, Lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: Clearly, Ellen talking to Jim.

MR. KRUM: Okay.

I'll ask the court reporter to mark as Exhibit 48,

a two-page document bearing production number TS 115 and
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A. Yes, I do see that.

Q. Had Ed Kane ever shared with you what was

discussed at lunch?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Vague. Lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: I don't recollect.

MR. KRUM:

Q. Did you ever hear or learn or otherwise came to

have any understanding as to whether that lunch occurred

and if so, what was discussed, if anything, with regard

to Reading or Jim Cotter, Jr.?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: I recollect -- I recollect that I did

hear that lunch proceeded, and they had a walk on the

beach and all sorts of things, but I don't recollect

anything further.

MR. KRUM:

Q. In particular, you don't recollect Mr. Kane

telling you whether they discussed anything about RDI

and/or Jim Cotter, Jr., and if so, what that was?

MR. SEARCY: Objection. Lacks foundation.

THE WITNESS: Yes, as I said, I recollect that they

had a discussion, but I don't remember the detail of

that.

MR. KRUM:

Q. Do you remember any part of it, the sum and
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I, Teckla T. Hollins, CSR 13125, do hereby declare:

That, prior to being examined, the witness named in

the foregoing deposition was by me duly sworn pursuant

to Section 30 (£)(D of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure and the deposition is a true record of the

testimony given by the witness.
That said deposition was taken down by me in

shorthand at the time and place therein named and

thereafter reduced to text under my direction.

That the witness was requested to review the

transcript and make any changes to the

transcript as a result of that review

pursuant to Section 30 (e) of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure.

(To changes have been provided by the witness

during the period allowed.

The changes made by the witness are appended

to the transcript.

No request was made that the transcript be
reviewed pursuant to Section 30(e) of the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

I further declare that I have no interest in the

event of the action.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws
of the United States of America that the foregoing is

true and correct.

WITNESS my hand this 3rd day of

Marcl^4h i'l t'n^
Teckla T. Hollins, CSR 13125
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ERRATA SHEET

I declare under penalty of perjury that I have read the

foregoing _ pages of my testimony, taken

on (date) at

(city), _(state),

and that the same is a true record of the testimony given

by me at the time and place herein

above set forth, with the following exceptions:

Page Line Should read: Reason for Change:
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5/6/2016
7/7/2016
5/6/2016
5/9/2016
5/12-13/2016
6/15/2016
5/16-17/2016
7/06/2016
5/18-19/2016
6/16/2016
5/25/2016
6/6/2016
6/6/2016
6/8/2016
6/29/2016
6/9/2016
6/28/2016

Counsel taking deposition
Mark Krum
M^ark Krum

Mark Krum
Mark Krum

Laura Laiolo

Laura Laiolo

Mark Krum

Christopher Tayback

Mark Krum

Marshall Searcy

Noah Helpern
Marshall Searcy

Mark Krum

Mark Krum
Mark Krum
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DEPOSITIONS TAKEN BY QUINN EMANUEL

Deponent

Brett Harriss

John Virant
James Cotter

Whitney Tilson-T2
Jonathan Glaser-T2

Andrew Shapiro-T2

Tiago Duarte-Silva

Myron Steele

Richard Roll

Albert Nagy
Richard Spitz

Date Taken
05/06/2016
05/09/2016
05/16-17/2016
07/07/2016
05/25/2016
06/01/2016
06/06/2016
10/18/2016
10/19/2016
10/26/2016
11/29/2016
12/07/2016

Counsel taking deposition
Laura Laiolo

Laura Laiolo

Christopher Tayback

Marshall Searcy

Noah Helpern
Marshall Searcy
Christopher Tayback
Marshall Searcy

Noah Helpern
Noah Helpern
Noah Halpern
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